
– WE MAKE PLACES GROW AND DEVELOP –

ANNUAL REPORT



WHO WE ARE

•  We are one of Sweden’s largest listed property compa-
nies. We have been listed on the NASDAQ OMX Stock-
holm exchange since 1994.

•  We own, develop and manage properties, principally in 
the retail and office sectors. 

•  We generate added value by developing areas into attrac
tive meeting places where retail and office premises 
combine with other types of property, such as residential 
units, cultural, service and educational facilities. 

•  Our whollyowned subsidiary company, TL Bygg, is a 
profitable building contractor specialising in all types of 
reconstruction, extension, new construction and building 
services work.

OUR BUSINESS

•  Atrium Ljungberg takes a longterm approach to prop
erty ownership. 

•  We create value growth by developing and improving new 
and existing properties and development rights through 
active management, based around the customer.

•  We direct and run the whole business process – from 
acquisition, the creative process and concept develop-
ment, through planning and construction, to leasing and 
management of the property. This gives us an insight 
into and understanding of the big picture that generates 
added value for the customer. Our development projects 
provide a long-term yield that is higher than the acquisi-
tion alternatives. 

•  Our goal is to invest SEK 1 billion every year in new build, 
extension and reconstruction objects as part of our own 
development project framework, and to achieve a good 
return on our investments.  

OUR LOCATIONS

•  We have a presence in Sweden’s main growth markets of 
Stockholm, Malmö and Uppsala. All of our retail hubs are 
located in these regions. 

•  The office properties are primarily concentrated on growth 
areas in Stockholm. 

•  Our residential properties are an integral part of the city  
district of Ärvinge in Kista and the Mobilia area in Malmö.

 We create vibrant meeting places for people, 
for the retail sector, and for businesses

THE PERCENTAGE FIGURE IN THE CIRCLE 
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QUICK FACTS & FIGURES
•  Number of properties 54

• Property value  SEK 21.9 billion

•  Total letting area  871 000 m2

•  Contracted annual rent SEK 1.8 billion

• Letting rate  94 per cent



THE RESULTS IN BRIEF

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Net sales, SEK m 2 018 1 936 1 980 1 855 1 851

Profit before changes in value, SEK m 694 669 667 537 609

Profit after tax, SEK m 905 916 187 – 402 1 636

Investments, SEK m 1 050 1 047 1 087 1 220 947

Cash flow from operating activities, 
SEK m

640 671 608 593 474

Letting rate, % 94 94 93 94 92

Equity/assets ratio, % 41.2 42.9 42.4 42.2 45.5

Gearing ratio, % 44.4 45.7 45.6 43.8 39.8

Average interest rate at period end, % 4.2 3.8 3.8 4.7 4.6

Interest coverage ratio, multiple 2.9 3.1 3.0 2.5 3.0

Earnings per share, SEK 6.95 7.03 1.44 –3.09 12.55

Profit/loss before changes in value less 
applicable nominal tax, SEK/share

3.93 3.79 3.78 2.97 3.36

Dividend, SEK/share (proposed for 
2011)

2.60 2.40 2.25 2.00 2.00

Share price as per 31st December, 
SEK/share

73.25 86.50 67.00 62.50 63.75

Shareholders’ equity, SEK/share 73.30 69.91 64.66 65.27 71.14

Net worth, SEK/share, 10% deferred 
tax

82.75 77.97 71.28 72.32 79.98

Uppsala
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Sweden, other 2%
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CONTRACTED ANNUAL RENT
PER PREMISES TYPE

•	  The Group’s net sales increased to SEK 2,018 million (SEK 
1,936 m). Income from project and construction activities 
increased to SEK 332 million (SEK 323 m). 

  The increase in rental income primarily comprised completed 
projects. Income from project and construction activities is 
primarily attributable to the wholly-owned subsidiary company. 
TL Bygg AB. 

•	  The operating surplus increased to SEK 1,095.0 million 
(SEK 1,029.5 m), while the profit before changes in value 
increased to SEK 694.4 million (SEK 668.6 m). 

  The increase in the operating surplus was due to completed 
projects and to reduced service charge-related costs, thanks to 
a milder autumn and winter. The operating net increased by 11 
per cent, adjusted for the sale of properties and non-recurring 
payments.  

•	  Unrealised changes in value totalled SEK 528.3 million  
(SEK 525.1 m). The reported value of the property holding 
totalled SEK 21,897 million (SEK 19,940 m) and the valua
tion’s average yield requirement was 5.8 per cent (5.8%).

  The change in value corresponds to 2.6 per cent and is primarily 
attributable to increased rental levels and a slight reduction in 
yield requirements. 

•	  The development rate continued high, and a total of SEK 
1,050 million (SEK 1,047 m) was invested in Atrium Ljung
berg’s own properties in 2011. Properties were acquired for 
a total of SEK 379 million (SEK 35 m).

  Investments made during the year included offices for Atlas 
Copco and Intrum Justitia in Sickla, the reconstruction and 
expansion of Mobilia in Malmö, Gränby Centrum and Rådhuset 
(the old City Hall building) in Uppsala, and Port73 in Haninge. 
The remaining 50 per cent of Blästern 6 was acquired during the 
year, and three villas and an undeveloped plot of land directly 
adjacent to Sickla Köpkvarter have also been acquired.

•	 	The	profit	after	tax	totalled	SEK	904.5	million	(SEK	915.5	
m), corresponding to SEK 6.95 per share (SEK 7.03/share). 
The Board of Directors proposes a dividend payment of SEK 
2.60 per share (SEK 2.40/share).  

  The dividend corresponds to a dividend yield of 3.5 per cent 
(2.8%). 

This interim report has been prepared in Swedish and translated into English. In the event of any discrepancies between the Swedish  
and the translation, the former shall have precedence.



SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING 2011
Q1
•	 	The	further	development	of	Mobilia	in	Malmö,	which	

will be converted from a retail centre into a vibrant city 
district, was approved. The project is Atrium Ljungberg’s 
biggest single project ever. 

•	 	The	expansion	of	Mobilia’s	southern	section	was	
completed. It comprises 2,100 m² of new retail space and 
a garage with 380 parking spaces. 

•	 	Work	began	on	the	second	expansion	phase	at	Port	73	in	
Haninge.	The	expansion	comprises	3,500	m²	of	new	retail	
space. 

•	 	Work	began	on	converting	the	Rådhuset	(old	City	Hall	
building) in Uppsala into a fashion department store. 

•	 	Atlas	Copco’s	new	headquarters	in	Sickla,	Nacka	were	
completed and Atlas Copco’s staff of around 700 people 
moved in.  

Q4
•		 	The	first	sod	was	turned	for	the	Kvarteret	NOD	in	Kista.	

•		 	Orminge	Centrum	celebrated	its	40th	anniversary	as	a	
retail hub.

•		 	The	strategic	acquisition	of	the	remaining	50	per	cent	of	
the Blästern 6 office property in the Hagastaden district of 
Stockholm’s city centre was completed. 

•		 	The	NASDAQ	OMX	Stockholm	exchange	announced	that	
Atrium	Ljungberg	will	move	to	the	exchange’s	Large	Cap	
segment in January 2012

Q3
•		 	The	decision	was	taken	to	build	around	70	new	rental	

apartments	in	Mobilia	in	Malmö.

•		 	A	new	9,000	m²	shopping	centre	section	at	Gränby	
Centrum in Uppsala opened. Twenty or so stores and 
service facilities opened.

•		 	The	decision	was	taken	to	start	work	on	another	
reconstruction	and	expansion	project	in	Gränby	Centrum’s	
western entrance, with space for new stores and a  
food court. 

•		 	An	agreement	was	signed	with	Axfood	regarding	the	
establishment of a Willys FMCG store in Port73 in 
Haninge and the decision was taken to start building a 
further 10,500 m² of new retail space.

•		 	An	agreement	was	signed	with	Ica	Sverige	AB	regarding	
the opening of an Ica Kvantum store in a 3,300 m² new 
build in Farsta Centrum. The agreement is conditional 
upon approval of changes to the detailed development 
plan. 

•		 	A	5-year	agreement	was	signed	with	the	ÖoB	department	
store chain for 3,000 m² in Rotebro Handel.

•		 	Gränby	Centrum	celebrated	its	40th	anniversary	as	a	
retail hub.

•		 	Atrium	Ljungberg’s	headquarters	in	Sickla	were	
nominated in the “Sweden’s most attractive office” 
competition.

Q2
•	 	Ingalill	Berglund	took	over	as	the	new	Managing	Director	

of Atrium Ljungberg.

•	 	Atrium	Ljungberg	moved	its	headquarters	to	Sickla	 
in Nacka.

•	 	Construction	work	began	on	Intrum	Justitia’s	 
new headquarters in Sickla, Nacka. 

•	 	Hotspots.nu,	a	new	entrepreneurial	centre	in	Farsta	
Centrum, opened. 

•	 	A	ten-year	agreement	with	the	University	of	Stockholm	
was signed to rent 7,100m² in Kvarteret NOD in Kista – a 
new meeting place for learning, research and trade and 
industry. A decision was taken to start construction work 
on the first phase of NOD.

•	 	6,000m²	of	renovated	premises	for	the	IT	and	
infrastructure company, Atea, amongst others, was 
completed in Ärvinge, Kista.

LARGE 
CAP

ATRIUM LJUNGBERG WILL MOVE TO  
LARGE CAP IN JANUARY 2012

9000 M2

A NEW SHOPPING CENTRE WAS OPENED 
IN GRÄNBY CENTRUM, UPPSALA

40 Y
GRÄNBY CENTRUM AND ORMINGE CENTRUM 

CELEBRATED THEIR 40TH ANNIVERSARIES

“A 10-year agreement was signed  
with the University of Stockholm”

TO RENT 7,100M² IN THE KVARTERET NOD IN KISTA
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WE’RE GROWING
2011 WAS A successful year for Atrium Ljungberg, with an increase in profits and high levels of 

activity within our project operations. Our attractive locations and sound brand name have generated 

considerable interest on the part of customers and partners alike, and our project portfolio has never 

been as big as it is now. 
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MANAGING DIRECTOR’S STATEMENT

ATRIUM LJUNGBERG 2011

MARKET CONDITIONS
The year began with healthy growth and confidence in the 
Swedish economy. But as the year progressed, uncertainty 
about the future has grown in response to national debt 
problems in southern Europe and global concerns in 
the financial markets. We have seen how market interest 
rates for loans with long terms have fallen during the 
year – which is good news for the industry – but we have 
also seen this countered, to some extent, by high credit 
margins and a more cautious approach to gearing ratios on 
the part of the banks. 
 We have also seen Swedish consumption level off 
during the autumn, partly as a result of the prevailing 
climate of uncertainty, but probably also as a result of the 
mild weather. The retail trade has, nonetheless achieved 
cautious growth both throughout the year as a whole and 
in December, with increases of 0.8 per cent and 0.7 per 
cent, respectively, in rolling prices. 
 The transaction volume for properties has fallen 
slightly in 2011 in comparison with 2010, but we have 
seen extensive interest in retail and office properties in 
strong locations, resulting in reduced yield requirements 
for these sectors. 

THE PAST YEAR
Our strategy of maintaining a presence in strong growth 
areas has been a strength when the outside world was 
characterised by high uncertainty levels. This has been 
apparent not only in dialogues with customers and dur-
ing out letting work, but in our profit trend, too. 
 I am delighted to be able to report that we have suc-
cessfully maintained high activity levels in our project 
operations, with healthy profitability and aggressive 
investments in the future. The total value of our ongoing 
projects is approximately SEK 3 billion, which is the 
highest project volume in the company’s history. 
 Our retail hubs continue to perform well and have re-
ported an aggregate increase in net sales of approximately 
1 per cent during the year. Rental levels have remained 
unchanged.
 We have seen healthy demand for our office premises 
and our letting work has been successful, with increased 
rental levels in several of our subsidiary markets, in par-
ticular, the Stockholm city centre one. 
 We are keen to continuing our growth in the office 
property market in attractive locations in Stockholm 
and have successfully done so during the past year, e.g. 
through our investments in Sickla Affärskvarter and 
Kvarteret NOD in Kista. We have also strengthened 
our position in one of Stockholm’s most important 
growth markets, Hagastaden, through the acquisitions of 
Blästern 6 and 13. These acquisitions enable us to play an 
even bigger part in the exciting development taking place 
in this area. 
 We believe in sustainable business and put this belief 
into action through sustainable urban development, by 
maintaining the buildings for which we are responsi-
ble, and by establishing sustainable conditions for our 
customers, employees and partners. We are members of 
the Global Compact and support its principles. We also 

have more ongoing environmental certification projects 
than any other property company, with four BREEAM 
projects currently in progress. 

OUTLOOK FOR THE FUTURE
Our future depends totally on our customers. As always, 
the most important task of the many we face is taking 
good care of our customers and supporting our custom-
ers’ business activities. A long-term approach, reliability 
and cooperation are important cornerstones of our cor-
porate culture, as is the desire to identify new solutions. 
This attitude will continue to characterise our work and 
the conduct of the committed team that works at Atrium 
Ljungberg. 
 We have a number of ongoing projects that will be 
completed in 2012. The Rådhuset fashion department 
store in Uppsala will open its doors on February 29th 
2012 and the next phase of the expanded Mobilia devel-
opment in Malmö will open in September 2012. 
 Port73 is a growing retail hub with huge potential. 
Our ambition over the next few years is to make this our 

fifth regional retail hub. Port73 will continue to grow in 
accordance with the same strategy as we have employed 
in the development of Sickla Köpkvarter – step by step, 
with the most imminent steps taking the form of phase 
openings in 2012 and 2013. The new Intrum Justitia 
office block and the expansion and renovation of HK60 
in Sickla will also be completed towards the end of the 
year. Taken as a whole, these developments will generate 
increased revenues in 2012 and 2013. 
 We have a stable financing position that gives us the 
scope to act in future. The prevailing uncertainty in the 
outside world will, however, require us to continue our 
proximity to the market and to be ready to act and refo-
cus our operations if required. Financing solutions will 
become a more important issue for property companies 
in the future, but Atrium Ljungberg is well-positioned 
in this respect, with a low gearing ratio and strong cash 
flows.   
 As things stand, we have every chance of following the 
path we have mapped out and of developing new busi-
ness opportunities and new projects. 
 I’d like to close by sending a big thank you to all of 
my colleagues, and our customers and partners, for a suc-
cessful 2011! 

Ingalill Berglund, Managing Director

“The most important task of the 
many we face is taking good care 
of our customers and supporting 

our customers’ business activities”
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OUR VISION
WE CREATE VIBRANT MEETING PLACES  
FOR PEOPLE, FOR THE RETAIL SECTOR, 
AND FOR BUSINESSES

GOALS
Atrium Ljungberg’s operations focus on growth in our 
operating net. This, together with a stable capital structure, 
generates excellent preconditions for good growth in value. 
Our goals can be divided into three categories:

•	 Profitability	and	growth	

•	 Long-term	stability	

•	 Corporate	social	responsibility

ATRIUM LJUNGBERG 2011ATRIUM LJUNGBERG 2011

STRATEGIC ORIENTATION | POSITION, VISION AND GOALS

POSITION, VISION AND GOALS

SEK
1,050

M
INVESTMENTS IN IN-HOUSE PROJECTS

41.2 %
EQUITY/ASSETS RATIO

OUR POSITION
•	 We	are	one	of	Sweden’s	biggest	listed	property	companies.
•	 	We	take	a	long-term	approach	to	ownership,	 

development and management.
•	 We	have	a	presence	in	Sweden’s	growth	towns.
•	 We	focus	on	retail	and	office	properties.
•	 We	are	one	of	Sweden’s	biggest	retail	centre	operators.
•	 	We	are	one	of	Stockholm’s	ten	biggest	office	property	owners.
•	 	We	have	outstanding	project	development	expertise	 

and as a result, good growth in the company’s value.
•	 	We	operate	close	to	our	customers	and	our	management	 

is locally based.
•	 We	have	a	strong	financial	base.
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STRATEGIC ORIENTATION | GOALS AND GOAL FULFILMENT

GOALS DESCRIPTION GOAL FULFILMENT, 2011
HISTORIC 
GOAL FULFILMENT

PROFITABILITY  
AND GROWTH

The operating surplus shall 
increase by 10% per year. By investing in in-house projects, 

reducing vacancy levels and 
ensuring cost-effective manage-
ment, we shall increase our 
operating net by 10% per year. 
The investments also generate 
growth in the value of our prop-
erties and the company. 

The owners shall share, in the 
long-term, in the company’s 
profits by means of stable divi-
dend payments.

The operating surplus increased 
by 6.3%. Excluding proper-
ties sold and non-recurring 
payments, the operating net 
increased by 11.1%. 
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DRIFTÖVERSKOTT, ÖKNING

We shall invest SEK 1 bil-
lion each year in in-house 
projects which yield a good 
return.

Investments in our own proper-
ties totalled SEK 1,050 million, 
and were primarily made in Mo-
bilia in Malmö, Gränby Centrum 
and Rådhuset in Uppsala, Intrum 
Justitia’s office block in Sickla 
and Port73 in Haninge. 700
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INVESTERINGAR EGNA PROJEKT

The dividend shall cor-
respond to a minimum of 
50% of the profit before 
changes in value, after 
26.3% tax. 

The Board proposes payment 
of a dividend of SEK 2.60/share, 
corresponding to a dividend of 
66% of the profit available for 
distribution.
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LONG-TERM STABILITY

The minimum assets/eq-
uity ratio shall be 30%. 

The company’s capital base shall 
be strong, helping ensure long-
term stability and generating 
the preconditions for doing good 
business in different market 
situations. The rolling cash flow 
shall cover interest costs by a 
wide margin. 
 

The equity/assets ratio continues 
to be high, and at the end of 
2011, was 41.2%. 
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The minimum interest 
coverage ratio shall be a 
multiple of 2.0.

The interest coverage ratio to-
talled a multiple of 2.9. Net bor-
rowing totalled SEK 610 million. 
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CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY

All major new builds shall, 
as of 2011, be environmen-
tally certified.

The phrase, sustainable urban 
development, summarises how 
financial, social and environ-
mental value is generated. The 
BREEAM environmental certifi-
cation of all major new builds is 
part of this work. 

All major new builds on which 
work began in 2011 will be 
environmentally certified in ac-
cordance with BREEAM.

No goal history available.

We shall be one of Swe-
den’s best workplaces in 
2012.

Our employees are the key to our 
success. We build commitment 
and results through clear man-
agement and individual action 
plans. 

The results of the “Sweden’s 
best workplaces” via Great Place 
to Work® will be announced 
in April 2012 after the Annual 
Report has been published. 

No goal history available.
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RETAIL – OFFICES – FULL-SERVICE  
ENVIRONMENTS
Atrium Ljungberg shall focus on developing environ-
ments for retail and office purposes. The combination 
creates synergies and offers a risk spread that makes us 
strong across business cycles. We shall, wherever possible, 
complement the retail and office environments with 
elements of residential, service, cultural and educational 
elements. This enables us to create vibrant, attractive and 
long-term sustainable full-service environments. 

STRONG SUBSIDIARY MARKETS IN GROWTH TOWNS 
IN SWEDEN
We shall establish a presence in strong subsidiary markets 
in growth towns in Sweden where the potential exists 
for long-term growth in value. This is vital if we are to 
achieve long-term profitability and growth for ourselves 
and our customers.

IMPROVEMENT AND DEVELOPMENT OF  
PROPERTIES AND DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS
We generate growth in value in the company by creating 
added value for our customers by developing and improv-
ing properties and development rights. Our project 
portfolio is large, with many existing and potential 
development rights. Our development rights shall yield 
a return that is 2 to 3 percentage points higher than the 
acquisition alternative.
 
SIGNIFICANT PLAYER
We shall be a significant player with large, rational units 
in the respective subsidiary markets. This will enable us to 
lead and influence development and to create full-service 
environments with long-term durability. Rational units 
enable us to provide good customer service by having 
our own personnel on-site. This gives us knowledge of 
the local conditions and creates business opportunities.

LONG-TERM PARTNERSHIPS THAT FOCUS  
ON THE CUSTOMER
The starting point for everything we do shall be working 
closely with our customers and partners. Close, long-
term, stable and personal relationships shall permeate 
every aspect of the company. This applies both to our 
relationships with customers and suppliers, and to those 
with local authorities and other stakeholders. Cooperat-
ing with these parties at an early stage in the develop-
ment process enables us to create long-term sustainable 
and attractive environments. 

IN-HOUSE EXPERTISE AND EXPERIENCE
We shall conduct and manage the entire business process 
in-house using our in-house expertise – an approach 
that offers numerous advantages. Our customers and 
partners will be met by high levels of commitment and 
willingness to assume responsibility in all phases of the 
process, from acquisition, through the creative work and 
concept development, to planning, construction, letting 
and management. In this way, we enhance the likelihood 
of satisfying our customers’ requirements and promoting 
our owners’ interests.

INTEGRAL SUSTAINABILITY
Sustainability issues and corporate social responsibil-
ity are integral parts of our business strategy and an 
important component of our offering. Atrium Ljungberg 
has defined three strategic cornerstones for its sustain-
ability work: sustainable urban development, responsible 
management and care of our properties, and sustainable 
conditions for our customers. These cornerstones are an 
integral part of the strategies described above.

EMPLOYEES WITH PASSION AND WIDELY  
SUPPORTED CORE VALUES
We have committed employees who are passionate about 
what we do. Our core values – a long-term approach, 
cooperation, reliability and innovative thinking – are 
widely supported by all our employees. These values steer 
our-day-to day work and permeate every aspect of the 
company’s operations.

STRATEGIC ORIENTATION | BUSINESS CONCEPT AND STRATEGIES

BUSINESS CONCEPT
Our long-term approach to ownership, development and management enables us to offer our customers 
attractive retail, office and full-service environments in strong subsidiary markets. Our in-house expertise 
and big picture perspective enable us to generate added value for our customers and partners, and to cre-
ate growth in value for the company. 

STRATEGIES
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STRATEGIC ORIENTATION | BUSINESS MODEL

Atrium Ljungberg’s business model generates profit-
ability and growth in value through the continuous 
improvement and management of our properties. The 
model is based on a number of business processes. All 
of these processes are conducted in-house and several of 
the company’s functions participate to varying degrees, 
depending on the stage in the processes.

CONCEPT AND VISION
The concept and vision work is driven by our business 
development department. Detailed analyses of com-
mercial and external aspects are conducted in order to 
identify developmental and project opportunities. These 
analyses can lead both to further development of the ex-
isting property holding or to new builds or acquisitions. 

DEVELOPMENT/ACQUISITIONS
The concept is developed in close cooperation with 
customers and partners and concretised in partnership 

with architects. The work is carried out by the business 
development department with the assistance of both the 
planning department and the management team. 
 Atrium Ljungberg acquires new properties if we 
can achieve strategic benefits or generate a good return 
through development.

PROJECT IMPLEMENTATION
Implementation of the project commences once the de-
cision to invest has been taken by the Board of Directors. 
The construction process is steered by our own Project 
Managers working in cooperation with both business de-
velopers and managers. The projects are often complex, 
involving conversions, new builds and extensions.

MANAGEMENT
Responsibility for the active property management and 
the close customer relationships is transferred to manage-
ment organisation once the project is completed.

Many property companies build or 
buy with the intention of selling. 
Our commitment is a longer-term 
one. Long-term ownership means 
that we take extra good care of both 
buildings and relationships. 

CONCEPT AND VISION 
DEVELOPM
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LOCAL AUTHORITIES

PARTNERS

STAKEHOLDERS
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A STRONG POSITION  
IN RETAIL AND OFFICES
ATRIUM LJUNGBERG IS the fourth biggest listed property company in Sweden in terms of market 

value. We enjoy a strong position in retail properties in selected growth towns and the office property 

market in the Stockholm region. Atrium Ljungberg is distinguished amongst listed property companies 

by its relatively low financial risk. 

ATRIUM LJUNGBERG – ONE OF SWEDEN’S  
BIGGEST LISTED PROPERTY COMPANIES
At the end of 2011, there were 17 Swedish property 
companies listed on the NASDAQ OMX Stockholm 
exchange. The listed property companies had a com-
bined market value of SEK 88 billion, with Atrium 
Ljungberg accounting for just over 10 per cent of this 
total (just over SEK 9 billion). In terms of market value, 
Atrium Ljungberg is the fourth biggest Swedish listed 
property company after Hufvudstaden, Castellum and 
Wallenstam.   

CONCENTRATION AND STREAMLINING
At the end of 2011, Atrium Ljungberg owned 54 
properties with a combined letting area of approximately 
871,000 m². Our property portfolio primarily comprises 
retail properties in selected growth areas, and office 
properties in the Stockholm area. 
 In comparison with other listed property companies, 
we have a relatively high degree of streamlining, both in 
terms of property type and geographic concentration. 
Our geographic concentration on Stockholm is amongst 
the highest in the sector, together with Hufvudstaden 
and Fabege. Atrium Ljungberg is the company with the 
highest percentage of retail properties. 
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GEARING STRUCTURE
Atrium Ljungberg has a stable financial position and a 
loan portfolio with a relatively limited financial risk in 
comparison with other Swedish listed property compa-
nies, thanks to a relatively high equity/assets ratio and 
interest coverage ratio. We have an equity/assets ratio 
of 41.2 per cent and an interest coverage ratio multiple 
of 2.9 in comparison with the sector as a whole which, 
according to Leimdörfer’s valuation model, has an equity/
assets ratio of 32 per cent and an interest coverage ratio 
multiple of 2.4.  
 The average rate of interest on our loans of 4.2 per 
cent is in line with comparable listed property companies 
and with the sector as a whole (4.1%). 
 Atrium Ljungberg’s fixed interest period, 3.1 years, is 
in line with comparable listed property companies but 
slightly lower than for the sector as a whole (3.4 years).  
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RETAIL PROPERTY OWNERS IN SWEDEN
Atrium Ljungberg is one of Sweden’s biggest retail centre 
players with a total of approximately 350,000 m² of 
letting retail area. ICA Fastigheter and Castellum are 
the biggest players in terms of retail space owned. ICA 
Fastigheter’s property portfolio of 510,000 m² of retail 
space is used primarily for the corporate group’s own 
operations, while a majority of Castellum’s property 
portfolio comprises properties where retail is a secondary 
usage category. 
 Other major owners of retail properties in Sweden 
include the French-Dutch retail centre companies, 
Unibail-Rodamco and Steen & Ström, and the Diligen-
tia and Kungsleden property companies. 
 In 2011, Unibail-Rodamco sold one quarter of its 
Swedish property holding – approximately 100,000 m² – 
and hence went from being Sweden’s third biggest owner 
of retail properties to now being Sweden’s eighth largest. 
 The Royal Bank of Scotland is now the sole share-
holder in Centeni AB, which was previously owned by 
the UK company, Boultbee. Centeni AB owned a large 
portfolio of retail centres in the central and outer areas of 
Stockholm before they sold the majority of their holding 
to various different property owners. 
 AMF Fastigheter is one of the biggest retail property 
owners in the Stockholm CBD, Central Business Dis-
trict. They expanded their ownership of retail centres in 
Stockholm’s city centre in 2011 with the acquisition of 
three retail centres from Centeni: Västermalmsgallerian, 
Ringen and Fältöversten. 

OFFICE PROPERTY OWNERS IN THE  
STOCKHOLM REGION 
With a total letting office area of almost 250,000 m², 
Atrium Ljungberg is one of the ten biggest owners of 
office properties in the Stockholm region. The biggest 
players overall in the Stockholm region’s office market 
are Vasakronan, Fabege and Humlegården.
 Vasakronan and AMF Fastigheter dominate in the 
CBD and collectively own one quarter of the CBD’s 
total office stock, followed by Hufvudstaden and Fabege.  
 The biggest property owner in the Stockholm 
city centre area, excluding the CBD, is Vasakronan, 
whose properties are primarily located in the Gärdet 
and Östermalm areas. Fabege, which primarily owns 
office properties in the Norrtull and Norrmalm areas, 
is another major property owner in the area. Atrium 
Ljungberg dominates the Hagastaden area and also owns 
office properties in the Södermalm area, including the 
Glashuset building at Slussen.
 Vasakronan has a substantial property holding in the 
southern suburbs immediately around Stockholm in 
such areas as Nacka strand and Telefonplan, while Fabege 
dominates in Hammarby Sjöstad. Atrium Ljungberg, 
with its extensive holdings in Sickla, is also a significant 
player in this subsidiary market. Atrium Ljungberg’s 
holding was expanded in 2011 with the completion of 
Atlas Copco’s new headquarters.
 Klövern and Vasakronan have a portfolio in Kista cor-
responding to 20 per cent and 15 per cent, respectively, 
of the total office stock in the area. Atrium Ljungberg’s 
holdings in Kista are located in the Ärvinge city district.
 In Stockholm’s outer subsidiary markets, ownership 
is characterised by a mixture of small and large property 
owners, developers, Swedish and foreign investors, pen-
sion funds, and owner-users. Atrium Ljungberg has a 
large office portfolio in this subsidiary market in Farsta. 

MARKET POSITION
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Atrium Ljungberg’s new headquarters in Sickla were nominated for and  
were finalists in the “Sweden’s most attractive offices, 2011” competition.
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SUSTAINABLE URBAN DEVELOPMENT
SUSTAINABLE URBAN DEVELOPMENT is a phrase that summarises the way in which Atrium 

Ljungberg generates value through corporate social responsibility. Environmental and social aspects 

are taken into account in every transaction, thereby boosting our profits, the value of the operations, and 

confidence in our company.

Atrium Ljungberg has, for many years now, linked the 
concept of corporate social responsibility to the com-
pany’s vision, business concept and core values. This clear 
and deliberate focus has helped us initiate numerous 
successful partnerships and cost-saving measures over 
the years. Setting responsibility and sustainability at the 
heart of every business transaction has had a continued 
positive effect on our operations in 2011.

VALUES SHOW THE WAY
Atrium Ljungberg’s shared values guide all of our deci-
sions and actions. The values, which are summarised in 
our Code of Conduct and are deeply rooted through-
out the organisation, are the company’s fundamental 
guidelines. The values apply to everyone who works for 
Atrium Ljungberg. 

GOALS AND STRATEGIES 
Atrium Ljungberg’s employees work, taking the core 
values as their starting point, towards three overall 
Group goals, which are described on page 5. One of the 
Group goals is corporate social responsibility, which has 
been broken down into four operational goals. Every 
department shall help to achieve these goals. The results 
for 2011 are described in the table below.  
Employees and operational managers are also tasked, 
over and above the four environmental goals, with han-
dling the company’s strategic focus areas:

•	 Sustainable	urban	development

•	 	Creating	sustainable	conditions	for	customers,	em-
ployees and partners 

•	 Responsible	management	and	property	care	

SUSTAINABLE URBAN DEVELOPMENT
Atrium Ljungberg endeavours to successfully develop 
and manage vibrant meeting places for people, for 

CORE VALUES

❯ A LONG-TERM APPROACH  

❯ COOPERATION    

❯ RELIABILITY 

❯ INNOVATIVE THINKING

With the focus at all times  
on the CUSTOMER and the 
INDIVIDUAL BUSINESS DEAL

GOAL: CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY

RELEVANCE/EFFECT RESULTS, 2011

BREEAM certification of all major 
new builds

Ensures current and future product 
requirements

Certification in progress for the four 
ongoing major new builds

Increase the percentage of visitors who 
use means other than private cars to 
reach our meeting places

Ensure alternative means of transport 
and need for accessibility

Evaluated in 2013

Increasing the number of “Green Lease 
Contracts” and voluntary sustainability 
agreements 

Meets the customers’ demand for clear 
distribution of responsibility with regard 
to environmental issues and consump-
tion costs, for example 

Evaluated in 2013

One of Sweden’s best workplaces in 
2012

Ensures that Atrium Ljungberg is seen 
as an attractive employer/workplace

The results of the “Sweden’s best work-
places” via Great Place to Work® will be 
announced in April 2012 after the Annual 
Report has been published
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the retail sector, and for businesses. Success in these 
endeavours depends on continuous contact with the 
people who are affected by our operations, which is why, 
for the past few years, we have been conducting ongoing 
stakeholder dialogues with those who are affected by 
our operations and created opportunities to forge local 
cooperation projects. The dialogues are conducted with 
the aim of highlighting, discussing and gaining support 
for decisions such as the way land, buildings and infra-
structure shall be used or structured.  
 Markets in which Atrium Ljungberg has conducted 
stakeholder dialogues in 2011 include:

•	 Development	of	new	workplaces	in	Sickla 
 Affärskvarter, Nacka

•	 Culture	and	entrepreneurship	in	Farsta	Centrum,	 
 Stockholm

•	 	Development	of	traffic	services	for	more	sustainable	
customer transport in Gränby Centrum, Uppsala. 
The project is being financed by the Swedish Energy 
Agency.

•	 	New	retail	and	service	facilities	in	Mobilia,	Malmö

•	 Development	of	NOD,	Kista

Further information on Atrium Ljungberg’s stakeholder 
model and dialogues can be found in the GRI annexe on 
our website.

SUSTAINABLE CONDITIONS FOR CUSTOMERS, EM-
PLOYEES AND PARTNERS
We know, not least from our stakeholder dialogues, 
that more and more customers are prioritising sustain-
ability issues, which is why we endeavour to be on the 
cutting edge in creating sustainable conditions for our 
customers. At the end of 2010, we decided as part of this 
effort to environmentally certify all major new builds in 
accordance with BREEAM.  
 Work has begun on four new build projects in 2011 
with the aim of achieving the BREEAM criteria for a 
“very good” rating. The market appreciates that we are 
consistent in our implementation. We are also proud 
to be able to demonstrate several effective and healthy 
premises and properties within the company. 
 Atrium Ljungberg has offered “Green Lease con-
tracts” since 2009. We estimate that demand for this 

type of contract will not rise significantly until an indus-
try standard is established in this area. 
 Atrium Ljungberg has offered its tenants origin-
guaranteed, carbon dioxide-free electricity produced by 
hydroelectric plants as standard for many years now, 
with eco-labelled electricity or wind-generated power as 
optional extras. We are also happy to provide suggestions 
on energy efficient solutions in such areas as lighting, 
heating and cooling.

RESPONSIBLE MANAGEMENT AND PROPERTY CARE
As a long-term property owner, Atrium Ljungberg works 
continuously to extend the lifecycle of the properties and 
to enhance the efficiency of media systems. BREEAM 
guides both our project managers and our technical 
management personnel in this work. In practice, this 
means that both we and our partners are constantly 
looking for new methods, materials or other solutions 
that enable properties to perform better from a lifecycle 
perspective.

Accessibility, security and safety
Atrium Ljungberg continuously provides information 
on alternative means of transport and optimised journey 
planning in order to increase the accessibility of our 
meeting places.
 Accessibility is also about creating welcoming envi-
ronments – something for which Atrium Ljungberg has 
received a prize in Farsta Centrum in Stockholm. We 
have made the most of the experience we gained at Farsta 
Centrum and applied them in other environments. We 
have, for example, cooperated with the police, local 
authorities, businesses and property owners in order to 
create a more secure Medborgarplatsen. In our retail 
hubs, we work with security companies and the police to 
prevent and avoid threats, theft and robberies. We have 
made particular progress with our security work in Sickla 
Köpkvarter.

SIGNIFICANT ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT
The majority of Atrium Ljungberg’s environmental 
impact comes from the production mix of district heat-
ing suppliers, our properties’ energy performance, our 
customers’ and visitors’ behavioural patterns, and the 
measures we take to reduce the negative effects in these 
areas. 
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
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STATISTICS

Area Unit 2011 2010 2009

District heating 
normal

kWh/m2 92 81 83

District cooling kWh/m2 27 22 23

Electricity kWh/m2 147 147 163

Carbon dioxide, 
total

g CO2 /kWh 28 33 26

Water m3/m2 0.64 0.48 0.57

For comments on these statistics, see the GRI annexe. See 
www.atriumljungberg.se for additional information.

District heating is used in the majority of Atrium Ljung-
berg’s properties. The value in the table has been calculated 
on the basis of normal year-corrected actual consumption.  

District cooling is used in just over 50 per cent of Atrium 
Ljungberg’s property holding. The value in the table is calcu-
lated on the basis of normal use.

Electricity – all electricity consumed and supplied by Atrium 
Ljungberg is “Hydroelectric power with a guarantee of 
origin”. The value in the table is calculated on the basis of 
actual consumption.  

Carbon dioxide released into the atmosphere as a result of 
the operations derives primarily from district heating and 
district cooling production, subcontractors’ transports, and 
journeys by Atrium Ljungberg’s own personnel and visi-
tors. The value is based on actual consumption of district 
heating, district cooling and journeys by Atrium Ljungberg’s 
personnel. 

Water used in Atrium Ljungberg’s properties is supplied 
by the local authority in question. The value in the table is 
based on actual consumption.

SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT
Responsibility and sustainability issues are rooted in 
our values and our culture, in policies, action plans and 
day-to-day routines. Atrium Ljungberg has environmen-
tal, ethical, work environment, equal opportunities and 
discrimination policies. The internal framework is in line 
with international norms and, since 2009, we have sup-
ported the Global Compact and the ten principles with 
regard to human rights, labour law, the environment and 
anti-corruption. 
 The work on strategic sustainability issues is followed 
up on a six-monthly basis and our policies and guidelines 
are evaluated annually by the company management 
and the Board of Directors and revised as necessary. 
The Managing Director is ultimately responsible for 
the operational work and all employees are expected to 
contribute towards the integration of sustainability issues 

into the day-to-day work and to take responsibility for 
them in the context thereof. 
 Atrium Ljungberg is keen to provide its owners and 
other stakeholders with transparent information on 
the way we work, and in 2008, we began reporting our 
sustainability work in accordance with level C of the In-
ternational Global Reporting Initiatives (GRI) guidelines 
for sustainability reporting. 
 Atrium Ljungberg also makes demands of its suppli-
ers and partners, over and above the values and policies 
that constitute our fundamental management tools. 
Through our support for the Global Compact, we have 
voluntarily undertaken to work to promote human 
rights, fair labour conditions, and care for the environ-
ment, and to combat corruption. This undertaking must 
be taken into account in Atrium Ljungberg’s relation-
ships with its various stakeholders. We communicate 
our values and expectations continuously, in order both 
to inform our suppliers and partners and to ensure that 
they too are taking responsibility for people and the 
environment.

INITIATIVES, REVIEWS AND SPONSORSHIP
Atrium Ljungberg is actively involved in and supports 
the following organisations as part of our efforts to help 
bring about positive development, even outside our 
direct sphere of influence:

•	The	UN	Global	compact

•	The	Climate	Pact	of	the	City	of	Stockholm

•		“Söderandan”	–	a	local	crime	prevention	initiative	on	
Södermalm

•		Tyngdpunkt	Farsta	–	a	programme	focusing	on	the	
sustainable development of Farsta as a local hub

•	Stockholm	Life

•	Kista	Science	City

Our work is also reviewed by several owners and inves-
tors, e.g. in the form of our reports to the international 
Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) initiative that shows 
how we handle the risks and opportunities linked to 
climate change. 
 In a report entitled “Responsible Enterprise”, the Folk-
sam insurance company adjudged Atrium Ljungberg to be 
best equipped to deal with human rights issues of any of 
the property companies that took part in the study. 
 Atrium Ljungberg also supports non-profit organisa-
tions in the local subsidiary markets in which we oper-
ate. We are also a committed partner of the UNICEF 
“Companies for Malawi” project.
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“Atrium Ljungberg is keen to improve people’s 
ability to access their retail hubs by using public 
transport or cycling. They are working actively 
on this issue in Gränby Centrum in Uppsala, for 
example. As part of a collaborative project that 
has been running in 2011, they have worked 
alongside customers, Uppsala municipality and 
the Uppland region’s public transport authority 
to come up with smart solutions to the problem of 
accessibility. A number of suggested improvements 
have been identified and 2012 will see the part-
nership working together to improve footpaths and 
cycle routes to Gränby Centrum, for example, and 
to provide practical real-time information inside 
the shopping centre for people travelling by bus.” 
Lisa Johnsson, Project Manager, WSP Analys och Strategi

“Nacka municipality and Atrium Ljungberg 
have a long-standing partnership based on close 
relationships and mutual interaction. We have 
different roles, but we are all working towards the 
same goals and visions. Sustainable development 
of the area demands that one takes a long-term 
approach, that we take one step at a time.  
Sickla is an excellent example of successful  
urban development that has been carried out  
in precisely this way.” 
Lena Dahlstedt, City Mayor, Nacka municipality
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THREE QUICK QUESTIONS FOR HELENA MARTINI, 
HR DIRECTOR, ATRIUM LJUNGBERG

What is HR’s sphere of responsibility?
I’d prefer to turn that around and say that HR  
is everyone’s responsibility, but that HR gener-
ates the preconditions and supplies the tools 
that enable good “employeeship” and manage-
ment leadership. We provide leadership training 
courses for all of our managers, for example, 
and hold introduction days for all new recruits, 
where they meet with the management team. 
 
Everyone talks about leadership, but you often 
mention “employeeship”. What is “employeeship”?
It’s about responsibility. Good “employeeship” means 
that everyone takes personal responsibility for their 
job satisfaction and that everyone understands that 
they have both rights and obligations.

What is it that drives you in your role as HR Director?
I want everyone to understand why they go to work 
each day, how their efforts make up part of the big 
picture and are vital to our operations as a whole.  
The potential inherent in getting everyone on board 
in that respect is enormous.
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Atrium Ljungberg is and shall continue to be an exciting 
and innovative company that stands for quality, op-
portunity and faith in the future. Atrium Ljungberg shall 
promote a work environment that makes the most of 
creative thinking, acceptance of responsibility and the en-
trepreneurial spirit in order to ensure that our employees 
are stimulated and motivated in their day-to-day work. 
 Our organisation is designed to focus on the customer 
and the individual business deal, to be close to our cus-
tomers, to enable decisions to be taken quickly.
 We endeavour to ensure a high degree of individual 
autonomy amongst our employees and achieve this 
through a management style that delegates the authority 
to influence and act while at the same time providing 
support and encouraging learning and development. A 
good workplace is characterised by a management that 
shows its faith in its employees and which encourages 
them to get involved in the company’s operations. We 
believe that clear authority, freedom under responsibility, 
and stimulating assignments and tasks raise the motiva-
tion levels and commitment of our employees. This, in 
turn, helps us to achieve our growth targets.

EMPLOYEE SURVEY SHOWS PRIDE IN THE COMPANY
An employee survey is carried out every year and the 
results are presented and discussed in groups. The groups 
define a number of focus areas for the coming year – 
both strong areas where we are keen to maintain a high 
standard and areas where there is room for improvement. 
This ensures that we work in a focused way to strengthen 
our workplace.
 The employee survey conducted in 2011 shows, 
amongst other things, that our employees have confi-
dence in Atrium Ljungberg and its management, that 
they feel pride in the company, and that they feel a 
high level of comradeship within their workplace. It 
also showed that the scope exists for further developing 
our managers’ skills so that they make it clear what is 
expected of every employee.

ONE OF SWEDEN’S BEST WORKPLACES
Atrium Ljungberg’s goal is to be one of Sweden’s best 
workplaces, because we know just how important a 
good workplace is when it comes to job satisfaction, 
to attracting new talent, and to achieving our growth 
targets. Which is why, in 2011, we elected to take part in 
the “Sweden’s best workplaces, 2012” competition – an 
annual competition run by the Great Place to Work® 
Institute Sweden to select Sweden’s best workplaces. The 
results are based mainly on the evaluation of the work-
place carried out by its employees, via a questionnaire. 
The results of the survey as a whole will be presented in 
the spring of 2012.

OUR EMPLOYEES

KEY RATIOS

31-12-2011 31-12-2010
Number of employees 260 251
Staff turnover, % 10.6 9.3
Percentage collective 
agreements, %

100 100

Average age, years 42.0 42.0
Gender breakdown, % 22 F/78 M 22 F/78 M
Years employed 8.9 8.4
Absence due to sick-
ness, %

3.2 3.3

GENDER BREAKDOWN 2011

Men Women Total
Board of Directors 6 1 7
Senior management 2 5 7
Middle management 8 6 14
Other 194 45 239
Total 210 57 267

Senior management 2 5 7
Support functions 9 18 27
Property management 62 25 87
Business development 6 1 7
Project management 10 2 12
TL Bygg 115 5 120
Total 204 56 260

OUR EMPLOYEES ARE THE KEY
TO OUR SUCCESS
ATRIUM LJUNGBERG SHALL be an employer that encourages creative thinking, acceptance of 

responsibility and an entrepreneurial spirit. We endeavour to ensure a high degree of individual 

autonomy amongst our employees through a management style that encourages development. 
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OUR EMPLOYEES
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ORGANISATION

Kista

Sickla

Farsta

Stockholm city 
centre, south

Stockholm city 
centre, north

MD

HR

Project  
management

Business  
Area Offices

Economy/Finance

Business 
development

Mobilia

Sickla

Farsta

Uppsala

PUB

Stockholm, other/
Sweden

Business  
Area Retail

MAJOR ACTIVITIES IN 2011
•	 Salary	and	benefit	mapping	that	has	resulted	in:
 – new, improved company car policy
 – salary exchange for pension offer
 – group insurance offer
 – new partnership agreement with fitness provider

•	 	Development	and	inspiration	for	all	employees,	e.g.	
 – MS Office training
 – efficient work techniques course
 – inspiration day
 – individual courses/training 

•	 	Conference	trip	for	all	employees,	including	 
TL Bygg staff, discussing such areas as:

 – “employeeship”
 – the company’s core values
 –  the latest information about the company  

from the management group
 – teambuilding 

•	 Recruitment-/Employer-branding	campaign:
 –  we grew during the year and a number of new  

positions were created 

•	 	Relocation	to	a	new	headquarters,	which	has	resulted	
in:

 – increased cooperation between departments
 –  vibrant and inspirational meeting places for the 

employees

FOCUS AREAS FOR 2012
The employee survey carried out in 2010 revealed the 
need for further development of the company’s manage-
ment’s leadership skills. During the summer and autumn 
of 2011, we have drawn up a definition of leadership, 
based on our goals, strategies and values, and which now 
forms the basis for a leadership development programme. 
The programme began at the end of 2011 and will run 
until the autumn of 2012. The aim, in defining what we 
mean by leadership, was to clarify the type of manage-
ment style that is expected to result in the realisation of 
our business concept and to our continuing to be a very 
good place to work. The objective is to promote increased 
cooperation and exchange of experience between manag-
ers within the company. All of the company’s managers 
are participating.  
 In 2012, we will be placing a greater emphasis on 
skills mapping and development, based on the role and 
the individual, in order to generate clarity with regard 
to expectations from both a company and an employee 
perspective. 
 We will continue to focus on being one of Sweden’s 
best workplaces.  

EMPLOYEE DATA
At the 2011 year-end, Atrium Ljungberg had 269 (251) 
employees. The average age of the employees was 42.0 
(42.0). 
 The gender distribution, excluding the TL Bygg sub-
sidiary company, is equal at senior and company manage-
ment level, with 52 per cent women and 48 per cent men 
(50/50). At Group level, where TL Bygg is included, the 
gender breakdown is 22 (22%) per cent women and 78 
(78%) per cent men.

30, MD and 
support functions

89, Property 
management

8, Business development

120, TL Bygg13, Project management

ANTAL ANSTÄLLDA
NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

72 People, 30–39

27 People, 60+ 42 People, 0–29

80 People, 40–49

38 People, 50–59

AGE BREAKDOWN
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“ IT’S PROBABLY 
NEVER BEEN  
SO MUCH FUN  
AS IT IS NOW”
Åke Parkenberg, aged 67, Project 
Manager and in his twenty fourth 
year at Atrium Ljungberg.

“ I WAS ONLY GOING 
TO DO MY THESIS 
WORK!”
Sofia Strandell, aged 26,  
Market Area Manager in Kista. 
Employed since 2009.
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OUR PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
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THE PROPERTY PORTFOLIO IN FIGURES
ATRIUM LJUNGBERG’S PROPERTY portfolio comprises 54 properties with a total letting area of 

871,000m². The greater part of the portfolio is located in three regions: Stockholm, Uppsala and Malmö. 

The market value of the portfolio at the year-end was SEK 21.9 billion. The contracted yearly rents 

totalled SEK 1.8 billion and the economic letting level was 94 per cent.

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
Our property portfolio, which is primarily made up of 
retail and office properties, comprises modern, attrac-
tive properties. We have a total of 54 properties with a 
combined letting area of 871,000m². The greater part 
of the portfolio is located in Stockholm, Uppsala and 
Malmö, with the Stockholm region the biggest of the 
three, accounting for 78 per cent of income. Atrium 
Ljungberg also owns properties in Östersund, Västerås 
and Halmstad.

PROPERTY VALUE
The book value of the property holding at the year-end 
was SEK 21,897 million (SEK 19,940 m), correspond-
ing to SEK 25,151/m² (SEK 25,134/m²). The average 
yield requirement in the valuation is 5.8 per cent (5.8%). 
Development rights and land account for SEK 214 
million of the total value. Atrium Ljungberg invested a 
total of SEK 1,050 million (SEK 1,047 m) in its own 
properties during the year and acquired properties for a 
total of SEK 379 million (SEK 35 m). There are a total 
of 113,000m² GFA development rights with an average 
value of SEK 1,900/m² and project plans for the creation 
of a further 94,000m² of development rights. 
 The unrealised change in the value of the properties 
during the year totalled SEK 528 million (SEK 525 m), 

corresponding to an increase in value of 2.6 per cent.  
The increase in value is primarily attributable to increased 
rental levels and to a slight reduction in yield require-
ments.

Property portfolio  
by segment

Number 
of pro-
perties

Letting 
area, 

1,000 m²

Fair 
value, 

SEK m

Fair 
value, 

SEK/m²

Rental 
value, 

SEK m

Rental 
value, 

SEK/m²

Economic 
letting 

rate, %

Rental 
income, 

SEK m

Property 
costs, SEK 

m

Operating 
surplus, 

SEK m %

Stockholm city centre 12 166 6,481 38,960 487 2,930 95 452 –149 303 4.7
Stockholm, other 31 484 9,834 20,303 932 1,925 94 865 –315 550 5.6
Uppsala and Mälardalen 4 79 2,312 29,160 214 2,701 99 202 –64 138 6.0
Sweden, other 3 53 667 12,523 66 1,233 92 62 –26 36 5.4
Total 50 783 19,294 24,633 1,700 2,170 95 1 581 –554 1,027 5.3
Project properties 3) 2 87 2,389 27,348 171 1,963 93 121 –43 78 3.3
Land and development 
rights 2 214

Total 54 871 21,897 25,151 1,871 2,149 94 1 702 –597 1,105 5.0
Properties sold 4 4
Total for the Group 1 706 –597 1,109
1)  The above summary refers to the property portfolio as of 31-12-2011. Properties acquired are reported showing income and expenses as if they 

had been owned for the full year, which explains the difference between the operating surplus above and that shown in the Income Statement. 
2)  Reported rental value is based on the immediately following quarter.
3)  The term, project properties, refers to individual properties or clearly delimited parts of an individual property that have been vacated in order 

to permit the reconstruction and upgrading of the property, irrespective of whether construction work has begun. The term, project properties, 
also refers to buildings under construction and to undeveloped land and development rights. Properties are reclassified from project properties 
to finished properties on 1st January of the year after completion.

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO, AS OF 31-12-2011 JANUARY–DECEMBER 20111) YIELD1)

CHANGE IN PROPERTY PORTFOLIO

SEK m Number

Property portfolio, 01-01-2011 19,940 49

+ Acquisitions 379 4

+  New builds, reconstructions  
and extensions 1,050 –

+ Reallotments – 1

– Sales – –

+ Unrealised changes in value 528 –

Property portfolio, 31-12-2011 21,897 54

Retail 57%
Offices 38%

Residential 4%
Other 1%

MARKET VALUE PER PROPERTY TYPE
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Valuation method
Atrium Ljungberg classifies all of the properties in its 
portfolio as investment properties and reports all of them 
at fair value. The portfolio is valued every quarter. The 
property valuation is primarily conducted by means of 
internal valuations based on a cash flow calculation with 
individually estimated yield requirements for each prop-
erty. The yield requirement is determined in accordance 
with the location price method whereby information is 
gathered from equivalent transactions completed in the 
property market. Properties corresponding to 64 per 
cent of the value have been valued externally during the 
year in order to ensure that the valuation is correct. The 
valuations were conducted by Forum Fastighetsekonomi, 
Savills and CBRE. Each property’s earning capacity is 
estimated individually in conjunction with the valuation, 
which is based on a cash flow calculation. The calculation 
period is normally between 5 and 10 years but may, in 
certain cases, be longer due to the contractual situation.  
 When estimating the fair value of the properties, 
assumptions are made and analyses are conducted with 
regard to the underlying factors that influence the value. 
These include: 

•	 	an	analysis	of	transactions	completed	in	comparable	
markets

•	 	an	assessment	of	the	technical	and	commercial	condi-
tion of the properties

•	 	an	analysis	of	existing	rental	levels	and	market	rents	
for the respective properties and an analysis of the 
long-term nature of existing tenants

•	 an	estimation	of	future	vacancies

•	 	an	analysis	of	operating	and	maintenance	costs	in	the	
short and long term, based on the company’s actual 
costs

•	 	an	analysis	of	reconstruction,	extension	and	new	
builds and other investment requirements

 Project properties are valued on the basis of complet-
ed projects, less remaining investments. A risk surcharge 
is added to the yield requirement on the basis of the 
current phase of the project. 
 Properties where the project is in an early phase, 
where the decision to invest has not, as yet, been taken, 
are valued on the basis of the existing buildings plus 
development costs incurred. 
 Development rights and land have been valued on 
the basis of an estimated market value per metre square 
gross floor area and the valuation only includes approved 
development rights. 
 The market value is described below on the basis of 
normalised operating net, adjusted for, inter alia, initial 
effects, remaining investments, and development rights.   

YIELD REQUIREMENT PER PREMISES TYPE, %

Premises type Interval Average
Offices 4.8–8.0 5.9
Retail 4.8–7.5 5.8
Residential 4.5–4.8 4.6
Other 6.1–8.5 6.2
Total 4.5–8.5 5.8

YIELD REQUIREMENT PER SEGMENT, %

Segment Interval Average
Stockholm city centre 4.8–7.0 5.3
Stockholm, other 4.5–8.5 6.0
Uppsala and Mälardalen 5.8–6.2 6.0
Sweden, other 5.5–7.3 6.3
Project properties 5.8–7.5 6.0
Total 4.5–8.5 5.8

VALUE BASED ON NORMALISED OPERATING NET

SEK m Segment Project Total
Rental value 1,668 327 1,994
Long-term vacancy (–3.5%) –57 –12 –68
Rental income 1,611 315 1,926
Property costs –502 –75 –577
Normalised operating net 1,109 240 1,349
Yield requirement 5.7% 6.0% 5.8%
Yield value before adjustments 19,456 3,985 23,441

Adjustments
Remaining investments –290 –1,523 –1,813
Initial vacancies –20 –52 –72
Other adjustments 252 5 257
Land and development rights 0 213 213
Certificate of title cost –104 –25 –129
Fair value 19,294 2,603 21,897
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RENTAL INCOME
The rental income breaks down into 55 per cent 
derived from retail, 31 per cent from offices, 3 per 
cent from residential, and 11 per cent from other 
types of property, such as educational, cultural,  
service and parking facilities. 95 per cent of the 
commercial rental agreements have index clauses 
linked to inflation. Retail property rental agree-
ments often include a net sales clauses which 
means that they are based on the tenant’s net sales. 
Minimum rental provisions ensure, however, that 
rental levels are maintained, and 1 per cent of the 
total current rental income consequently comprises 
the results of net sales surcharges.  
 The contracted annual rent at the year-end 
totalled SEK 1,768 million (SEK 1,625 m). The 
rental value at the year-end was SEK 1,871 million 
(SEK 1,731 m). The economic letting level was 
94 per cent (94%), including project properties. 
The letting level, if project properties are excluded, 
was 95 per cent (95%). The average remaining 
contractual term in Atrium Ljungberg’s commer-
cial contract portfolio was 3.9 years (3.9 yrs.). 11 
per cent of the rental agreements will come up for 
renegotiation during 2012. 
 Details of the largest tenants are shown in the 
Business Area Retail and Business Area Offices 
sections on pages 48–73, respectively, and in the 
section entitled Opportunities and Risks on pages 
81–83.  

PROPERTY COSTS
Property costs in 2011 totalled SEK 591 million 
(SEK 584 m). Adjusted for acquisitions and new 
builds, which have been adjusted to full-year value, 
property costs totalled SEK 698/m², corresponding 
to a reduction in costs of 4 per cent in comparison 
with the previous year. The reduction was largely 
due to lower service charge-related costs and 
lower snow clearance costs. The cost of operating 
retail properties in general and retail centres in 
particular is generally higher than for other types 
of properties, and this is reflected in the company’s 
cost level. These costs are, to some extent, covered 
by passing them on to the tenants in the form of 
rental surcharges.  

PROPERTY COSTS 1)

SEK/m2 2011 2010
Service charge-related costs –213 –227
Other operating costs –143 –155
Management costs –138 –144
Repairs –45 –44
Property tax –118 –116
Ground rent –30 –35

Non-deductible tax –10 –11
Total –698 –731
1)  Adjusted by means of excluding properties sold and adjusting new acquisi-

tions and new builds to their full-year values.

RENTAL INCOME TREND

2011 
result 

2012  
Q1 1)

2012  
Q2 1)

2012  
Q3 1)

2012   
Q4 1)

Stockholm city centre 432 461 514 514 514
Stockholm, other 865 876 879 876 865
Uppsala and Mälardalen 202 212 211 207 213
Sweden, other 62 60 60 60 60
Project properties 121 159 170 170 204
Properties sold 4 – – – –
Total 1,686 1,768 1,834 1,827 1,856
1) Contracted rental income

SEK m %
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rent, 38%

Net sales result,1%

BREAKDOWN OF RENTAL INCOME
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SEGMENT KEY RATIO RENTAL VALUE PER SEGMENT AND PREMISES TYPE

Rental value, SEK m 487

STOCKHOLM CITY CENTRE Percentage of total rental value, % 26

Contracted annual rent, SEK m 461

Letting rate, % 95

Market value per m², SEK k 39

Percentage of total market value, % 30

Yield requirement in valuation, % 5.3

Rental value, SEK m 932

STOCKHOLM, OTHER Percentage of total rental value, % 50

Contracted annual rent, SEK m 876

Letting rate, % 94

Market value per m², SEK k 20

Percentage of total market value, % 45

Yield requirement in valuation, % 6.0

Rental value, SEK m 214

UPPSALA AND MÄLARDALEN Percentage of total rental value, % 11

Contracted annual rent, SEK m 212

Letting rate, % 99

Market value per m², SEK k 29

Percentage of total market value, % 11

Yield requirement in valuation, % 6.0

Rental value, SEK m 66

SWEDEN, OTHER Percentage of total rental value, % 4

Contracted annual rent, SEK m 60

Letting rate, % 92

Market value per m², SEK k 13

Percentage of total market value, % 3

Yield requirement in valuation, % 6.3

Rental value, SEK m 171

PROJECT PROPERTIES Percentage of total rental value, % 9

Contracted annual rent, SEK m 159

Letting rate, % 93

Market value per m², SEK k 27

Percentage of total market value, % 11

Yield requirement in valuation, % 6.0

Rental value, SEK m 1,871

Contracted annual rent, SEK m 1,768

Letting rate, % 94

Market value per m², SEK k 25

Yield requirement in valuation, % 5.8

Other 12%

Retail 25%

Vacant 5%
Offices 58%

FÖRDELNING AV HYRESVÄRDE PER SEGMENT OCH LOKALTYP
STOCKHOLMS INNERSTAD

Residential 5%

Other 13%

Offices 22%

Vacant 6% Retail 54%

FÖRDELNING AV HYRESVÄRDE PER SEGMENT 
OCH LOKALTYP ÖVRIGA STOCKHOLM

Vacant 1%

Offices 5%

Other 2%

Residential 1%

Retail 91%

FÖRDELNING AV HYRESVÄRDE PER SEGMENT OCH LOKALTYP
UPPSALA MÄLARDALEN

Retail 66%Other 4%

Vacant 8%

Residential 21%

Offices 1%

FÖRDELNING AV HYRESVÄRDE PER SEGMENT OCH 
LOKALTYP ÖVRIGA SVERIGE

Vacant 7%

Offices 26%

Other 2%

Retail 65%

FÖRDELNING AV HYRESVÄRDE PER SEGMENT OCH LOKALTYP
PROJEKTFASTIGHETER

Retail 52%
Vacant 6%

Residential 3%

Other 10%

Offices 29%

FÖRDELNING AV HYRESVÄRDE PER SEGMENT 
OCH LOKALTYP TOTAL

4%

 9%

26%
of the total rental value  

on the Balance Sheet is located  
in the Stockholm city centre area

50%
of the total rental value  

on the Balance Sheet is located  
in the Stockholm, other area

11%
of the total rental value on the  

Balance Sheet is located in  
the Uppsala and Mälardalen area

of the total rental value on the 
Balance Sheet is located in the 

Sweden, other area

of the total rental value  
on the Balance Sheet  

lies in project properties

SEGMENT OVERVIEW

TOTAL
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Letting area, m2

No. Property name Municipality Address/description
Lease-

hold
Year built/ 
Renovated Retail Offices Residential Garage Other Total

Rateable 
value,

 SEK m

Rental 
value, 

SEK m

Economic 
letting

 rate

STOCKHOLM CITY CENTRE

1 Adam & Eva 17 Stockholm Drottninggatan 68 1929/2006 3,667 4,179 285 8,131 326 42 99

2 Blästern 6 Stockholm
Gävlegatan 20–22,  
Norra Stationsgatan 75–81 1939/1995 1,784 21,433 6,468 1,243 30,928 422 56 76

3 Blästern 11 Stockholm Hälsingegatan 43–45 1930/2006 1,534 8,463 3,168 697 13,862 192 27 84

4 Blästern 13 1) 2) Stockholm Hälsingegatan 47–51 1934/2001 510 15,259 3,232 1,181 20,182 340 51 99

5 Fasta Paviljongen 1 1) Stockholm Långholmens folkhögskola T 1915/2008 1,116 1,116 3 100

6 Fatburen 1 Stockholm Söderhallarna 1991 2,319 8,983 3,773 3,207 18,282 324 45 99

7 Fatbursbrunnen 17 Stockholm Högbergsgatan 62 1929/2002 630 2,213 2,843 5 91

8 Fatburssjön 8 Stockholm Magnus Ladulåsg 63 1930/2006 6,681 1,082 7,763 190 22 91

9 Roddaren 7 Stockholm St Eriksgatan 46 1900/1995 818 7,025 780 101 8,724 156 24 99

10 Skotten 6 Stockholm Glashuset Drottninggatan 1959/2008 6,292 3,516 1,887 11,695 445 56 98

11 Torgvågen 7 Stockholm PUB 1929/2009 8,340 7 8,295 16,642 625 70 96

12 Tranbodarne 12 Stockholm Katarinavägen 15 T 1974/2006 92 23,200 2,886 6 26,184 757 86 100

Total 25,357 99,376 20,307 21,313 166,352 3,777 487 95

STOCKHOLM, OTHER

13 Arbetsstolen 3 Stockholm Västbergavägen 4–12 1955/2008 15,236 593 1,600 17,429 49 29 97

14 Kolding 1 Stockholm Ärvinge, Kista T 1993 128 15,800 3,087 19,015 136 21 100

15 Kolding 2 Stockholm Ärvinge, Kista T 1992 566 348 20,792 1,750 70 23,526 176 27 99

16 Kolding 3 Stockholm Ärvinge, Kista T 1993 954 16,246 1,256 6,848 781 26,085 131 40 74

17 Kolding 4 Stockholm Ärvinge, Kista T 1993/2001 251 24,099 8,067 1,110 33,527 468 60 82

18 Borgarnäs 1 3) Stockholm Kista Gårdsväg 2 T

19 Proppen 6 Stockholm
Textilgatan 31,
Hammarby Sjöstad 1937/2008 974 10,306 1,249 12,529 188 28 100

20 Storö 2 Stockholm Farsta Centrum T 1961/2006 6,250 4,052 1,273 11,575 132 25 81

21 Storö 15 Stockholm Farsta Centrum T 1961/1998 217 1,315 1,532 3 100

22 Storö 21 Stockholm Farsta Centrum T 1961/2010 46,245 22,722 13,862 7,120 89,949 1,241 216 94

23 Storö 23 Stockholm Farsta Centrum T 1961/1998 1,654 2,114 1,470 3,135 8,373 17 99

24 Storö 24 Stockholm Farsta Centrum 1961/2008 21

25 Orminge 47:1 Nacka Orminge Centrum 1967/1992 9,843 628 390 10,861 115 22 98

26 Sicklaön 83:22 3) Nacka
Sickla Köp- och Affär-
skvarter 1898/2011 67,860 49,188 47,470 30,801 195,319 2,004 397 96

27 Sicklaön 83:32 3) Nacka Uddvägen 1 1877 300 300 1 46

28 Sicklaön 87:1 Nacka Alphyddevägen 4 1962 90 2,186 2,276 3 100

29 Sicklaön 115:1 Nacka Planiavägen 1 1929 370 370 1 1 100

30 Sicklaön 115:3 Nacka Sjötorpsvägen 3 1909 198 198 3

31 Sicklaön 115:4 Nacka Sjötorpsvägen 5 2

32 Sicklaön 117:1 Nacka Planiavägen 3 1967 2,592 330 435 3,357 11 4 50

33 Sicklaön 117:2 Nacka Sjötorpsvägen 6 1909 176 176 4

34 Sicklaön 117:5 Nacka Sjötorpsvägen 12 1909 285 285 5

35 Sicklaön 117:7 Nacka Sjötorpsvägen 7 1914 154 154 4

36 Sicklaön 117:17 Nacka Planiavägen 5–7 1978 1,629 1,629 4 100

37 Sicklaön 346:1 Nacka Uddvägen 7 1981 484 4,500 4,984 44 10 100

38 Söderby Huvudgård 2:43 3) Haninge Port73 1974/2010 29,237 156 29,393 191 50 88

39 Västnora 4:26 Haninge Västnora, Västerhaninge

40 Ribban 16 Nynäshamn Backluravägen 0

41–42 Storbygården 1:15, 1:31 Nynäshamn Torö, Ösmo

43 Resan 1 Sollentuna Konsumentvägen 2 1972 1,166 1,166 7 1 100

44 Rotundan 1 Sollentuna Rotebro Handel 1965/2010 21,723 6 21,729 21,729 115 31 81

Total 204,175 135,624 38,661 82,554 54,722 515,736 5,048 988 93

1) 50% owned by Atrium Ljungberg. Values specified refer to Atrium Ljungberg’s proprietary share. 

2) The remaining part (50%) of the property was acquired in January 2012.

3) All or part of the property was classified as a project property as per 31-12-2011.

PROPERTY LIST
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STOCKHOLM
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CHANGES IN THE PROPERTY PORTFOLIO, 2011

PROPERTIES ACQUIRED, 2011

Property name Municipality Letting area, m² Period 1) Possession taken

Sicklaön 115:3 Nacka 198 Q3 2011 01-07-2011

Sicklaön 115:4 Nacka Q2 2011 13-06-2011

Sicklaön 117:5 Nacka 285 Q4 2011 22-12-2011

Sicklaön 117:7 Nacka 154 Q4 2011 20-12-2011

Blästern 6 (50 %) Stockholm 15,464 Q4 2011 13-01-2012

1) Period for bookkeeping of acquisitions and reporting of fair value.

PROPERTY LIST

Letting area, m2

No. Property name Municipality Address/description Leasehold
Year built/ 
Renovated Retail Offices Residential Garage Other Total

Rateable 
value,

 SEK m

Rental 
value, 

SEK m

Economic 
letting

 rate

UPPSALA AND MÄLARDALEN

45–46 Brillinge 8:1, 9:1 3) Uppsala Gränby

47 Dragarbrunn 19:1 3) Uppsala Rådhuset, Stora torget 1645/1883 2,096 465 486 3,047 22 3 68

48 Dragarbrunn 27:2 Uppsala Forumgallerian 1902/2005 9,848 4,986 1,140 385 16,358 362 50 99

49 Gränby 21:4 3) Uppsala Gränby Centrum 1971/2011 40,308 491 1,857 42,656 377 143 100

50 Igor 8 Västerås Kvarteret Igor 1970/2010 15,145 2,347 11,230 699 29,421 232 49 98

Total 67,397 8,289 1,140 11,230 3,427 91,482 993 245 99

SWEDEN, OTHER

51 Bohus 7 Malmö Mobilia 1966/2010 5,831 183 11,311 6,680 35 24,040 148 27 89

52 Bohus 8 3) Malmö Mobilia 1968/2011 25,048 3,548 14,900 260 43,756 270 86 100

53 Månadsmötet 9 Östersund Mittpunkten 1962/2009 11,594 595 6,129 95 18,413 100 27 98

54 Stormarknaden 1 Halmstad Coop Forum, Eurostop 1990 10,410 400 10,810 64 11 83

Total 52,883 4,726 11,311 27,709 390 97,019 582 152 96

Sum total 349,811 248,015 51,111 141,800 79,851 870,588 10,401 1,871 94

1) 50% owned by Atrium Ljungberg. Values specified refer to Atrium Ljungberg’s proprietary share. 
2) The remaining part (50%) of the property was acquired in January 2012.
3) All or part of the property was classified as a project property as per 31-12-2011.
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INVESTMENTS 
AND PROJECTS

Seventy or so rental apartments in Mobilia, Malmö, 
will be ready for occupation in the autumn of 2014.



   29ATRIUM LJUNGBERG 2011

INVESTMENTS AND PROJECTS | THE PROPERTY MARKET IN SWEDEN

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

OtherRetailOffices

2011201020092008200720062005

SEK m

TRANSAKTIONSVOLYM PER FASTIGHETSTYP
TRANSACTION VOLUME PER PROPERTY TYPE 1)

%

DIREKTAVKASTNINGSKRAV FÖR HANDEL OCH
KONTOR SAMT 10-ÅRIG STATSOBLIGATION

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Yield requirement, offices and retail properties, 
Stockholm CBD
10-year government bonds (quarterly average)

201120102009200820072006200520042003200220012000

YIELD REQUIREMENTS FOR RETAIL AND OFFICE 
PROPERTIES AND 10-YEAR GOVERNMENT BONDS

THE PROPERTY MARKET IN SWEDEN 
THE PROPERTY MARKET TRANSACTION VOLUME remained essentially unchanged in 2011 in 

comparison with 2010 and is dominated primarily by domestic players. The spread in yield requirements 

between primary and secondary properties continues to be substantial. 

The transaction market began strongly in 2011 in Swe-
den. Calculations made by CBRE show that the transac-
tion volume for the first half of the year was 18 per cent 
up on the corresponding period in 2010. Volumes fell 
by 12 per cent in the latter half of the year, however, in 
comparison with the corresponding period in 2010, and 
the total transaction volume for 2011 was approximately 
SEK 100 billion, which is on a par with 2010. 
 The slight increase in levels of confidence in the future 
during the first half of 2011 helped bring about a reduc-
tion of 25 points in the yield requirement for primary 
office and retail properties in the Stockholm CBD to 
4.75 per cent. 
 The gap between primary and secondary properties 
with regard to yield requirements continues to be wide as 
opportunistic players who push down the yield require-
ment on secondary objects during an economic boom, 
found it hard to obtain financing. 
 The transaction market was dominated in 2011 by 
domestic players. When the market was at its strongest, 
between 2005 and 2007, foreign investors accounted for 
between 40 and 50 per cent of the transaction volume. 
Only 12 per cent of all investors were, by contrast, for-
eign in 2011, according to CBRE. 
 The demand for retail properties in good locations 
has increased between 2009 and 2011. 17 per cent of 

the total transaction volume in 2011 comprised retail 
properties, in comparison with 10 per cent in 2010 and 
6 per cent in 2009. Foreign players have dominated this 
segment. 
 Financing continues to be highly significant for the 
transaction market. Banks’ borrowing costs rose during 
the year and the banks were generally more risk averse. 
The spread in loan conditions is, furthermore, significant, 
depending on the borrower, making life harder for com-
panies with less capital strength.   
 
FORECAST FOR 2012
The forecasts for the 2012 transaction market is char-
acterised by uncertainty and CBRE does not expect the 
transaction volume to increase in relation to 2011. The 
economic uncertainty in the outside world is resulting 
in financing institutions and investors adopting a “wait 
and see” attitude, relatively speaking, during the first 
few months of the year, but provided that the global 
economic situation does not worsen, an increased interest 
on the party of foreign investors is expected, primarily in 
properties with stable cash flows in good locations. 
 Out and out opportunistic players are not expected 
to account for an increased percentage of the transaction 
volume in 2010, due to the lack of attractive financing.
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THREE QUICK QUESTIONS FOR CAROLA LAVÉN, 
BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, AND MAGNUS 
ALTESKOG, PROJECT DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, 
ATRIUM LJUNGBERG

The goal is to invest one billion per year in in-house  
development projects. Where will the billion go in 2012?
Our project volume is bigger than it has ever been right 
now and in 2012, we will continue investing in Mobilia 
in Malmö and Kvarteret NOD in Kista, amongst others.

Project development accounts for a large part of the 
company’s growth in value. What’s your recipe for success?
The short answer is expert and committed employees. 
We mix and match experts from business development, 
project management, and management in the projects’ 
steering groups, which means the product is optimised 
for all parties concerned, including our customers and 
our shareholders. 

What about the environmental aspect of things?
We are BREEAM certifying all major new builds, but 
because we have always built to ensure quality in the 
long-term and focused on low energy consumption, 
environmental aspects are already automatically part of 
everything we do.
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INVESTMENTS IN OUR OWN PROPERTIES
Atrium Ljungberg’s goal is to invest SEK 1 billion every 
year in its own development projects. New build projects 
shall yield a return that is between 2 and 3 percentage 
points better than the acquisition alternative. For every 
krona we invest in a project, this yields an increase in 
value of approximately 30 per cent.  
 The rate at which projects can be completed depends 
on the market situation and the progress made in the 
detailed planning work. A project is not usually started 
until a minimum return level has been secured in the 
form of confirmed lease contracts. 
 SEK 1,050 million was invested in our own proper-
ties in 2011 and three major development projects were 
completed. These projects are described in greater detail 
on pages 32–33. 

ACQUISITIONS
Properties are acquired primarily in order to acquire de-
velopment rights and future development projects, or to 
obtain strategic benefits. All acquisitions are made with 
the intention of owning and developing the properties in 
the long-term. 
 The remaining 50 per cent of the Blästern 6 office 
property in Hagastaden in Stockholm was acquired dur-
ing the year, and Atrium Ljungberg consequently now 
owns 100 per cent of Blästern 6. Four smaller properties 
have also been acquired in Sickla, enabling new develop-
ment rights to be obtained and enhancing the develop-
mental potential of adjacent properties already owned by 
Atrium Ljungberg.  
 Sales have been made over the years as part of the 
efforts to streamline the holding in accordance with our 
strategy of being a major player in our prioritised subsidi-
ary markets. No properties were sold in 2011. 

INVESTMENTS IN OUR OWN PROPERTIES
AND ACQUISITIONS 
ONE OF ATRIUM LJUNGBERG’S most important strategies for growth in value entails property 

development via the exploitation of the Group’s own development rights. Our existing project portfolio 

enables us to invest the equivalent of approximately SEK 6 billion in the future. Our goal is to invest SEK 

1 billion every year in in-house development projects at a rate of return that exceeds the market’s yield 

requirements. SEK 1,050 million was invested in in-house development projects in 2011.  

ACQUISITIONS IN 2011 

Property name
Munici-
pality

Letting 
area, m²

Possession 
taken

Sicklaön 115:4 Nacka – 13-06-2011

Sicklaön 115:3 Nacka 198 01-07-2011

Sicklaön 117:7 Nacka 154 20-12-2011

Sicklaön 117:5 Nacka 285 22-12-2011

Blästern 6 (50%) Stockholm 15,464 13-01-2012
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MOBILIA PHASE 2 – MALMÖ 
Work on an expansion of Mobilia’s southern section as part 
of the massive transformation of Mobilia in Malmö was 
completed in early 2011. The expansion comprises a new 
garage with 380 parking spaces and a total of 2,100m² new 
retail space in the same building. The new retail space is fully 
let and the new tenants include such retailers as System-
bolaget (the state alcohol retail monopoly outlets) and a 
pharmacy. 
 The garage is connected to and fully integrated with the 
southern main entrance, and cafes and a cohesive fresh pro-
duce concept have been added adjacent to the existing ICA 
outlet (FMCG). 
 The southern outdoor car park has been smartened up 
and a new free-standing building has been completed in the 
area for Burger King. 

PROJECTS COMPLETED IN 2011

Project/Property/Phase Municipality

Project area, 
GFA,  

non-residential  
Action – new build/

reconstruction1)
Investment, 

SEK m Completed Letting rate, %

Mobilia, Bohus 8, phase 2 Malmö 2,100 new build 200 Q1 2011 100

HK Atlas Copco, Sicklaön 83:22 Nacka 15,100 new build 350 Q2 2011 97

Gränby Centrum, Gränby 21:4, 
phase 2

Uppsala 9,000 new build 250 Q3 2011 100

Total 26,200 800

1) New build and/or reconstruction.

COMPLETED DURING THE YEAR
ATRIUM LJUNGBERG COMPLETED three major development projects in 2011. The Mobilia retail centre 

in Malmö has been expanded by the completion of a new garage and new retail space. Atlas Copco’s 

new headquarters in Sickla, just outside Stockholm, has been completed, and a new shopping centre 

section has been built on to Gränby Centrum in Uppsala, and twenty or so newly opened stores and 

service facilities inaugurated.
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ATLAS COPCO  
HEADQUARTERS – SICKLA
Atlas Copco’s new headquarters in Sickla were completed 
and ready for occupation in March 2011. The world-leading 
industrial company has relocated its global headquarters to 
this new building, along with its various other operations 
that were previously spread over several different buildings 
in Sickla. 
 In April 2011, Atrium Ljungberg and TL Bygg relocated 
their headquarters to one of the floors within this building. 
The building also has a restaurant and café on the ground 
floor for the 800 or so people who now work in the building. 
 The office block is a modern meeting place that offers 
a productive and inspirational environment for those who 
work here and for their customers. 
 The Atlas Copco building has been built to extremely 
stringent sustainability standards and exceeds the require-
ments for classification as a Green Building by a wide mar-
gin. The building has created a new entrance to Sickla that 
helps strengthen the area’s position as an attractive location 
for workplaces. 

GRÄNBY CENTRUM PHASE 2  
– UPPSALA
A new shopping centre section within Gränby Centrum in 
Uppsala opened in August 2011. The new section comprises 
four stories and a total of 9,000 m² letting area. Twenty 
or so retail stores, restaurants and cafes have opened in the 
new section, many of which are completely new concepts 
for both Gränby Centrum and Uppsala. One of the floors 
comprises a service centre and gym, with dance, spa, medical 
and dental clinics and a beauty salon. The Church of Sweden 
also has premises here. 
 The service facilities are an important component of 
Gränby Centrum, which now offers a variety of facilities 
that meet a wide range of local residents’ requirements. With 
a total of 85 retail outlets, food outlets and service centres, 
Gränby Centrum has strengthened its position as Uppsala 
County’s leading regional retail hub.  
 Renovation and internal conversion work on the older 
parts of Gränby Centrum were also completed towards the 
end of the year, as was construction of the link between the 
older and newer parts of the property.
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RÅDHUSET – UPPSALA 
On 1st March 2012, the venerable Rådhuset (old city 
hall building) in central Uppsala will be ready to open its 
doors after an extensive programme of reconstruction and 
extension. The Rådhuset building has been converted into a 
modern fashion department store with a number of strong, 
commercial brand names, restaurants and cafés.  
 With some parts of the building dating back to 1645, and 
with a long history as a municipal administration building, 
Rådhuset has considerable cultural and historical value. The 
building’s original qualities and characterful environment 
have been preserved and integrated in a way that makes 
Rådhuset a unique Swedish retail hub.  
 A modern, completely transparent extension has been 
added to the back of the building, along with a new outdoor 
square and a new main entrance. The extension links both 
floors of the store via lifts and escalators and also links 
together two of Uppsala’s biggest shopping streets. 
 Filippa K and Peak Performance both opened stores with 
separate entrances in Rådhuset in October 2011.

BIGGEST EVER PROJECT VOLUME
ATRIUM LJUNGBERG’S AGGRESSIVE rate of investment has continued and we currently 

have more ongoing development projects than ever before. These projects involve exciting 

transformations in several of our areas, with new builds, reconstructions and extensions of 

both office and retail properties. The project volume for ongoing and approved projects at the 

year-end totalled SEK 2.8 billion, with the transformation of Mobilia in Malmö representing 

our biggest ever single investment. 

ONGOING PROJECTS: 
RÅDHUSET, UPPSALA 

PROJECT AREA, GFA, 
NON-RESIDENTIAL 3,100 M2

INVESTMENT SEK 150 M

LETTING RATE 100%

COMPLETION Q2 2012

ONGOING PROJECTS, 2011

Project/Property Municipality

Retail, 
GFA, non-

residential 

Offices, 
GFA, non-

residential 
Residential, 

GRFA, 
Parking, 

GFA

Action – 
new build/

reconstruction1)

Invest-
ment, 

SEK m

Of which 
remaining, 
31-12-2011 Completed

Letting 
rate, %

Rådhuset Uppsala 3,100 NB/ren. 150 50 Q2 2012 100

Port73, phase 2 Haninge 3,500 new build 50 20 Q2 2012 100

Gränby Centrum, phase 3 Uppsala 1,500 NB/ren. 50 50 Q3 2012 92

HK Intrum Justitia, Sickla Nacka 7,500 new build 150 120 Q4 2012 97

HK60, Sickla Nacka 5,600 NB/ren. 150 100 Q4 2012 11

Port73, phase 3 Haninge 10,500 NB/ren. 200 200 Q2 2013 35

Mobilia, phase 3 Malmö 29,000 24,400 NB/ren. 1,000 830 Q4 2013 63

ICA Kvantum, Farsta Stockholm 3,300 5,500 new build 100 100 Q1 2014 100

HK AkzoNobel, Sickla Nacka 10,600 new build 300 290 Q1 2014 71

Kvarteret NOD, phase 1 Stockholm 15,000 new build 550 540 Q3 2014 49

Mobilia, rental apartments Malmö 4,000 new build 100 100 Q4 2014 0

Total 50,900 38,700 4,000 29,900 2,800 2,400

1) New build and/or reconstruction.
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GRÄNBY  CENTRUM  
– UPPSALA
Work began on an additional reconstruction and expansion 
of Gränby Centrum – this time at the western entrance – 
shortly after the opening of the new shopping centre section. 
Four new shops and a restaurant court, comprising five dif-
ferent food concepts, will open here in August 2012. 

ONGOING PROJECTS  
GRÄNBY CENTRUM, PHASE 3, 
UPPSALA
PROJECT AREA, GFA, 
NON-RESIDENTIAL 1,500 M2

INVESTMENT SEK 50 M

LETTING RATE 92%

COMPLETION Q3 2012

PORT73 – HANINGE
Port73, Haninge’s new retail hub which opened in 2010, 
continues to grow. The ambition is to develop Port73 into 
a strong, long-term regional retail hub for families and 
householders in the expansive municipalities of Haninge and 
Tyresö.
 A phased expansion of approximately 3,500m² of retail 
letting area began in 2011 with the aim of expanding the 
range of retail and service facilities offered. The expansion 
will be completed during the second quarter of 2012, at 
which point Cervera, Blomsterlandet and Babyproffsen will 
open their new stores.
 Work has also begun on a further phased expansion of 
Port73. It comprises approximately 10,500m² of new retail 
space and a new Willys FMCG outlet will be amongst those 
opening there during the first half of 2013. 
 The two phased expansions comprise a total of 14,000m² 
of new retail space. Once they are completed, Port73 will 
comprise almost 40 stores in a total area of approximately 
37,000m². 

ONGOING PROJECTS 
PORT73, PHASE 2, HANINGE

PROJECT AREA, GFA, 
NON-RESIDENTIAL 3,500 M2

INVESTMENT SEK 50 M

LETTING RATE 100%

COMPLETION Q2 2012

 

ONGOING PROJECTS  
PORT73, PHASE 3, HANINGE

PROJECT AREA, GFA, 
NON-RESIDENTIAL 10,500 M2

INVESTERING SEK 200 M

LETTING RATE 35%

COMPLETION Q2 2013
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INTRUM JUSTITIA  
HEADQUARTERS – SICKLA 
The construction of Intrum Justitia’s new headquarters in 
Sickla is proceeding apace. The building is being constructed 
on Sickla Industriväg, strategically located alongside the 
off-ramp from the highway into the Sickla area and it is 
here that Intrum Justitia, Europe’s leading credit manage-
ment company, will be relocating its headquarters and some 
aspects of its Swedish operations.  
 Intrum Justitia has been operating out of a different 
building in Sickla, where approximately 320 people currently 
work, since 2000. The new office building will enable the 
company to continue its long-term development in Sickla 
and its presence there makes a significant contribution to 
enhancing Sickla’s profile as an attractive area for workplaces. 
 Intrum Justitia will be renting 6,000m² of the building’s 
total floor area of 7,500m². The remaining space, on the 
building’s ground floor, will become home to a combina-
tion restaurant/deli/retail outlet concept. The office block is 
scheduled to be ready for occupation in October 2012.

ONGOING PROJECTS 
INTRUM JUSTITIA’S  
OFFICE BLOCK, SICKLA

PROJECT AREA, GFA, 
NON-RESIDENTIAL 7,500 M2

INVESTMENT SEK 150 M

LETTING RATE 97%

COMPLETION Q4 2012

ENVIRONMENTAL 
CERTIFICATION BREEAM

HK60 OFFICE BLOCK – SICKLA 
The so-called HK60 (formerly Block 502) in Sickla is cur-
rently undergoing extensive reconstruction and extension. 
The property, which was built in the 1950s, was originally 
constructed on behalf of Atlas Copco, but in April 2011, 
the company left the premises and relocated to a new office 
block in Sickla. 
 HK60 is strategically located alongside the off-ramp from 
the highway into the Sickla area and comprises several multi-
storey buildings. HK60 will, together with its adjacent build-
ing – Intrum Justitia’s new office block – form a dynamic 
commercial area with modern office environments in Sickla. 
 The property is undergoing extensive reconstruction work 
in order to bring it up to a high standard office environment. 
The extension comprises a terrace building and the addition 
of four storeys to the block. HK60 will be ready for occupa-
tion during the fourth quarter of 2012. 

ONGOING PROJECTS, 
HK60 OFFICE BLOCK, 
SICKLA

PROJECT AREA, GFA, 
NON-RESIDENTIAL 5,600 M2

INVESTMENT SEK 150 M

LETTING RATE 11%

COMPLETION Q4 2012
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The amendment to the detailed development plan ap-
proved in December 2010 enabled the continued devel-
opment and transformation of the Mobilia city block in 
Malmö’s city centre. 
 Step by step, Mobilia will be converted from a retail 
hub into a city block. While the focus will continue to 
be on retail, the city block will be complemented with 
cultural, health care, service and residential elements. 
Old will meet new here by combining Mobilia’s classic 
industrial architecture with newly introduced modern 
features, while comfortable indoor environments will be 
complemented with attractive outdoor environments in 
the form of squares and pedestrianised streets. 
 
ATRIUM LJUNGBERG’S BIGGEST EVER PROJECT HAS 
BEGUN
Atrium Ljungberg began work on the third expansion 
phase of Mobilia in the spring of 2011. The project 

comprises the new build of a total of approximately 
29,000m² of letting area and approximately 700 new 
parking spaces in a garage and multi-storey car park. The 
project is the biggest construction project that Atrium 
Ljungberg has ever undertaken and is an aggressive 
investment in the growth market of Malmö. 
 The investment will total just over SEK 1 billion. The 
conversion work will run until 2013, with phased open-
ings in the autumns of 2012 and 2013.

NEW HOMES IN MOBILIA
A decision has also been taken to construct residential 
accommodation comprising seventy or so rental apart-
ments in the Mobilia area. The housing project comprises 
4,000m² of letting area with additional investments of 
SEK 100 million. The apartments are scheduled to be 
ready for occupation in the autumn of 2014.

ONGOING PROJECTS
MOBILIA, PHASE 3, MALMÖ

PROJECT AREA, GFA, 
NON-RESIDENTIAL 29,000 M2

INVESTMENT SEK 1,000 M

LETTING RATE 63%

COMPLETION Q4 2013

ENVIRONMENTAL 
CERTIFICATION BREEAM 

 

ONGOING PROJECTS 
MOBILIA, RENTAL 
APARTMENTS, 
MALMÖ

PROJECT AREA, GRFA, 4 000 M2

INVESTMENT SEK 100 M

LETTING RATE 0%

COMPLETION Q4 2014

MOBILIA – MALMÖ
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AKZONOBEL OPERATIONS 
CENTRE – SICKLA
In 2010, Atrium Ljungberg signed a 15-year contract with 
the chemicals group, AkzoNobel, to build a new operations 
centre for them on Uddvägen, along the western off-ramp 
from the highway into Sickla. AkzoNobel’s Swedish head-
quarters will be relocating to the building, which will also 
house laboratory and development operations. The new 
operations centre will be a functional meeting place that sup-
ports AkzoNobel’s core operations and strengthens the coop-
eration between the company’s various commercial units. 
 Construction work began in January 2012 and the build-
ing will be ready for occupation by 1st January 2014. 
 AkzoNobel will rent 7,500m² of the building’s total 
letting area of 10,300m². Other office premises and service 
facilities are planned for the remaining space, as part of 
Sickla Affärskvarter.
 AkzoNobel’s decision to develop its operations in Sickla is 
an important part of our efforts to position Sickla as a strong 
and attractive place in which to establish offices. 

ONGOING PROJECTS 
AKZONOBEL OPERATIONS 
CENTRE, SICKLA

PROJECT AREA, GFA, 
NON-RESIDENTIAL 10,600 M2

INVESTMENT SEK 300 M

LETTING RATE 71%

COMPLETION Q1 2014

ENVIRONMENTAL 
CERTIFICATION BREEAM

FARSTA CENTRUM  
– STOCKHOLM 
Atrium Ljungberg has signed an agreement with ICA Sverige 
AB in Farsta Centrum for the new construction of 3,300m² 
of letting area for a new ICA Kvantum store. The agreement 
is conditional upon approval of a change to the detailed de-
velopment plan, which is currently being sought and which 
is expected to gain legal force at the 2012 year-end. The ICA 
Kvantum store is scheduled to open during the first quarter 
of 2014. 
 A garage with approximately 170 parking spaces is 
planned in addition to the retail area.  
 The development work in Farsta Centrum is being 
conducted in close cooperation with the City of Stockholm. 
Farsta has been identified as a hub in the City of Stockholm’s 
new comprehensive plan and Atrium Ljungberg and the City 
share a goal – to strengthen Farsta’s role as a hub of south-
eastern Stockholm.

ONGOING PROJECTS 
FARSTA CENTRUM,  
ICA KVANTUM,
STOCKHOLM

PROJECT AREA, GFA, 
NON-RESIDENTIAL 3,300 M2

INVESTMENT SEK 100 M

LETTING RATE 100%

COMPLETION Q1 2014
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Atrium Ljungberg has begun construction work on the 
first phase of Kvarteret NOD – a new meeting place for 
learning, research and trade and industry etc., in Kista, 
just to the north of Stockholm. NOD’s location is strate-
gically positioned between the older part of Kista and the 
new, developing part. 
 NOD will combine educational, academy, research, 
cultural and trade and industry premises and create an 
open, creative and dynamic meeting place. The aim of 
NOD is to act as a bridge between and a catalyst for 
those who live and work in or visit Kista and to bring 
new businesses into the area that may develop into the 
leading global companies of the future.   

STOCKHOLM UNIVERSITY
A 10-year rental agreement for 7,100m² has been 
signed with Stockholm University for premises in the 
NOD building. One of Stockholm University’s biggest 
departments, the Department of Computer and System 
Sciences (“DSV”), will conduct educational and research 
work in an attractive environment. DSV has been based 
in Kista since 1990 and currently has approximately 200 

employees and 5,000 students. DSV is keen, by relocat-
ing to the new premises, to strengthen its partnerships 
with important players in the region and its interaction 
with the surrounding community. The new premises also 
offer the potential for more modern forms of tuition. 
DSV will relocate to the new premises in July 2014. 
 NOD will, in addition to the educational and re-
search facilities, house office environments where the aim 
is to create space for small and medium-sized companies 
in the information and communication technology 
(ICT) sector and to attract innovative new businesses to 
Kista. NOD will also include public spaces with a digital 
centre, café and restaurant. 
 The total letting area of the approved first phase is 
15,000m². Atrium Ljungberg’s ambition is to complete 
the entire building (25,000m²). The investment require-
ment for the entire project is estimated at just over SEK 
750 million.

ONGOING PROJECTS, 
KVARTERET NOD, PHASE 
1, KISTA

PROJECT AREA, GFA, 
NON-RESIDENTIAL 15,000 M2

INVESTMENT SEK 550 M

LETTING RATE 49%

COMPLETION Q3 2014

ENVIRONMENTAL 
CERTIFICATION BREEAM

KVARTERET NOD – KISTA 
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POTENTIAL DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS

Project/Property Municipality Premises type1)
Project area,  

m2, GFA
Investment, 

SEK m
Detailed development 
plan

Simba/Siroccovägen, Sickla Nacka Retail 10,000 Yes

Sickla Bro, Sickla Nacka Offices 10,000 Yes

Marcusplatsen, Sickla Nacka Offices 5,000 Yes

Planiavägen, Sickla Nacka Retail/Offices/Residential 25,000 Change required

Uddvägen, Sickla Nacka Offices 15,000 Change required

Svindersvik, Sickla Nacka Residential 5,000 Change required

Atlasvägen, Sickla Nacka Residential 2,000 Change required

Gränby, Brillinge Uppsala Retail 50,000 Yes

Gränby Centrum Uppsala Retail 25,000 Change required

Mobilia Malmö Retail 15,000 Yes

Port73 Haninge Retail 8,000 Yes

Farsta Centrum Stockholm Retail 5,000 Yes

Rotebro Handel Sollentuna Retail 10,000 Change required

Halmstad Halmstad Retail 12,000 Change required

Kista Gård Stockholm Offices 10,000 Yes

Total 207,000 4,000

A PROJECT PORTFOLIO  
FULL OF OPPORTUNITIES  
ATRIUM LJUNGBERG’S PROJECT portfolio offers opportunities for a number of development projects 

in the long-term. Detailed development plans have been drawn up for some of these projects, while for 

others, changes to the detailed development plans are required before construction can start. All of 

the larger potential development projects are shown in the list below, followed by a description of the 

subsidiary markets in which Atrium Ljungberg plans to expand. 

1) Anticipated premises use may change and may contain other elements.
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Sickla, in the municipality of Nacka to the south-east of 
Stockholm, has a very good location with links to Ham-
marby Sjöstad and Södermalm. The region is growing 
by a massive 2.5 per cent per year, and over the next few 
years, several new residential areas will be built in the 
immediate vicinity of Sickla, e.g. in Hammarby Sjöstad 
and Kvarnholmen. A number of small- and large-scale 
investments that will promote sustainable urban develop-
ment are also planned in the area, such as increased 
public transport provision, and better roads, cycle routes 
and footpaths. 

NACKA – GROWTH MUNICIPALITY OF THE YEAR 
The 2011 Growth Municipality of the Year went to 
Nacka municipality for its work over a number of years 
on enhancing its attractiveness to the public, businesses 
and visitors. The prize is awarded by Arena for Growth – 
a public-private partnership between Swedbank, ICA, the 
Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions, 
and the consultancy firm, Sweco Eurofutures. 
 The municipality’s aggressive investment programme 
and the region’s vigorous growth are generating excellent 
opportunities for Atrium Ljungberg to continue the 
successful development of Sickla. Plans for the im-
mediate future include the creation of additional office 

workplaces and service facilities and the development of 
communications within and around the area. Our goal 
is to create a dynamic innovation and business district in 
Sickla, where the number of office workplaces increases 
from the current level of around 4,500 to approximately 
8,000 over the next five years. The new Atlas Copco 
headquarters and the operations centres for Intrum 
Justitia and AkzoNobel’s Swedish and international 
operations currently under construction are important 
cornerstones of this work.

OPPORTUNITY TO EXPAND
The area offers the potential to expand by a further 
70,000m², over and above the ongoing construction 
projects presented on pages 36 and 38. Our ambition is 
to continue developing Sickla as a long-term sustainable 
full-service environment with a hugely diverse range not 
only of retail and office facilities, but of service, cultural 
and educational facilities. New housing will also be 
generated.  
 Strategic acquisitions of a number of smaller properties 
have also been made in Sickla in 2010 and 2011. The acqui-
sitions enable Atrium Ljungberg to gain a more comprehen-
sive hold on the area, to introduce new types of operation, 
and to create more development rights in the area. 

SICKLA WILL CONTINUE TO GROW AS A FULL-SERVICE  
ENVIRONMENT
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Uppsala is Sweden’s fourth biggest city and one of the 
country’s most expansive locations, where the rate of 
population and workplace growth is well above the na-
tional average. In 2011, Uppsala municipality achieved a 
population of 200,000 and is, therefore, classed as one of 
Sweden’s major cities, along with Stockholm, Gothen-
burg and Malmö. The population is expected to grow to 
almost 215,000 by 2017.
 
MAJOR PROJECTS PLANNED
Uppsala municipality is planning several large projects 
that will entail significant changes in the vicinity of 
Gränby Centrum. The sale of approximately 200 apart-
ments in an adjacent area began in the autumn of 2011, 
and approximately 2,500 more new homes are planned 
in an area directly to the south of Gränby Centrum. To 
the north of the centre, the municipality is working with 
a vision programme intended to enable the creation of a 
further 3,000 or so new homes. 
 The municipality is also planning to expand the bus 
terminal previously built alongside Gränby Centrum, 
in order to create a hub for various different types of 
public transport. There are also plans to construct several 
sporting facilities in the nearby Gränby park area and an 
events arena that is linked to Gränby Centrum.

MORE RETAIL AND SERVICE FACILITIES REQUIRED
The need for additional retail and service facilities offers 
excellent potential for the continued development of 
Gränby Centrum as a regional retail hub and sustainable 
city district shopping centre. Atrium Ljungberg’s aim is 
to successively expand the shopping centre by a further 
25,000m² for retail, service and other operational outlets 
and, potentially, to create new parking spaces as well. The 
expansion is dependent on a new detailed development 
plan that also includes the new events arena that may be 
linked with Gränby Centrum. The arena is being built 
by an independent company with no links to Atrium 
Ljungberg. 
 To the north of Gränby Centrum, strategically located 
alongside the northern off-ramp from the E4 highway, 
lies a 10.5 hectare plot of land that was acquired by 
Atrium Ljungberg in 2007 with the aim of expand-
ing Gränby Centrum with complementary bulk retail 
outlets. There is a detailed development plan for the 
area that permits two-storey buildings with a total area 
of approximately 50,000m². The area will be built up in 
phases as letting occurs.  

UPPSALA JOINS SWEDEN’S BIG CITIES CLUB
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The Öresund region, with its population of 3.6 million, 
is a very strong growth region with regard not only to 
infrastructure, but to workplaces and housing. Malmö, 
which is Sweden’s third biggest city, has experienced 
population growth every year for over 25 years now and 
the population is expected to approach 330,000 by 2016. 
 The last few decades have seen Malmö change from 
an industrial city to a knowledge-based economy. More 
and more companies have been attracted to the region 
and established head offices there, and the positive popu-
lation and retail sector growth has given rise to a positive 
purchasing power trend.

MOBILIA – PART OF THE CITY
Mobilia enjoys a fantastic location in the centre of the 
rapidly growing city of Malmö. Approximately 130,000 
people live and over 40,000 work within 5–10 minutes’ 

walking and cycling distance and these numbers can only 
increase as the area becomes more densely populated 
with new residential areas and the medical research park, 
Medeon, and the university hospital, UMAS, develop. 
 Atrium Ljungberg has begun work, in close coopera-
tion with the City of Malmö, on refurbishing, remodel-
ling and expanding the existing Mobilia retail hub. 
Mobilia will become a vibrant city block where retail, 
culture, services and housing combine in an exciting mix. 
Find out more about our ongoing Mobilia project on 
page 37. 
 Our plans for Mobilia are closely integrated with the 
City of Malmö’s ideas for increasing the area’s density and 
improving the infrastructure for pedestrians, cyclists and 
those using public transport. The aim is to preserve and 
develop Mobilia as Malmö’s leading meeting place.

CREATING A NEW CITY DISTRICT  
IN FAST-GROWING MALMÖ
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Farsta Centrum has, historically speaking, been a very 
strong retail hub and an important meeting place for 
people who live and work in the area. Way back in the 
1950s, Farsta Centrum became one of the first of the 
so-called ABC communities, a Swedish acronym denot-
ing a place where work, housing and central facilities 
were gathered together in a single location. The area is 
still a very important hub and a natural meeting place in 
southern Stockholm. The area has a strong and well-de-
veloped infrastructure with underground and commuter 
train stations, bus traffic and links to the Nynäsvägen 
highway. The regional catchment area extends over five 
municipalities and covers a large part of southern Greater 
Stockholm.
 
STRENGTHENING SOUTH-EASTERN STOCKHOLM
Farsta has been highlighted in the City of Stockholm’s 
overview plan as one of the city’s focal points and most 
important meeting places. The goal is to further enhance 
Farsta’s role as a hub in south-eastern Stockholm and to 
make Farsta into an exciting and competitive retail hub 

and meeting place with a dynamic trade and industry 
sector and a pronounced sports and health profile. The 
“Focal Point Farsta” vision reads as follows: 
“By 2030, Farsta shall be the vibrant, comprehensive city 
district that shows the way for expanding southern sub-
urbs. A city district for all, where people live and work, 
and where diversity enriches city living.” 
 Atrium Ljungberg is heavily involved in this vision 
and development work, working in close cooperation 
with the City of Stockholm and a number of other 
stakeholders. Our development of Farsta Centrum as 
a city district shopping centre, regional retail hub and 
sustainable full-service environment goes hand in hand 
with the overall vision for Farsta. The development work 
is designed to enhance and highlight Farsta Centrum’s 
qualities, broad offering and history, and to bring new 
and exciting content to the area. The primary ambition 
is to increase the range of attractive retail and office en-
vironments in Farsta Centrum and to complement them 
with service and cultural facilities.  

FARSTA – ONE OF STOCKHOLM’S FOCAL POINTS
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Haninge, in southern Greater Stockholm, is a growth 
municipality where investments in infrastructure are both 
ongoing and in the planning pipeline. These investments, 
coupled with its proximity to the Stockholm archipelago, 
forests and open countryside, bode well for population 
growth in the area in the next few years. The regional de-
velopment plan for Stockholm County points to Haninge 
as a regional city core with ambitions to develop into a 
secure environment with city-like qualities.  
 The extension of the motorway to Nynäshamn (Route 
73), which was completed in 2011, has shortened the 
distance to Stockholm considerably. The ongoing expan-
sion of commuter train traffic to Haninge and the new 
commuter train station currently under construction will 
further improve communication to and from Stockholm 
when it is completed. 
 Approximately 670 detached and semi-detached 
houses and 750 apartments are currently being built and 
planned in and around central Haninge, and the Ve-
gastaden major urban development project with approxi-
mately 10,000 residents is currently being planned, as are 
several other housing projects in Haninge and its vicinity. 

The Port of Stockholm’s decision to build a new port in 
Norvikudden in Nynäshamn will also have a significant 
impact on the region’s trade and industry sector. 
 The site of Port73 is a hub in the southern Greater 
Stockholm area in that it lies at the intersection between 
Route 73 and the Gudöbroleden highway – the cross-
town link that joins together Huddinge, Haninge, Tyresö 
and Nacka. The improved infrastructure will further 
strengthen Port73’s geographic location and the popula-
tion growth in the area will generate increased demand 
for retail and service facilities. Atrium Ljungberg will, 
therefore, be continuing to invest in Haninge and the 
development of Port73. Find out more about our ongoing 
Port73 projects on page 35. 
 The potential also exists for a further expansion of 
approximately 8,000m², over and above the ongoing 
phased expansions. Atrium Ljungberg’s aim is for Port73 
to become our fifth regional retail hub, joining the ranks 
of Sickla Köpkvarter, Farsta Centrum, Gränby Centrum 
and Mobilia, in becoming a long-term and attractive des-
tination with a comprehensive range of retail and service 
facilities.

CREATING THE NEXT REGIONAL RETAIL HUB IN HANINGE
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Kista is a world-leading growth region and a cluster for 
companies, researchers and educators in the fields of 
information and communication technology, known as 
ICT companies. Kista has experienced rapid development 
over the last ten years and is currently home to around 
30,000 workplaces and 5,000 companies, 1,100 of which 
operate in the IT, telecoms and communications sector. 
Kista is also home to around 1,100 researchers and al-
most 6,000 students. Kista enjoys a highly advantageous 
location – halfway between Stockholm city and Arlanda 
airport – and has a well-developed public transport 
network. Kista Science City is ranked number one on 
the list of prioritised development areas in the City of 
Stockholm’s vision for 2030.

MASSIVE INVESTMENT IN INFRASTRUCTURE
Major investments are being made in ensuring Kista’s 
continued ability to act as the growth engine in the 
Stockholm region. Over the next few years, the E18 

motorway will be re-routed and the capacity of both the 
E18 and the Kymlingelänken highway will be boosted, 
and new interchanges built. A new cross-town light rail 
link, with a station in the Ärvinge city district, and a 
commuter train link to Arlanda are also planned. New 
housing, squares and cafés and the expansion of the Kista 
Galleria shopping centre and the Kistamässan exhibition 
and events centre are also planned.
  
NEW MEETING PLACE IN KISTA
Atrium Ljungberg will continue to grow in Kista, where 
we have a long-standing substantial property portfolio 
in the city district of Ärvinge. Work on the first phase of 
Kvarteret NOD began in the autumn of 2011 at Kista 
Gård, halfway between the old part of Kista and the new 
developing part. NOD will be a unique meeting place that 
reflects Kista Science City and links together educational, 
research, social and trade and industry activities. Find out 
more about our ongoing NOD project on page 39. 

KISTA – STOCKHOLM’S GROWTH ENGINE
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RETAIL

The opening of Gränby Centrum’s new shopping centre section 
in August 2011 attracted large numbers of visitors.
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THE RETAIL TRADE MARKET IN SWEDEN
THE RETAIL TRADE IN SWEDEN reported weak growth in 2011 after a long period of very strong growth. 

The levelling off in consumption notwithstanding, Christmas shopping broke all previous records in 

Sweden for the 16th year in succession with net sales exceeding SEK 65 billion for the first time. Larger 

retail hubs with a wide range beat out smaller ones over the past year.

The 2011 retail trade year began with stable increases in 
sales and a growth figure of 2 per cent was reported at 
the end of the first six months of the year. As the sum-
mer season approached, however, the increase in sales 
came to a halt and the growth figure for the year as a 
whole was only 0.8 per cent – the lowest level for many 
years. This weak trend was primarily due to the crisis in 
mainland Europe, which restricted export opportunities 
for Swedish exports and industry, which had a knock-on 
effect on retail growth. The uncertain housing market 
trend reduced optimism and slowed down consumption 
within the retail sector as a whole, particularly in the 
furniture, building materials, and electronics sectors. The 
recovery that took place in the automotive, restaurant 
and travel sectors is another reason for the reduction in 
consumption in the retail trade. 
 The consumer durables sector reported the weakest 
performance in 2011 and the bankruptcy frequency also 
increased in this sector during the year. The clothing, 
footwear and sporting goods sector had to compete 
with both the economic climate and the weather, when 
temperatures remained high throughout the autumn and 
winter. The FMCG sector is the least cyclically sensitive 

retail sector and the one that performed best in 2011. 
 The levelling off in consumption notwithstanding, 
sales in December – the retail trade’s most important 
period – broke all records and the increase resulted in 
a record Christmas shopping period for the 16th year 
in succession, with net sales in December in Sweden 
exceeding SEK 65 billion for the first time ever. 
 City shopping centres with a large clothing and 
footwear product component experienced poorer growth 
than other types of shopping centre in 2011. The win-
ners were larger retail hubs that offer a wider product 
range.

WEAK PERFORMANCE CONTINUES 2012
HUI Research’s forecast for 2012 is a growth in the retail 
sector of 1.0 per cent. The FMCG sector is expected to 
show slightly stronger growth at 1.5 per cent, while the 
growth in the consumer durables sector is expected to re-
main at 1.0 per cent. Favourable political decisions could 
boost households’ confidence in the future. Housing 
market prices may continue to fall, but a lower interest 
rate and interest rate path would probably postpone this 
until 2013.

THE RETAIL SECTOR’S PERFORMANCE IN 2011  
IN COMPARISON WITH 2010 (CURRENT PRICES)

THE RETAIL SECTOR’S PERFORMANCE  
AND FORECAST, 1991–2013 (CURRENT PRICES)
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THREE QUICK QUESTIONS FOR MATTIAS 
CELINDER, BUSINESS AREA DIRECTOR  
RETAIL, ATRIUM LJUNGBERG

You’ve recently taken over as Business Area 
Retail director and have joined the company’s 
management group. What is your back-
ground?
I started in the hotel business, but I’ve been 
working in a variety of roles in the company’s 
retail sector since 2006. I’ve always been 
interested in acting as a host, and that’s of huge 
benefit to me in my new role.

A lot of Sweden’s shopping centres are pretty 
much of a muchness. What is Atrium Ljung-
berg’s approach?
We’re good at making the most of the unique 
environments that give our retail hubs a profile 
and a soul. We’re also good at keeping our fin-
ger on the pulse and introducing the variation 
needed to make our customers feel at home in 
our centres.

Consumer fatigue is a hot issue, right now. 
How does that affect you?
The key lies in creating dynamic places that 
feel more like meeting places than retail hubs. 
When the retail sector levelled off in 2011, our 
customers continued to use our facilities to go 
to the cinema, or eat at restaurants, for example. 
Our retail hubs are performing well. They are 
strong and attractive and do not rely solely on 
retail facilities to draw the consumers in. 
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RETAIL IN STRONG LOCATIONS
ATRIUM LJUNGBERG IS one of Sweden’s leading companies in the shopping centre sector, with many 

years’ experience of developing and operating retail hubs. Our four regional shopping centres are 

ranked amongst the top 15 in the country in terms of net sales and are located in Sweden’s strongest 

growth markets.

FMCG (foodstuffs) 20%

Fashion and clothing 33%

Restaurants and hotels 8%

Retail, other 5%

Home and leisure 34%

SECTOR BREAKDOWN, RETAIL

Ica
Axfood
Hennes & Mauritz
Stadium
Åhléns
Zara
KappAhl 
Weekday och Monki
Systembolaget

Coop 

Other

TEN LARGEST RETAIL CUSTOMERS,
CONTRACTED ANNUAL RENTS

Retail accounts for 55 per cent of Atrium Ljungberg’s 
total contracted annual rent. Our retail hubs comprise a 
total of approximately 650 stores and restaurants with a 
combined retail letting area of approximately 350,000m². 
Our four regional shopping centres, Sickla Köpkvarter, 
Farsta Centrum, Gränby Centrum and Mobilia, are 
 located in Sweden’s strongest growth markets – in Stock-
holm, Uppsala och Malmö – and are ranked amongst 
Sweden’s top 15 shopping centres in terms of net sales. 
 Our city-based retail hubs are located in Stockholm, 
Uppsala, Västerås and Östersund. The best-known is the 
PUB department store in Stockholm’s city centre. 

 Our out-of-town retail hubs in the Greater Stock-
holm area are strategically located along major traffic 
routes. Coop Forum has been a key customer in this 
sector for a number of years now. We have rejuvenated 
and improved the space efficiency of these retail hubs 
as Coop Forum reduces its retail space, and have com-
plemented the range of stores and services in line with 
changing requirements.

    

97 
% – LETTING RATE

1,012 
SEK M – RENTAL VALUE 

350,000 
M2  – RETAIL AREA
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KEY RATIOS

Sickla Köpkvarter is an established 
meeting place with a strong urban 
soul and a busy street life. The 
range and environment are both 
characterised here by diversity, 
variation and contrast, creating one 
of our most complete full-service 
environments with retail, cultural, 
service, workplace and educational 
facilities.

Type of retail hub Regional shopping centre
Location Stockholm
Retail letting area 70,900 m2

Stores 145
Stores’ net sales SEK 2,850 m
Visitors 12.9 million
Parking spaces 2,600
Rental value SEK 208 m

Farsta Centrum is a modern 50-
year old with a unique 1960s style. 
With its extensive range of shops, 
workplaces, cultural centres, 
educational facilities, services and 
fitness and health care facilities, 
Farsta Centrum functions not only 
as one of Stockholm’s biggest retail 
hubs, but as a major city district 
centre. 

Type of retail hub Regional shopping centre
Location Stockholm
Retail letting area 54,400 m2

Stores 160
Stores’ net sales SEK 2,050 m
Visitors 14.1 million
Parking spaces 1,700
Rental value SEK 190 m

Gränby Centrum is Uppsala’s only 
shopping centre with everything 
under one roof. The combination 
of accessibility, efficiency and the 
region’s best opening hours make 
Gränby Centrum the county’s lead-
ing regional retail hub. 

Type of retail hub Regional shopping centre
Location Uppsala
Retail letting area 40,300 m2

Stores 86
Stores’ net sales SEK 1,800 m
Visitors 6.8 million
Parking spaces 1,800
Rental value SEK 138 m

Mobilia has long been Malmö’s 
most content-rich retail centre. A 
popular, genuine and convivial retail 
hub with a strong Malmö tradition 
has been developing here since the 
late 1960s. 

Type of retail hub Regional shopping centre
Location Malmö
Retail letting area 30,900 m2

Stores 69
Stores’ net sales SEK 1,350 m
Visitors 7.8 million
Parking spaces 1,200
Rental value SEK 97 m
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THE LARGEST CUSTOMERS, CONTRACTED ANNUAL RENT SECTOR BREAKDOWN

FMCG (foodstuffs) 14%

Fashion and clothing 31%

Retail, other 10%

Restaurants and hotels 9%
Home and leisure 36% 

FARSTA CENTRUM
Åhléns

Other

Ica

Axfood

FARSTA CENTRUM

Coop
Hennes & Mauritz
KappAhl
Stadium
Intersport
Expert
Systembolaget

 
Retail, other 6%

FMCG 
(foodstuffs) 24%

Restaurants 
and hotels 5% Fashion and 

clothing 33%

Home and leisure 32%

GRÄNBY CENTRUM 

Hennes & Mauritz

Åhléns

Intersport

GRÄNBY CENTRUM

Other
Ica 

Coop 

KappAhl

Esprit

Lindex
Stadium
Clas Ohlson

FMCG (foodstuffs) 9%

Fashion and clothing 34%

Restaurants and hotels 7%

Retail, other 3%
Home and leisure 47%

MOBILIAMOBILIA

Malmströms/Camilla

Lindex
Expert
Siba
Nilson Group

Other
Stadium

Ica

KappAhl 

Hennes & Mauritz
Mobila blommor

Best of Brands
Åhléns
Svenssons i Lammhult
Jack & Jones
Stadium
Incontro
Hennes & Mauritz

Other

Axfood
Elgiganten
Ica

SICKLA KÖPKVARTER 

Restaurants and hotels 9%

FMCG (foodstuffs) 16%

Retail, other 3%

Home and leisure 45%

Fashion and clothing 27%

SICKLA KÖPKVARTER 
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KEY RATIOS

Port73 is a new retail hub that has 
developed with the ambition of 
creating a strong regional retail hub 
of tomorrow. The concept behind 
Port73 is based on combining 
rational bulk retail with a shopping 
centre’s diversity and shopping 
experience. The focus is on food, the 
family, time and business.

Type of retail hub Out-of-town
Location Stockholm
Retail letting area 29,200 m2

Stores 27
Stores’ net sales SEK 600 m
Visitors 2.1 million
Parking spaces 1,000
Rental value SEK 49 m

PUB was founded way back in 1882, 
making this the oldest department 
store in Stockholm and one of the 
best-known in Sweden. PUB has 
undergone a major transformation 
in recent years, changing from a 
traditional retail hub to a depart-
ment store with a heavy focus on 
selected fashion, interior décor and 
design.

Type of retail hub Department store
Location Stockholm
Retail letting area 8,300 m2

Stores 29
Stores’ net sales SEK 300 m
Visitors 3.1 million
Parking spaces SEK 43 m

Rådhuset (the old city hall build-
ing), which dates back to the 17th 
century, has been transformed into 
a fashion department store and will 
open fully in March 2012, offering 
strong brand names to informed 
customers in a unique environment.

Type of retail hub Department store
Location Uppsala
Retail letting area 2,100 m2

Stores 2
Rental value1)

1) Key ratios and diagrams refer to the 
position as of 31-12-2011.

SEK 3 m

Kvarteret Igor is a completely reno-
vated and desirable shopping centre 
that has linked the different parts 
of the town together and help boost 
shopping centre retail in Västerås. 
Kvarteret Igor is a modern, inspira-
tional fashion destination, comple-
mented with media and food outlets.

Type of retail hub City shopping centre
Location Västerås
Retail letting area 15,100 m2

Stores 40
Stores’ net sales SEK 500 m
Visitors 3.7 million

Parking spaces 300
Rental value SEK 43 m
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Restaurants and hotels 8%

Fashion and clothing 42%

Retail, other 4%

Health and medical 3%
Home and leisure 43%

PUB

Urbanus

G-Star

Tiger
Team Sportia

Twilfit

Other

Boots

Jarméus skor

Gant

Sthlm Hair & Face

Kicks

PUB 

Fashion and 
clothing 100%

RÅDHUSET 1)

Filippa K

Peak Performance

RÅDHUSET1)

FMCG (foodstuffs) 14%

Home and leisure 29%

Restaurants and hotels 12%

Retail, other 2% Fashion and 
clothing 43%

IGOR

Harryskompaniet i Västerås
Team Sportia
LeopoldoBloom
KappAhl
Clas OhlsonOther

Coop
IGOR

Lindex
MQ Retail
Scorett Footwear
Systembolaget

Other

Deichmann
Lindex

KappAhl

Intersport Jula

Coop 

PORT73 

Bike Action 

In & Finn  
Nilson Group 
Expert

Fashion and clothing 16%

Home and leisure 32%

Restaurants and hotels 3%
Retail, other 1%

FMCG 
(foodstuffs) 48%

 PORT73
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Atrium Ljungberg’s retail hubs are created 
in harmony with local conditions, all with 
their own profile and their own unique 
characteristics.
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KEY RATIOS

Forumgallerian in the heart of Uppsala is a 
fashion destination with a modern, colourful 
mixture of stores. The focus is on a young, 
fashion-conscious target group.

Type of retail hub City shopping centre
Location Uppsala
Retail letting area 9,800 m2

Stores 40
Stores’ net sales SEK 350 m
Visitors 6 million
Rental value SEK 50 m

GLASHUSET 
DROTTNING-
GATAN

Glashuset is a modern four-storey de-
partment store. Several of the market’s 
strongest players are gathered together 
here under one roof in one of Sweden’s best 
locations.

Type of retail hub City shopping centre
Location Stockholm
Retail letting area 6,300 m2

Stores 11
Stores’ net sales SEK 200 m
Visitors SEK 39 m

Orminge Centrum is a classic city district 
shopping centre with all the elements one 
would expect, such as food, consumer du-
rables and commercial and public services.

Type of retail hub Retail centre
Location Stockholm
Retail letting area 9,800 m2

Stores 26
Stores’ net sales SEK 450 m
Visitors 2 million
Parking spaces 260
Rental value SEK 22 m

Rotebro Handel is a strong destination for 
FMCG retail, based on Coop, Willys och 
Systembolaget (the State alcohol retail 
monopoly).

Type of retail hub Out-of-town
Location Stockholm
Retail letting area 21,700 m2

Stores 9
Stores’ net sales SEK 500 m
Visitors 620
Parking spaces SEK 31 m

Västberga Handel offers a combination of 
attractive FMCG, consumer durable, and 
bulk retail. 

Type of retail hub Out-of-town
Location Stockholm
Retail letting area 15,200 m2

Stores 6
Stores’ net sales SEK 450 m
Visitors 530
Parking spaces SEK 29 m

Mittpunkten, with its diverse fashion and 
services offering, enjoys a strong position  
in Östersund. 

Type of retail hub City shopping centre
Location Östersund
Retail letting area 11,600 m2

Stores 20
Stores’ net sales SEK 400 m
Visitors 3.5 million
Parking spaces 200
Rental value SEK 27 m

HALMSTAD Coop Forum in Halmstad is part of Eurostop 
Halmstad.

Type of retail hub Out-of-town 
Ort Halmstad
Retail letting area 10,400 m2

Stores 1
Parking spaces 1,500
Rental value SEK 11 m

BUSINESS AREA RETAIL | OUR RETAIL HUBS



   59ATRIUM LJUNGBERG 2011

VÄSTERÅS STOCKHOLM

HALMSTAD

MALMÖ

UPPSALA

ÖSTERSUND
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We create attractive meeting places where  
rational retail units are combined with shopping  
experiences in convivial environments.
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Lotta Voltaire

Hans-Olof HillcomHans-Olof Hillcom
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“THE SUPPORT GIVES ME THE COURAGE 
TO INVEST”

“OWNERS WHO KEEP THEIR WORD”

You have a number of outlets in Atrium Ljungberg 
properties. One year ago, you opened a shop in the 
PUB department store in the heart of Stockholm, sell-
ing attractive kitchenware and organic food, amongst 
other things. How was that idea born? 
Atrium Ljungberg had an idea about what they wanted 
in that space. My idea of a store selling products that 
make cooking more fun and make life easier in the 
kitchen fitted in well with their ideas, so I was offered 
the chance to open an outlet in PUB. We’ve worked to-
gether for many years now and Atrium Ljungberg know 
they can rely on me to produce on my ideas. The PUB 
store has gone incredibly well – so well that just one year 
later, we need a bigger space, which is brilliant!  

How would you describe your partnership with Atrium 
Ljungberg?

We have a mutually beneficial commercial relation-
ship, with give and take, and where both parties deliver. 
When problems arise, we help solve them together and 
it’s my experience that I get good help and support from 
them in making my business a success. Which is what 
has given me the courage to make the investments I’ve 
made.  

What are the important factors in making the partner-
ship a success?
It’s incredibly important that you can trust each other 
when you’re doing business, and my experience is that 
Atrium Ljungberg always keeps its promises – I have 
every confidence in them. Expertise is important too. 
I noticed, even during the very first contact I had with 
Atrium Ljungberg, that they have extensive knowledge 
when it comes to setting up retail outlets and really 
know how to make businesses in my sector work.” 

What’s important to the Varner Group when you’re 
opening a new store?
The layout and quality of the premises is obviously im-
portant, but what are even more important are the retail 
hub and the store location. Attractive retail hubs where a 
customer feels at home and spends a lot of time create a 
positive flow, and in the current market situation, visitor 
frequency is becoming increasingly important. We are 
seeing a trend whereby larger centres are improving and 
smaller facilities are finding life harder. 

What does the partnership with the property owner 
mean to you? 
It’s absolutely vital that both parties take a long-term 
view of the partnership and can trust each other. Atrium 
Ljungberg is a stable, long-term owner that keeps its 
word. It’s important to us that the property owner 
knows our concept, understands how we work, and sees 
the big picture. And that the focus is on commercial 

aspects, rather than technical ones, so that together, 
we can plan additional outlets in places where we cur-
rently do not have a presence. We’ve developed a good 
partnership format with Atrium Ljungberg, whereby we 
have regular reconciliation meetings for several facilities 
at the same time. This makes for a more rational, more 
efficient approach for both parties. We always hold the 
meetings in different retail hubs in order to “look the 
marketplace in the face” – an approach that usually 
results in new opportunities for both of us.

 Which are your most recent franchise outlets in 
Atrium Ljungberg premises?
Cubus in Gränby Centrum is the most recent. We 
already had a Dressman outlet there and we are keen 
to examine other new concepts. We’re also interested 
in developing our presence in both Mobilia and Farsta 
Centrum.  

Lotta Voltaire, owner of Systrarna Voltaire and Café and Bistro Voltaire, with outlets in Farsta Centrum and PUB, 
and cafés and bistros in Sickla Köpkvarter and Farsta Centrum.

Hans-Olof Hillcom, Franchise Manager for Varner Retail Sweden, home to the Dressmann, Cubus, Carlings, Bik Bok, Solo 
brand names, amongst others. The Varner Group has a number of outlets in several of Atrium Ljungberg’s retail hubs.
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OFFICES
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Demand for modern, space-efficient office premises has 
increased in Stockholm’s CBD, central business district, 
in 2011, and rental levels consequently remained high 
and vacancies low. The shortage of large cohesive units 
in the CBD has resulted in increased demand in other 
subsidiary areas with good communications and a wide 
range of other types of operation. 
 Interest in the Södermalm district has grown over the 
last five years and this trend is expected to continue. The 
highest rents on Södermalm were noted in the Slussen 
area, peaking at just over SEK 4,000m²/year. In the 
Slussen area, Atrium Ljungberg owns Glashuset – one of 
Stockholm’s best-known buildings. 
 One of Stockholm’s biggest ever development 
projects, with an approved investment figure of SEK 
50 billion, is currently taking place in the newly named 
Hagastaden area. The new Hagastaden will link Stock-
holm to Solna through the new university hospital, New 
Karolinska Solna, which is scheduled for completion in 
2015/2016. The Hagastaden project is expected to create 
the space for a total of 5,000 homes and 36,000 work-
places and the investment will make the area a world-
leader in the field of life sciences research and enterprise. 
At the 2011 year-end, Atrium Ljungberg increased its 
holding in Hagastaden by acquiring the remaining 50 
per cent of the Blästern 6 and 13 office properties – two 
strategically important acquisitions that enable us to 
become even more deeply involved in the development 
work in the area.  
 Kista, which is already a world-leading cluster for 
ICT companies, is expected to strengthen its posi-
tion during the years ahead. The numerous develop-
ment rights in the area offer massive potential for new 
establishments. Kista has one of the highest rent gaps 
of any of the Stockholm market subsidiary areas, due 
to substantial variations in location and standard. The 
rental level interval ranges from SEK 1,600/m²/year to 
SEK 2,600/m²/year and the estimated office vacancy 
level is approximately 11–12 per cent. In 2011, Atrium 
Ljungberg began construction of Kvarteret NOD at 
Kista Gård which, when construction is completed, will 
comprise 25,000m². 
 In the southern inner suburbs subsidiary market, 
Sickla’s office market has benefited from a strong retail 

market in the area and good accessibility. Atrium Ljung-
berg has three ongoing construction projects in the area: 
the reconstruction and extension of Atlas Copco’s old 
headquarters in Sickla and the new construction of office 
buildings for Intrum Justitia and Akzo Nobel. The office 
rental intervals in Hammarby Sjöstad and Sickla range 
from SEK 1,600/m²/year to SEK 2,500/m²/year. 
 Companies are demanding increasingly flexible and 
functional office premises that yield a lower cost per m² 
per employee. Environmental awareness is increasing 
and is also affecting future premises selection. Atrium 
Ljungberg currently offers environmentally certified 
premises, green rental contracts, and a desire to reduce 
the environmental impact that is shared by property 
owner and tenant alike. 
 CBRE’s forecast for the office rental market in Stock-
holm is that the market will be guarded in the months 
ahead, due to the uncertain market situation. Subsidiary 
markets with low vacancy levels in locations close to 
the city and with a range of modern office premises are 
expected to be relatively stable. 

BUSINESS AREA OFFICES | THE OFFICE RENTAL MARKET IN STOCKHOLM

THE OFFICE RENTAL MARKET 
IN STOCKHOLM
THE OFFICE RENTAL MARKET IN STOCKHOLM has been characterised by high levels of demand and a 

shortage of space-efficient premises in Stockholm city.
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Atrium Ljungberg has recently expanded in  
Hagastaden. What’s happening there?
The area is developing quickly right now and is taking 
giant strides towards its goal of becoming the interna-
tionally leading power hub for tomorrow’s life sciences 
sphere. People are looking more and more to the north of 
the city at the moment, with new buildings and exciting 
new business opportunities, and our properties put us in 
pole position in this respect. Our strategic acquisitions 
have further strengthened our position.

What differentiates Atrium Ljungberg from the com-
petition?
The biggest difference is our closeness to our custom-
ers. They know we’re literally just around the corner 
from them, which means they can talk to someone who 
has the power to act immediately. We’re really good at 
interacting with our customers and their operations over 
time, and the economic climate notwithstanding, not a 
single one of our customers left us in 2011. I see that as 
proof that we’re doing something right. 

TWO QUICK QUESTIONS FOR MICAEL AVERBORG,  
BUSINESS AREA DIRECTOR OFFICES, ATRIUM LJUNGBERG
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OFFICES IN STOCKHOLM’S GROWTH CENTRES
ATRIUM LJUNGBERG IS one of the leading players in the office and operations centre market in Stockholm, with a 

portfolio of modern properties in Hagastaden, Södermalm, Sickla, Kista and Farsta.

We own a high-quality office property portfolio totalling 
almost 248,000m² and located primarily in Stockholm. 
Office properties account for 31 per cent of Atrium 
Ljungberg’s total contracted annual rents. 
 The properties are located in the carefully selected 
and long-term strong subsidiary markets of Hagastaden, 
Södermalm, Sickla, Kista and Farsta. 
 We are keen to continue our growth in the sector 
made up of office properties in strong growth markets in 
Stockholm and to this end, have made strategic acquisi-
tions during the year in Hagastaden, amongst other 
places. Our investment in Sickla Affärskvarter is further 

evidence of how we are successfully adding more and 
more sustainable workplaces to our Business Area Offices 
portfolio. 
 We bring together companies that can benefit 
commercially from each other’s presence in our office 
properties. The trend towards an interest in establish-
ing premises and maintaining a presence in vibrant 
full-service environments and clusters is continuing. The 
units are large and unified, generating the opportunity 
for us to influence development locally, even outside our 
own holdings. 

EA Digital Illusions CE 

Svensk Banproduktion
LRF Media

Other
Atea
Oracle  

Stockholm County Council

Atlas Copco 
Telenor 

Landstingens ömsesidiga försäkringsbolag

TEN LARGEST CUSTOMERS, OFFICES,
CONTRACTED ANNUAL RENT

Stockholm local authority

    

91 
% – LETTING RATE

595 
SEK M – RENTAL VALUE 

248,000 
M2  – OFFICE SPACE
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 DESCRIPTION 

NORRA STATION –  
HAGASTADEN

Hagastaden is a vibrant life science arena in the heart of Stockholm. Atrium 
Ljungberg has operated in this area since 1992, via the characterful former 
Apotekarnes Mineralvattenfabrik factory building and Entré Nord, amongst 
others – all beautiful industrial buildings from the 1930s that have been 
renovated and extended to create modern offices that retain their industrial 
style. 

SÖDERMALM Södermalm’s position as a strong market for office establishment remains 
firm. We are well-positioned, with office properties in the best locations. One 
of Stockholm’s best-known buildings, Glashuset, is located at Slussen and  
is a classic element in the cityscape. Atrium Ljungberg also offers office 
premises in Söderhallarna at Medborgarplatsen and in an adjacent office 
building on Magnus Ladulåsgatan.

SICKLA Sickla Affärskvarter is the name given to the investment currently being 
made in creating more office workplaces in Sickla. The goal is to increase 
the number of workplaces in Sickla over a five-year period from 4,500 to 
8,000. What is being created here is a dynamic full-service environment in 
which older, industrial-style buildings are upgraded whilst simultaneously 
adding new ones. 

KISTA Kista is a leading cluster for information and communication technology 
companies, researchers and educators – a vibrant and growing science 
city. The office properties in Ärvinge permit individual solutions and enable 
tenants to make flexible use of the floor space. This is particularly apparent 
in the Ärvinge 16.0 concept, where a new type of meeting place has been 
created with multi-functionality and shared space solutions. Kvarteret NOD, 
a new meeting place for learning, research and trade and industry is cur-
rently being built in Kista Gård and the first tenants are scheduled to move in 
in 2014. 

FARSTA Farsta is southern Stockholm’s hub where street life meets retail, culture, 
sports and health, trade and industry and entrepreneurship in a compre-
hensive city district centre. We are investing in tomorrow’s entrepreneurs in 
Kista by offering the best offices in the southern suburbs. 

BUSINESS AREA OFFICES | OUR OFFICES



   69ATRIUM LJUNGBERG 2011

KEY RATIOS LARGEST CUSTOMERS, CONTRACTED ANNUAL RENT

Office letting area 45,200 m2

Rental value SEK 98 m

Office letting area 39,500 m2

Rental value SEK 133 m

Office letting area 54,400 m2

Rental value SEK 124 m

Office letting area 40,800 m2

Rental value SEK 82 m

Office letting area 28,900 m2

Rental value SEK 50 m

Other
RFSU

Proventus
The Swedish National Board for Youth Affairs

NYKCool
Tengbomgruppen

The TT news agency
The Swedish Regions’

 Mutual Insurance Company
 for Patient Injuries (LÖF)

Stockholm County Council

Telenor 

SÖDERMALM

EA Digital illusions

Other
North Trade

Learning Partner 
Sverige

Verisec

Casco 
Adhesives

Stockholm 
County Public 
Dental Service

Atlas Copco

SICKLA

Nacka local 
authority

Svensk Banproduktion

Intrum Justitia

GEAB The 
Phone House

Novell
Expert

Other

Arrow ECS
Huawei Technologies

Siemens

Arrow Components

Atea

Ingram Micro

Oracle
Agilent Technologies

KISTA

Södersjukhuset

Carema Primärvård AB

Other

Posten Meddelande AB

SEB
Stockholm County 

Public Dental Service

Stockholm 
County Council

Stockholm local authority

Nordisk Kartro

FARSTA

Rikspolisstyrelsen

The Swedish Employment Service

Other

Amadeus Scandinavia

Nordax Finans

Skanska health careBT Nordics
Forma publishing

Förenade liv

The Swedish National Police Board

Stockholm 
County Council

HAGASTADEN

LRF Media

PwC
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We are keen to continue our growth in the sector 
comprising office properties in attractive locations in 
Stockholm, and have done so successfully during the 
year, e.g. by our investments in Sickla Affärs kvarter 
and Kvarteret NOD in Kista.
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“THEY MAKE LIFE EASY FOR US”

“UNUSUALLY COMMITTED TO THEIR 
CUSTOMERS” 

Two NEC companies merged in 2011 and relocated 
to single, larger new premises. Why did you choose 
Ärvinge i Kista? 
Both of the companies were already located in Kista and 
we wanted to continue developing there. The premises 
in Ärvinge could be adapted in line with our operational 
requirements, which was a major plus. When we’re look-
ing at how we will need to be able to work in future, 
“flexible solutions” and “an easy way to meet” are two 
very important criteria for us. We fell for the Atrium 
Ljungberg’s idea for premises at Ärvinge 16.0 because 
they meet these specific criteria. 

What else is important to you when choosing premises?
It’s important to us that the premises offer a combina-
tion of a pleasant work environment and an efficient one 

that supports us in our day-to-day work. The premises 
must make it easy for the various sections of our com-
pany to work together. Efficient premises save time and 
money and give rise to creative work processes.

What defines a good property owner for you?
A good property owner makes issues in connection with 
the premises go smoothly. We don’t want to spend a 
whole lot of time and energy on these issues – they must 
simply work. Atrium Ljungberg makes life easy for us. 
They have a local base in Ärvinge, which is a major fac-
tor in why it works so well. We’ve had a good partner-
ship with them, ever since we moved here in 2005, with 
the emphasis on the word, partnership.

What is hotspots.nu?
It’s a place in Farsta Centrum for start-up entrepreneurs 
who want to develop their company and build up a net-
work. You rent a workplace in a creative environment, 
share conference rooms and training facilities with other 
companies, and receive free advice on corporate issues.

Why did you choose to have your workplace here?
As a business owner with a home office, I missed the 
social contact you get in a workplace. I wanted to 
expand my network of corporate colleagues on my home 
turf and commuting into town in the rush hour was 
not an option. Now I’m close to my workplace and it’s 
somewhere were I can both give and receive advice and 

inspiration to and from other people. I rent a place part-
time, which suits both me and my business perfectly.

What do you think characterises Atrium Ljungberg?
Atrium Ljungberg are, in my opinion, unusually com-
mitted to their customers’ businesses and to the business 
sector that operates in the vicinity of their properties. 
They care about companies, even when they are just tiny 
green shoots, and they try and fulfil their premises re-
quirements all along the line. They’re creative and come 
up with unusual solutions, as evidence by hotspots.nu.
 
* hotspots.nu in Farsta Centrum is a partnership between Atrium Ljung-
berg and Stockholms NyföretagarCentrum, with the support of the City of 
Stockholm and Stockholm Business Region.

Elisabeth Betander, CFO at NEC, whose headquarters have been located in Ärvinge in Kista since 2005.  
NEC is one of the world’s leading suppliers of data and telecommunications products.

Anna Lundgren, owner of AnnAs Byrå, has been based in hotspots.nu in Farsta Centrum* since 2011.
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Elisabeth Betander

Anna Lundgren
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FULL-SERVICE ENVIRONMENTS

RETAIL – OFFICES – FULL-SERVICE
OUR PRIMARY FOCUS IS ON retail facilities and offices, but our environments also include housing, and 

cultural, service and educational facilities. This is how we create vibrant, attractive and sustainable full-service 

environments.

Our goal is to create vibrant, attractive meeting places 
that contribute to societal development and provide our 
customers with a basis for growth and business success. 
 Our primary focus is on retail facilities and offices, 
but our environments also include housing, and cul-
tural, service and educational facilities. We believe in the 
concept of mixing different types of operation in order 
to create dynamic full-service environments that are 
vibrant places to be, whatever the time of day. 
 To create vibrant meeting places, we combine opera-
tions that enrich one another. In our retail facilities, 
we mix different sectors and store concepts that both 
attract different types of customer and have a combined 
product range that can survive economic fluctuations. 
In our office properties, we combine companies that can 

benefit from one another, commercially speaking. Wher-
ever possible, we attempt to integrate retail outlets and 
offices in a single area, and to complement the mix with 
housing, and cultural, service and educational facilities.  
 Respect for the location, physical accessibility and lo-
cal support are also vital if we are to succeed in making a 
beneficial contribution to urban development. Any new 
builds must work well together with existing develop-
ment and infrastructure, both practically and aestheti-
cally. An ongoing, lively dialogue is also important, both 
with the municipal management team in order to agree 
on how the location is to be developed, and with our 
customers, who give us new knowledge and ideas for the 
future.

FACTS: RESIDENTIAL

435 APARTMENTS IN KISTA

194 APARTMENTS IN MALMÖ 

+ CA. 70 UNDER CONSTRUCTION



   75ATRIUM LJUNGBERG 2011

Meeting places that combine different types 
of operation create dynamic full-service 
environments that are vibrant places to be,  
whatever the time of day.
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TL BYGG
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CONSTRUCTION COMPANY OFFERS 
SPEED AND EXPERTISE  
DEVELOPING FULL-SERVICE ENVIRONMENTS entails utilising a number of services that traditionally 

fall outside of the property company sphere. Atrium Ljungberg’s wholly-owned subsidiary company, TL 

Bygg, enables us to exert an extra level of influence and control over the design of various areas, and 

hence both strengthens and simplifies Atrium Ljungberg’s business and operations. 

TL Bygg is a building contractor specialising in all types 
of new builds, reconstruction, extension and building 
services work. Its biggest operating sphere is reconstruc-
tion work, which includes all types of “ROT” improve-
ment work. 
 Both TL Bygg and some parts of Atrium Ljungberg’s 
operations have their origin in the building and property 
operations that Master Builder, Tage Ljungberg, founded 
in 1946. The basic values that permeated the company 
then are the same as those that characterise the opera-
tions today: a high level of commitment and care in 
everything we do. This creates optimum conditions for 
long-term and mutually rewarding business relation-
ships. 
 TL Bygg is a profitable company that continues to 
post healthy results across business cycles. TL Bygg’s 
important and complementary expertise is of great value 
to Atrium Ljungberg, not least on complex projects 
where their involvement and cooperation ensures Atrium 
Ljungberg’s ability to respond quickly and flexibly. 
 Work on behalf of the Atrium Ljungberg group 
accounted for 32 per cent of TL Bygg’s total net sales in 
2011. The work carried out by TL Bygg during the year 

included aspects of the work on the Rådhuset develop-
ment in Uppsala and on Intrum Justitia’s new office 
block in Sickla.
 
SUSTAINABLE CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIPS
We place great value on repeat business long-term, 
close partnerships, which is why TL Bygg, in many 
cases, chooses the customer, rather than the project. TL 
Bygg’s main clients are the State, municipalities, county 
councils, insurance companies, property companies and 
tenant-owner associations. 
 TL Bygg’s  biggest customers in 2011 were Atrium 
Ljungberg, Stockholmshem and Storstockholms loka-
ltrafik (Greater Stockholm Public Transport), and the 
order book at the 2011 year-end totalled SEK 213.5 
million. 
 The company’s ambition is to continue to grow in a 
controlled way and to recruit skilled personnel who live 
up to the company’s values. As with its parent company, 
TL Bygg endeavours, wherever possible, to conduct 
its operations using in-house expertise and has its own 
skilled craftsmen in the construction sphere and experts 
in costing, purchasing and project management.

Property companies, 
municipal 12%

The Atrium Ljungberg 
Group 32%

Insurance companies 8%

Government and local 
authorities, other 22%

OMSÄTTNING PER BESTÄLLARKATEGORI

Other private 
customers 14%

Property companies, 
private 12%

Medical care and health services 5%

Offices 16%

Industry and
other plant 9%

Sports and leisure 4%

Residential 33%

OMSÄTTNING PER UPPDRAGSTYP

Retail and commerce 33%

NET SALES PER CLIENT CATEGORY NET SALES PER TYPE OF CONTRACT
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SUMMARY OF INCOME STATEMENTS

SEK m 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Net sales, external clients 294,5 304,5 299,2 291,4 245,3

Net sales, Group 
companies

134,0 69,4 50,2 67,4 73,4

Net sales, total 428,5 373,9 349,4 358,8 318,7

Operating profit 32.3 30.9 33.5 31.4 30.7

Net financial items 0.8 0.9 0.0 1.1 0.6

Profit after net financial 
items 33.1 31.8 33.5 32.5 31.3

Number of employees 120 113 100 100 99

TL BYGG IN BRIEF
❯   BUILDING CONTRACTORS WITH CONTRACTS PRIMARILY  

IN GREATER STOCKHOLM AND UPPSALA

❯   CERTIFIED IN ACCORDANCE WITH BF9K, A PRODUCT CER-
TIFICATION SYSTEM FOR THE CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY

❯   NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES: 120 (30 ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF, 
90 SKILLED CONSTRUCTION WORKERS)

❯   NET SALES, 2011: SEK 428.5 MILLION

❯   PROFIT AFTER NET FINANCIAL ITEMS, 2011:  
SEK 33.1 MILLION

❯   ORDER BOOK AT 2011 YEAR-END: SEK 213.5 MILLION

❯   CEO: JOHAN EDLUND

❯   FIND OUT MORE AT WWW.TLBYGG.SE

ATRIUM LJUNGBERG 2011

TL Bygg’s contribution to the construction of  
Intrum Justitia’s new headquarters in Sickla  
includes reinforcement and concreting,  
supplement ary structure, and building  
services work.



78   
ATRIUM LJUNGBERG 2011ATRIUM LJUNGBERG 2011

THREE QUICK QUESTIONS FOR ANNICA ÅNÄS, 
CFO, ATRIUM LJUNGBERG

Bearing in mind the financial market turbulence 
of recent times, what threats do you see to financ-
ing your projects?
I’m not worried. I am absolutely convinced that we 
will get priority treatment from the banks because 
our financial position is so strong and our gearing 
ratio so low. A lot of sector loans fall due for pay-
ment in 2012 and 2013 so we made a concerted 
and targeted effort towards the end of 2011 and 
renegotiated some of our loans in advance.

Atrium Ljungberg has been listed in the Large 
Cap segment since January 2012. What does that 
mean in purely practical terms?
That there’s even more attention focused on us. 
Above all, we have noticed increased international 
interest in our company and our share.

You took over as CFO in 2011. What do you find 
particularly exciting about your role?
I now have overall responsibility for our IR work 
and our contacts with investors and analysts. That’s 
very developmental and inspiring for me.
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FINANCING
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FINANCING
ATRIUM LJUNGBERG’S ASSETS are valued at SEK 23,176 million and are primarily financed 

by means of shareholders’ equity and loan liabilities to banks. The operations are capital-

intensive and access to capital and the choice of capital structure are, therefore, important  

in achieving the desired combination of financing cost relative to financial risk.

THE FINANCIAL MARKET IN 2011
Sweden entered 2011 with healthy growth and the Swed-
ish economy developed well during the first half of the 
year. The Riksbank raised the policy rate by 0.25 percent-
age points in February and April, resulting in a repo rate 
of 1.75 per cent. The USA began the summer with a po-
litical crisis while by the end of the summer, Europe, too 
was experiencing problems in the form of a debt crisis. In 
July, the Riksbank raised the policy rate by 0.25 percent-
age points. The autumn was characterised by uncertainty 
in the financial markets with higher short interest rates 
and historically low long rates, accompanied by increased 
margins from the banks. The Riksbank ended the year by 
cutting the policy rate by 0.25 percentage points and by 
the end of the year, the repo rate was 1.75 per cent.

THE FINANCIAL MARKET IN 2012
Sweden is doing relatively well in comparison with the 
rest of Europe but is reliant on the performance of the 
European market. There is considerable uncertainty with 
regard to the future and the Riksbank is expected to cut 
its policy rate in 2012, but whether the cost of short-

term borrowing falls depends on the trend in banks’ 
margins.

FINANCING AND FINANCIAL POLICY
Property ownership is a capital-intensive sector, which 
often entails a range of financial risks. The primary risks 
are fluctuations in the profit and cash flow due to interest 
rate changes, along with refinancing risks and credit risks 
in association with contract renegotiations and invest-
ment volumes, given the company’s high investment rate 
of approximately SEK 1 billion per year. The financial 
operations are regulated by the company’s financial 
policy, which is reviewed annually and adopted by the 
Board of Directors.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND CAPITAL COMMITMENT
Atrium Ljungberg has shareholders’ equity totalling 
SEK 9,541 million and liabilities totalling SEK 13,635 
million, SEK 9,721 million of which refer to interest-
bearing liabilities. The gearing ratio, i.e. the percentage of 
interest-bearing liabilities in relation to the value of the 
property holdings, is 44.4 per cent. Atrium Ljungberg’s 

FINANCIAL POLICY. 2011

Goal/Mandate Result,
 31-12-2011

Gearing ratio, individual 
properties

< 70% < 60%

Gearing ratio, the Group < 50% 44.4%
Percentage of floating 
interest rates

25–50% 25%

Percentage of loans falling 
due within 12 months

10–30% 19%

Currency risk Not permitted None
Bank deposits SEK 0–200 m SEK 274 m
Unutilised overdraft facility SEK 300–500 m SEK 300 m
Number of financing 
providers

3–7 5

Maximum loan volume 
with a single provider

50% 44%

FINANCIAL GOALS
Goal Result, 

31-12-2011
Equity/assets ratio At least 30% 41.2 %
Interest coverage ratio > Multiple of 2 Multiple of 2.9

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

Commitment term Amount, 
SEK m

Percent-
age, %

2012 1,868 19
2013 2,032 21
2014 2,194 22
2015 1,713 18
2016 1,729 18
2017 and later 185 2
Total 9,721 100

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

SEK m 2011 2010
Shareholders’ equity 9,541 9,099

Interest-bearing liabilities 9,721 9,111
Non-interest-bearing liabilities 1,301 681
Deferred tax liability 2,613 2,320
Total shareholders’ equity and li-
abilities

23,176 21,210
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property ownership is a long-term commitment, and 
long-term financing is hence required. Long-term capital 
commitment also reduces the refinancing risk. The 
remaining capital commitment period is 2.5 years, in 
comparison with 2.4 years at the beginning of the year. 
Loans totalling SEK 1.3 billion and maturing in 2012 
and 2013 were extended to 2016 during the year. Atrium 
Ljungberg also has an unutilised credit facility of SEK 
300 million.

FIXED INTEREST
Interest expenses are the biggest single cost item in 
the Income Statement. They are affected primarily by 
changes in market rates and the credit market precondi-
tions that influence the margin required by lenders. 
Interest rates are fixed for a variety of terms in order 
to reduce the fluctuations in interest expenses. Atrium 
Ljungberg uses tools such as interest derivatives, which 
offer a flexible and cost-effective way of extending the 
interest term of the loans, in order to achieve the desired 
fixed interest periods. The average fixed interest period is 
3.1 years, in comparison with 2.0 at the beginning of the 
year. The increase in the fixed interest term is primarily 
due to new interest swaps entered into and to extension 
of already extant interest swaps. Atrium Ljungberg has 
entered into interest swaps totalling SEK 5 billion which 
mature between 2012 and 2021. The underlying margin 
is reported in the average interest rate for the swap’s 
maturity date.

VALUATION OF DERIVATIVES
Interest derivatives shall, in accordance with the account-
ing regulation, IAS 39, be valued at market rate, which 
means that an unrealised surplus or deficit value arises if 
the agreed interest rate deviates from the current market 
rate. Atrium Ljungberg applies hedge accounting when 
the terms for an underlying loan can be linked to a de-
rivative. The difference in value is consequently reported 
directly against shareholders’ equity but is also included 
in the Income Statement’s “other comprehensive income” 
item after the profit/loss after tax, in accordance with the 
Cash flow hedging heading. The change in value in 2011 
totalled SEK –204.6 million (SEK 82.4 m) and the ac-
cumulated change in value was SEK –222 million.

COLLATERAL
Atrium Ljungberg’s borrowing is only secured using 
mortgages on properties. The Parent Company also, as 
a complement thereto, sometimes issues a guarantee 
undertaking for the subsidiary companies’ borrowing.

COVENANTS
The covenants, i.e. the terms imposed by the bank for 
granting credit, are similar in the various credit agree-
ments. The agreements primarily prescribe a minimum 
interest coverage margin multiple of 1.3 to 1.75, a maxi-
mum gearing ratio of 65–75 per cent, and an equity/
assets ratio of at least 25–35 per cent. Parent Company 
guarantees are also used.

%
CAPITAL COMMITMENT AND FIXED INTEREST TREND

2007–2011

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

Capital commitment
Fixed interest

2011-Q32011-Q22011-Q12010-Q42010-Q32010-Q22010-Q12009-Q42009-Q32009-Q22009-Q12008-Q42008-Q32008-Q22008-Q12007-Q42007-Q32007-Q22007-Q1
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

FINANCING

FIXED INTEREST

Fixed interest term Amount, 
SEK m

Percent-
age, %

Average inter-
est rate, %

Variable + 3 months’ 
STIBOR

2,287 24 4.0

2012 1,917 20 4.2
2013 1,200 12 4.8
2014 640 7 4.2
2015 846 9 4.4
2016 – – –
2017 and later 2,831 29 4.0
Total 9,721 100 4.2
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OPPORTUNITIES AND RISKS

OPPORTUNITIES AND RISKS

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO AND MARKET
Atrium Ljungberg’s property portfolio is primarily lo-
cated in growth towns and is concentrated on subsidiary 
markets that are considered to have long-term strength 
with regard to location, population growth, employment, 
communications and public transport and the competi-
tive situation. 89 per cent of the property portfolio is 
located in Stockholm and Uppsala. Other properties 
are mainly located in Malmö. Atrium Ljungberg works 
strategically to ensure continued growth in strong sub-
sidiary markets that are expected to cope better with both 
economic upturns and downturns. 
 The property portfolio contains various different types 
of commercial premises, such as retail and office premises 
and residential. The combination of different types of 
premises creates attractive full-service environments for 
our customers and also spreads risks and commercial  
opportunities across business cycles. 

PROPERTY VALUES AND INVESTMENTS
Atrium Ljungberg reports property values at fair value in 
its accounts and a change in value consequently affects 
the company’s profits. The change in value of the prop-
erty portfolio is affected by such factors as the property’s 
anticipated operating surplus and the market’s yield 
requirements. Property values have increased in 2011, 
primarily as a result of increased rental levels and a slight 
fall in yield requirements. 
 The change in value has no impact on the cash flow 

until the property is sold. Find out more about market 
valuation of the properties on pages 20–21. The effects of 
changes in various parameters that affect value are shown 
in the table below. 
 Atrium Ljungberg works to develop its properties 
through both new builds/extensions and reconstructions, 
thereby generating a good growth in the value of the 
properties. We invest approximately SEK 1 billion every 
year in our own projects. Investment decisions are taken 
by the Board for investments exceeding SEK 20 million. 
Ensuring access to financing is vital in order to handle 
this rate of investment. We generate the preconditions 
for efficient and cost-effective projects through in-depth 
knowledge and detailed monitoring work, and our goal is 
for investments in our own new build projects to gener-
ate a return that exceeds the acquisition alternative by 
between 2 and 3 percentage points. 
 The company’s prudence principle is applied to in-
vestments, such that no new investments are made with-
out having secured a reasonable return through signed 
lease contracts or in combination with good letting 
market potential. The existing project portfolio offers the 
opportunity for investments totalling SEK 3 billion. All 
of Atrium Ljungberg’s properties are insured for their full 
value with Länsförsäkringar.

RENTAL INCOME AND TENANT STRUCTURE
Atrium Ljungberg’s lease contract structure ensures a 
good risk spread with regard to contract term, size and 

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS, PROPERTY VALUATION

Value parameter Assumption Effect on value, 
SEK m

Rental level +/– 10% 2,320

Operating cost +/– 50 SEK/m2 630

Yield requirement +/– 0,25% –910/+990

Long-term vacancy rate +/– 2% 580

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS, CASH FLOW

Change, %

Effect on result 
in year 1,

 SEK m

Effect on result 
for full-year, 

SEK m

Rental level, com-
mercial properties 5 10 85

Rental level,  
residential 5 3 3

Letting rate1) 1 17 17

Interest rate level1) 1 30 97

Uppsala
Mälardalen 14%

Stockholm 
city centre 26%

Others, Sverige 2%

Malmö 6%

CONTRACTED ANNUAL RENT PER REGION

Stockholm, 
other 52%

Offices 31%

Residential 3%

Other 11%

Retail 55%

CONTRACTED ANNUAL RENT PER PREMISES TYPE

1) Percentage change
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BAD DEBT LOSSES

SEK m 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
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CONTRACT BREAKDOWN BY SECTOR

Rica Hotels

Ica
Atlas Copco

Other

Telenor

Coop

Nacka local authority

Stockholm County Council

Hennes & Mauritz

Stadium
Axfood Sverige

TEN LARGEST CUSTOMERS, CONTRACTED ANNUAL RENT

sector breakdown. We have a total of 2,269 commercial 
lease contracts, with a large spread across terms and ten-
ant composition in order to reduce the annual market 
risk. The annual rent for the biggest single contract 
totals 2 per cent of the company’s annual rents and the 
ten largest customers account for 24 per cent of rental 
income, spread over 69 separate establishments. The av-
erage remaining lease term in the contract portfolio was 
3.9 years at the year-end, excluding residential. 
  Changes in market rents have a limited effect on 
rental income in the short term because the commercial 
lease contracts are usually signed for a term of 3 to 5 
years. If no notice of termination is given, the contracts 
are automatically extended for the same term and on the 
same terms and conditions. A fixed rent with a net sales 
clause, whereby the tenant pays a surcharge on the rent, 
based on the tenant’s net sales, is commonplace in lease 
contracts for retail space. In an economic upturn, this 
generates the potential for increased rental income. If the 
situation is reversed, the risk is limited by the fact that 
the tenant pays a fixed minimum rent. 
 The variable net sales surcharges in 2011 accounted 
for 1 per cent of the total. The individual tenant’s busi-
ness operations and financial stability also affect the risk 

of loss of income, and the tenant’s financial situation and 
ability to pay the agreed rent are, therefore, evaluated 
before a new contract is entered into and on an ongoing 
basis throughout the rental period.

LETTING RATE
A change in the company’s letting rate has a relatively 
rapid effect on income and the company’s strategic work 
is consequently conducted along strategic lines. The risk 
of high vacancy levels is reduced by maintaining a pres-
ence in strong subsidiary markets and by having close 
contact with tenants and meeting their premises-related 
requirements in good time. The letting rate in 2011 was 
stable and totalled 94 per cent. A long-term vacancy level 
of between 2 and 3 per cent is deemed to be necessary in 
order to ensure our ability to meet customer require-
ments.

PROPERTY COSTS
A large part of the company’s service charge-related costs, 
such as electricity, water, heating, cleaning and property 
tax, is passed on to the tenant through regulation in the 
lease contracts, and cost increases or savings consequently 
have only a limited impact on the company’s results. If 

LEASE CONTRACT TERMS, AS PER 31-12-2011

Matures (year) Number of 
contracts

Contracted 
annual rent, 

SEK m

Contracted an-
nual rent. %

2012 979 199 11.2
2013 400 309 17.5
2014 373 277 15.7
2015 297 281 15.9
2016 88 183 10.3
2017 52 161 9.1
2018 and later 80 299 16.9
Residential 631 60 3.4
Total 2,900 1,768 100.0

CONTRACTED RENTAL INCOME BY CONTRACT SIZE, 
AS PER 31-12-2011

SEK k Number of 
contracts

Contracted rental income 
on a yearly basis, %

0–250 1,959 6.1
251–500 237 4.9
501–1,000 265 10.7
1,001–3,000 311 29.0
>3 001 128 49.3
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vacancies do occur, the company’s results are affected not 
only by lost rental income, but also by incurring costs, 
such as electricity, that have previously been charged to 
tenants. The company works purposefully to increase the 
efficiency of its consumption and procurement figures 
in order to limit our cost increases and environmental 
impact. The company’s property portfolio is of a good 
standard and is well-maintained. Unforeseen damage 
and repairs can have a negative effect on the company’s 
results. 
 Atrium Ljungberg has ten leasehold properties. The 
leasehold agreements are periodically renegotiated and 
may increase and thereby have a negative effect on the 
company’s results. The total leasehold fee for 2011 was 
SEK 26.4 million. 
 A property’s seasonal effects primarily comprise vari-
able operating costs that are largely influenced by weather 
conditions. Costs are at their highest during Q1 and Q4, 
when hearing costs and any snow clearance costs for the 
properties are at their greatest.

INTEREST RATES AND CASH FLOW
The interest maturity structure has been spread over dif-
ferent terms in order to limit the risk of increased market 
rates. A longer fixed interest term limits the company’s 
risk of negative effects on the result in conjunction with 
increasing market rates, and the reverse in the event of 
falling market rates. It is also important, for the com-
pany’s project development and for the refinancing of 
existing loans, to secure access to new financing. 
The refinancing risk is adjudged to be low in the light 
of the company’ low gearing ratio and strong key ratios. 
Atrium Ljungberg’s 2011 financial policy states that a 
maximum of 50 per cent of the financing may be provid-
ed by a single lender, in order to limit the financing risk. 
The company had credit agreements with five different 
lenders at the year-end. Atrium Ljungberg’s interest-bear-

ing liabilities totalled SEK 9,721 million at the year-end, 
at which time the company’s cash flow totalled SEK 640 
million and its gearing ratio was 44.4 per cent. See pages 
79–80 for further information on financing.

TAXES
In July 2010, the company received notice of an ap-
plication to the Swedish Administrative Court for a 
review of whether the Swedish Tax Avoidance Act ap-
plies to a property transaction carried out in 2004. The 
Administrative Court essentially granted the Swedish Tax 
Agency’s suit and the company has appealed the ruling 
to the Administrative Court of Appeal, which has issued 
a stay of proceedings pending a review by the Supreme 
Administrative Court of an advance ruling that may act 
as a test case. The Swedish Tax Agency wishes to increase 
Atrium Ljungberg’s tax assessment by SEK 326.7 million, 
corresponding to a tax demand for SEK 91.5 million, 
excluding interest. The company has made no provision 
for the amount in the company’s accounts, regarding the 
amount as a contingent liability until further notice. See 
page 129 for further details of this tax case. 
 Atrium Ljungberg may be affected by changes in tax 
legislation, such as the level of corporation tax, property 
tax, or other amendments to tax legislation or the inter-
pretation thereof.

DEFERRED TAX
Current accounting regulations require deferred tax li-
abilities to be reported as if all property sales were taxed 
at 26.3 per cent. The effective tax rate is, however, lower 
as properties can be sold tax-free through the sale of 
shares in subsidiaries. Assuming a deferred tax rate of 10 
per cent for costing purposes, the deferred tax totals SEK 
994 million, rather than the reported SEK 2,613 million. 
See page 86 for additional calculations.
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THE SHARE AND THE SHAREHOLDERS

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE
There were a total of 133,220,736 registered shares 
on 31st December 2011, 4,000,000 of which were 
class A shares and 129,220,736 of which were class B 
shares. Atrium Ljungberg’s class B share is listed on the 
NASDAQ OMX Stockholm exchange. One class A 
share grants entitlement to ten votes, while one class B 
share grants entitlement to one vote. An agreement exists 
between the company’s class A shareholders whereby 
class A shares may only be transferred to persons who 
already hold class A shares. Class A shares must otherwise 
be converted to class B shares before a transfer may oc-

cur. The Articles of Association include a pre-emption 
clause with regard to class A shares. There were a total 
of 130,156,988 outstanding shares at the year-end, after 
the deduction made for 3,063,748 class B shares bought 
back by the Group. Bought-back shares do not grant 
entitlement to dividends or to exercise voting rights. The 
company had 1,577 shareholders at the year-end. 97 per 
cent of the ownership is based in Sweden, approximately 
85 per cent of which is based in Stockholm County. The 
ten biggest shareholders are shown in the table below.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS IN ATRIUM LJUNGBERG AB, 31ST DEC. 2011

Number (’000) Percentage, %
Class A 
shares

Class B 
shares

Total Votes Capital

The Stockholm Consumer 
Cooperative Society

– 50,766 50,766 30.6 38.1

Ljungberg family 1,810 28,982 30,792 28.3 23.1
Holmström family 1,810 15,033 16,843 19.9 12.6

Carnegie Fonder – 4,985 4,985 3.0 3.7
Ulf Holmlund 380 462 842 2.6 0.6

Skandia Liv – 3,528 3,528 2.1 2.6
Länsförsäkringar Fonder – 3,456 3,456 2.1 2.6
AFA Försäkring – 2,347 2,347 1.4 1.8

SHB Fonder – 2,013 2,013 1.2 1.5
Margaretha af Ugglas – 1,445 1,445 0.9 1.1
Other – 13,140 13,140 7.9 9.9
Total outstanding shares 4,000 126,157 130,157 100.0 97.7
Shares bought back – 3,064 3,064 – 2.3
Total number of shares issued 4,000 129,221 133,221 100.0 100.0

Shareholding,  
number of shares

Number of 
owners

Percent-
age, %

Number of 
shares

Percent-
age, %

1–1,000 1,068 68 299 0
1,001–10,000 344 22 1,187 1
10,001–50,000 93 6 2,086 2
50,001–100,000 19 1 1,400 1
100,001–500,000 29 2 7,742 6
500,001–1,000,000 8 1 5,598 4

1,000,001– 16 1 114,907 86

Total 1,577 100 133,221 100

BREAKDOWN OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Foreign 3% Sweden 97%

OWNERSHIP BY COUNTRY

Closely-held
 companies 20%

Insurance companies 2%

Private individuals 22%

Listed companies 2%

Other 4%
Institutions 38%

OWNER CATEGORIES

Equity funds 9%

Pension savings 3%



   85ATRIUM LJUNGBERG 2011

1994 1996 1998 2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010
  3

 10

 20

 40

 60

 80
100
120

©
 N

AS
D

AQ
 O

M
X

Class B share
OMX Stockholm_PI
SX4040 Real Estate_PI

THE ATRIUM LJUNGBERG SHARE

SEK/share %

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

20112010200920082007
0

1

2

3

4

UTDELNING OCH DIREKTAVKASTNING

Dividend, SEK/share Dividend yield, %

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND YIELD

BÖRSNOTERADE FASTIGHETSBOLAG PER 2011-12-31

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Market capitalisation, SEK B

Balder
Klövern

Wihlborgs

Kungsleden

Wallenstam

Atrium Ljungberg
Fabege

Castellum

Hufvudstaden

LISTED PROPERTY COMPANIES AS PER 31-12-2011

MARKET CAPITALISATION AND LIQUIDITY
The share price at the year-end was SEK 73.25 (SEK 
86.50), corresponding to a market capitalisation of SEK 
9,758 million. Eight million shares were traded during 
the year, corresponding on a yearly basis to a turno-
ver rate of 6 per cent. Atrium Ljungberg has engaged 
Remium as a liquidity guarantor in order to improve the 
share’s liquidity. Remium has undertaken to set bid and 
ask prices on a daily basis for a volume of shares corre-
sponding to SEK 30,000, with a maximum difference of 
4 per cent, calculated on the basis of the ask price.

DIVIDEND
The dividend shall correspond to a minimum of 50 per 
cent of the profit before changes in value after estimated 
tax corresponding to 26.3 per cent, unless investments or 
the company’s financial position in general motivates a 
deviation from this norm. A dividend of SEK 2.60/share 
(SEK 2.40/share) is proposed for the 2011 financial year. 
The proposed dividend corresponds to a dividend yield 
of 3.5 per cent (2.8%), calculated on the basis of the 
share price at the year-end. 
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NET WORTH
Shareholders’ equity totalled SEK 9,541 million. The 
company’s properties are reported at fair value and 
deferred tax is reported at 26.3 per cent and the net 
worth can consequently be calculated on the basis of 
the Balance Sheet equity. It should be borne in mind, 
however, that the effective tax rate is lower than 26.3 per 
cent because properties can be sold through the tax-free 
sale of shares in subsidiary companies. The scale of the ef-
fective deferred tax liability for the properties that can be 
sold through the sale of shares in subsidiary companies is 
largely dependent on the market’s pricing of the reported 
tax liability in conjunction with a corporate transaction. 
Deferred tax liabilities are commonly valued in the in-
terval between 0 and 10 per cent. Tax credits are also ob-
tained, in addition to the above-mentioned fiscal effects, 

through fiscal depreciation and direct deductions for 
certain maintenance costs. Shareholders’ equity per share 
at the year-end totalled SEK 73.30. The net worth, with 
a deferred rate of tax for calculation purposes of 10 per 
cent, corresponded on that date to SEK 82.75 per share. 
Atrium Ljungberg has a substantial project portfolio and 
the development of its own development rights generates 
growth in value. The future value potential of the project 
portfolio has not been taken into account when report-
ing the company’s net worth. See pages 32–46 for further 
information about the project portfolio.

INFORMATION FOR SHAREHOLDERS
Atrium Ljungberg’s primary information channel is 
the company’s website, www.atriumljungberg.se, where 
all press releases and financial reports are published. 

SUBSTANSVÄRDE OCH BÖRSKURS
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NET WORTH AND MARKET VALUE

NET WORTH 
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Shareholders’ equity, SEK m 9,541 9,099 8,416 8,496 9,259

Reversal of goodwill, SEK m –390 –390 –407 –458 –485

Reversal of reported deferred tax, SEK m1) 2,614 2,320 2,046 2,220 2,638
Net worth at 0% deferred tax, SEK m 11,765 11,029 10,056 10,258 11,412
Deferred tax, 10%, SEK m –994 –882 –778 –844 –942
Net worth at 10% deferred tax, SEK m 10,771 10,147 9,278 9,414 10,470

Net worth, SEK/share, 0% deferred tax 90 85 77 79 88
Net worth, SEK/share, 10% deferred tax 83 78 71 72 80
Net worth, SEK/share, 26.3% reported deferred tax1) 73 70 65 65 71
Share price, 31st December 73 86 67 62 64
1)  The tax rate changed, as of 1st January 2009, from 28 per cent to 26.3 per cent,  

and the deferred tax as of 31st December 2008 has consequently been valued at 26.3 per cent.
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CALENDAR

2010 Annual General Meeting 29th March 2012
Interim Report, January–March 2012 19th April 2012
Interim Report, January–June 2012 10th July 2012
Interim Report, January–September 2012 18th October 2012
2012 Preliminary Financial Statements February 2013
2012 Annual Report March 2013

MONITORING BY ANALYSTS
Carnegie Investment Bank Tobias Kaj
Deutsche Bank Fredrik Skoglund
Erik Penser Bankaktiebolag Johan Edberg
Handelsbanken Capital Markets Albin Sandberg
Pareto Öhmans David Zaudy
Remium Claes Vikbladh
SEB Enskilda Bengt Claesson
Swedbank Markets Andreas Daag

DATA PER SHARE 
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Share price, 31st December 73.25 86.50 67.00 62.50 63.75

Price trends, % –15.3 29.1 7.2 –2.0 –24.4

Shareholders’ equity, SEK/share 73.30 69.91 64.66 65.27 71.14

Earnings per share, SEK 6.95 7.03 1.44 –3.09 12.55

Profit /loss before changes in value, less nominal tax, SEK/share 3.93 3.79 3.78 2.97 3.36

Dividend (2011 proposed), SEK/share 2.60 2.40 2.25 2.00 2.00

The share’s dividend yield, % 3.5 2.8 3.4 3.2 3.1
The share’s total yield, % –12.3 32.7 10.8 1.2 –22.1

Number of shares issued, ‘000 133,221 133,221 133,221 133,221 133,221

Number of outstanding shares, ‘000 130,157 130,157 130,157 130,157 130,157

Average number of outstanding shares after dilution, ‘000 130,157 130,157 130,157 130,157 130,295

The financial reports are available in both Swedish and 
English. Press releases are available by e-mail or text 
message in conjunction with publication. The website 
also contains an up-to-date description of the company’s 
operations and ongoing projects. Regular meetings are 
organised for analysts, shareholders, potential investors 
and financiers, both in Sweden and abroad.

Annica Ånäs
CFO, Atrium Ljungberg AB
Mobile: +46 703 41 53 37
Tel: +46 8 615 89 00 
annica.anas@atriumljungberg.se
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director of Atrium 
Ljungberg AB (publ.), company ID no. 556175-7047, hereby 
submit the annual accounts and consolidated accounts for the 
2011 financial year. The figures shown in parentheses refer to 
the preceding financial year. The Corporate Governance Report 
is presented on pages 94–97.

OPERATIONS IN 2011

Rental levels for office and retail premises have continued stable 
through out the year.  
 Demand for office premises in good locations in the inner suburbs 
surrounding the city centre has increased as modern, space-efficient 
office premises in the city centre are in limited supply. This has benefitted 
Atrium Ljungberg, which has a strong position in all of its office sub-
sidiary markets in Sickla, Hagastaden, Södermalm, Kista and Farsta. 
 Sweden’s retail trade sector levelled off in 2011 after several years 
of strong growth. The retail sector as a whole reported weakly positive 
growth of 0.8 per cent, measured in rolling prices, despite record-break-
ing Christmas period sales for the 16th year in succession.  
 Atrium Ljungberg’s retail hubs are in strong locations where the 
footfall is high and there is considerable interest in opening new outlets. 
Atrium Ljungberg’s regional retail hubs’ net sales for 2011 were on a par 
with net sales in 2010. 
 The letting rate for Atrium Ljungberg’s properties totalled 94 per cent 
(94%), including project properties. Rental income for 2011 totalled SEK 
1,686.3 million (SEK 1,613.5 m). The operating surplus was SEK 1,095.0 
million (SEK 1,0295 m). The increased operating surplus was due both to 
the completion of projects and also to lower service charge-related costs 
as a result of a milder autumn and winter period. The operating surplus 
increased by 11 per cent, adjusted for property sales and non-recurring 
payments due to premature vacation of premises. 
 Atrium Ljungberg’s high development and investment rate continued 
during the year, SEK 1,050 million has been invested in our own develop-
ment projects and SEK 379 million in acquisitions. 
 The decision to continue the development of Mobilia in Malmö –  
the company’s biggest single construction project ever – was taken in 
Janu ary. Mobilia will be transformed from its current status as a retail 
hub to a vibrant city district where retail operations are complemented 
with service, health care and cultural operations and facilities. The pro-
ject comprises approximately 29,000 m² GFA, non-residential, together 
with an additional 650 parking spaces in a garage. The investment is 
expected to total SEK 1 billion. The transformation work has begun and 
will continue until 2013 with phased openings in the autumns of 2012 
and 2013. The letting situation is positive and the letting rate is currently 
63 per cent. 
 A decision has also been taken to build 70 or so rental apartments in 
the Mobilia area. The housing project comprises approximately 4,000 m² 
of letting space and will entail additional investments of SEK 100 million. 
The apartments are scheduled to be ready for occupation in the autumn 
of 2014. 
 An expansion of the shopping centre’s southern entrance was com-
pleted during the first quarter of 2011 as part of the transformation of 
Mobilia. The expansion comprises approximately 2,100 m² of new retail 
space and a garage with 380 parking spaces. 

 A new shopping centre section opened at Gränby Centrum in Uppsala 
in August. Twenty or so stores, cafés, and service facilities opened in a 
total of 9,000 m² of newly built space. Gränby Centrum now comprises 85 
stores, food outlets and service facilities. Additional work on renovating 
and expanding the western entrance of the shopping centre began in 
November 2011 in an investment totalling SEK 50 million. Four stores 
and a foodcourt will open here in August 2012.  
 Work on converting the Rådhuset (old city hall) building in Uppsala 
into a fashion department store is now its final stages and two stores 
opened at the end of October. The Rådhuset building as a whole will 
open on 1st March 2012. All of the 3,100 m² or so of retail and restaurant 
space is let.  
 Atrium Ljungberg is continuing its development of Port73 in Haninge 
with the aim of creating a strong, regional retail hub. An expansion 
phase comprising 3,500 m² of retail space is now in progress and is fully 
let. Three new stores will open here in March 2012. 
 A decision to expand the retail space by a further 10,500 m² was taken 
during the year. An agreement has been signed with the FMCG chain, 
Willys, for approximately 3,700m², and their store will open in the spring 
of 2013. Once both phases are completed, Port73 will comprise almost 
40 stores in a total of approximately 37,000 m². The combined investment 
for the two projects is expected to total SEK 250 million. 
 An agreement was signed during the summer with ICA Sverige AB 
with regard to the opening of a new ICA Kvantum store in Farsta Centrum 
in a new build comprising 3,300m² letting space. A garage with approxi-
mately 170 spaces is also planned. The agreement with ICA is condi-
tional upon a change to the detailed development plan, work on which 
has already begun and which is expected to gain legal force at the 2012 
year-end. The new ICA Kvantum is scheduled to open in the spring of 
2014 and the investment as a whole will total SEK 100 million. 
 Atlas Copco’s new headquarters in Sickla, Nacka, was completed and 
ready for occupation in March 2011. Atlas Copco has relocated its global 
headquarters to the new building and brought together several of their 
operating units that were previously spread over several buildings in 
Sickla under a single roof. Atrium Ljungberg also relocated its head-
quarters to the same building in April 2011.  
 Work on Sickla Affärskvarter, an investment in bringing more office 
workplaces and service operations to Sickla, has continued throughout 
2011. Intrum Justitia’s new office block is under construction and will 
be completed during the fourth quarter of 2012. The reconstruction and 
expansion of HK60 (formerly known as Block 502), which is Atlas Copco’s 
former headquarters, is also in progress. HK60 will be completed during 
the fourth quarter of 2012. Preparatory work on AkzoNobel’s new opera-
tions centre has begun and the turf-cutting ceremony for the construc-
tion work took place at the end of January 2012.  
 The turf-cutting ceremony for phase 1 of Kvarteret NOD in Kista –  
a new meeting place for learning, research and trade and industry etc., 
at Kista Gård – took place in November 2011. NOD will, in addition to 
the educational and research facilities, also include office environments 
for small and medium-sized start-up companies in the information and 
communication technology sector and public spaces. Once completed,  
NOD as a whole will comprise 25,000m², the first phase of which 
com prises 15,000 m² of letting space. A ten-year rental agreement for 
7,100 m² has been signed with Stockholm University and the tenant will 
move in in July 2014. The total investment for the 25,000 m² project is 
estimated at approximately SEK 750 million. 
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 Office space totalling approximately 6,000m² has been converted to 
an open, flexible and creative meeting place known as Ärvinge 16.0 at 
Ärvinge in Kista. The premises opened in the spring of 2011. 
 Atrium Ljungberg, in partnership with Stockholms NyföretagarCentrum, 
with the support of the City of Stockholm and Stockholm Business  
Region, opened a new meeting place for entrepreneurs and small busi-
nesses known as hotspots.nu in Farsta during the year. The investment 
is being made in order to promote the opening of new offices in Farsta.  

PROPERTY VALUES

The transaction market began strongly in 2011 and by the end of June, 
the volume was higher than in 2010. The latter half of the year was af-
fected by the debt crisis in Europe and the ensuing financial turbulence. 
The transaction volume for 2011 as a whole was approximately SEK 100 
billion, which is on a par with 2010. Interest in property investments 
continued to be high, however, at the year-end and price levels increased 
slightly towards the end of the year for high quality properties in attrac-
tive locations. 
 The reported value of the property portfolio as a whole, as of 31st 
December 2011, totalled SEK 21,897 million (SEK 19,940 m). Develop-
ment rights and land account for SEK 214 million (SEK 259 m) of this 
total. Investments in properties in 2011 totalled SEK 1,050 million (SEK 
1,047 m) and properties were acquired at a cost of SEK 379 million. No 
properties were sold during the year. 
 Unrealised changes in the value of properties totalled SEK 528 million 
(SEK 525 m). The increase in value is primarily due to increased rental 
levels and to a slight fall in yield requirements. 
 See Note 15 for a more detailed valuation.

PROPERTY TRANSACTIONS

The Sicklaön115:3 and Sicklaön 115:4, as well as the Sicklaön 117:5 and 
Sicklaön 117:7 properties, located directly adjacent to Sickla  Köpkvarter 
were acquired in 2011. The properties comprise three villas and an 
undeveloped villa plot of land. The combined purchase price was SEK 37 
million and the acquisitions generate the potential for further develop-
ment of the Sickla area. 
 The remaining 50 per cent of the Blästern 6 office property in Haga-
staden, in central Stockholm, was acquired in December 2011. The 
acquisition means that Atrium Ljungberg now owns 100 per cent of the 
Blästern 6 property, which comprises a total of 30,900m² letting area, 
approximately 6,500 m² of which is garage space. Approximately 80 per 
cent of the property is let. The purchase price is based on an underlying 
property value totalling SEK 342 million for the section acquitted. Pos-
session was taken and payment made in January 2012. 
   

NET SALES AND PROFIT/LOSS

The Group’s net sales totalled SEK 2,018 million (SEK 1,936 m). The 
Group posted a profit before changes in value of SEK 694.4 million  
(SEK 668.6 m). Unrealised changes in the value of properties  totalled 
SEK 528.3 million (SEK 525.1 m). Realised changes in the value of 
 properties totalled SEK 2.0 million (SEK 14.2 m). The profit after tax  
was SEK 904.5 million (SEK 915.5 m), corresponding to SEK 6.95/share 
(SEK 7.03/share).  
 Net sales by the Parent Company totalled SEK 247 million (SEK 265 m) 
and the Parent Company’s profit after tax totalled SEK 58.4 million (SEK 
134.3 m).    

PROJECT AND CONSTRUCTION OPERATIONS

Net sales by project and construction operations totalled SEK 332 million 
(SEK 323 m) during the year. TL Bygg’s net sales totalled SEK 429 million 
(SEK 374 m), SEK 134 million (SEK 69 m) of which derived from work 
conducted on behalf of Group companies. The gross profit for project 
and construction operations totalled SEK 14.8 million (SEK 9.4 m). 
 The operating profit for TL Bygg totalled SEK 32.3 million (SEK 
30.9 m). Project and development costs for the Group’s development 
costs and which cannot be capitalised have been charged to the project 
and construction operations profit.

FINANCIAL POSITION

Interest-bearing liabilities totalled SEK 9,721 million (SEK 9,110 m). 
The average interest rate on interest-bearing liabilities was 4.2 per cent 
(3.8%), while the average fixed-term interest period and the average 
capital commitment term were 3.1 years (2.0 yrs.) and 2.5 years (2.4 
yrs.), respectively. The gearing ratio was 44.4 per cent (45/7%). If new 
borrowing in January 2012 and attributable to property acquisitions in 
December 2011 is taken into account, the gearing ratio was 45.9 per 
cent. 
 Liquid assets at the end of the financial year totalled SEK 274.2 mil-
lion (SEK 439.3 m). Shareholders’ equity on the closing day totalled SEK 
9,541 million (SEK 9,099 m), corresponding to SEK 73.3/share (SEK 69.9/
share). The equity/assets ratio was 41.2 per cent (42.9%). The net worth, 
calculated with at a deferred tax rate of 10 per cent, was SEK 82.8/share 
(SEK 78.0/share). 

TAXES

The current tax for the year totalled SEK -1.5 million (SEK -23.5 m) and 
was affected by fiscally deductible investments for 2010 and preliminary 
calculations of deductible investments for 2011 totalling SEK 118 million.   
 Atrium Ljungberg has previously announced that the company has 
 appealed the tax case in which the Swedish Administrative Court essen-
tially granted the Swedish Tax Agency’s suit, under the provisions of the 
Swedish Tax Avoidance Act, to increase the tax assessment of a company 
within the Atrium Ljungberg Group for a property transaction carried 
out in 2004 via a limited partnership. The Administrative Court ruled that 
the company’s tax assessment shall be increased by SEK 326.7 million, 
corresponding to a tax demand for SEK 91.5 million, excluding interest. 
No demand for the imposition of a tax surcharge has been made. Atrium 
Ljungberg has made no provision for the amount in the company’s 
accounts, regarding the amount as a contingent liability until further 
 notice. Atrium Ljungberg is of the opinion that the company has com-
plied with the legislation and praxis applicable at the time of the trans-
action. The company is, furthermore, of the opinion that the Swedish Tax 
Avoidance Act is not applicable. The Administrative Court of Appeal has 
issued a stay of proceedings pending a review by the Supreme Adminis-
trative Court of an advance ruling that may act as a test case and Atrium 
Ljungberg has been granted a respite with regard to payment of the tax. 

REMUNERATION

Atrium Ljungberg’s principles governing the remuneration payable to 
senior executives states that salaries and other terms and conditions 
of employment for the company’s senior management team shall be on 
market conditions and be competitive, but not market-leading in rela-
tion to other comparable companies. The Annual General Meeting lays 
down the guidelines for remuneration to senior executives. See Note 8 
and page 100 for further information on the company’s remuneration 
guidelines and terms. 
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PERSONNEL

Maintaining the talent pool is an important factor in the company’s 
success, and the company accordingly works in a structured manner 
with planning reviews, following up of action plans, and development 
and leadership development programmes with the aim of making the 
company a more attractive employer. One of the company’s stated goals 
is to become one of Sweden’s best workplaces in accordance with “Great 
Place to Work®”. 
 Ingalill Berglund took over as the new Managing Director of Atrium 
Ljungberg in April 2011. Ingalill Berglund has worked as the CFO of 
Atrium Ljungberg for the past ten years. Annica Ånäs was recruited to 
take over the position of CFO.  
 

EVENTS AFTER THE CLOSING DAY

The remaining 50 per cent of the Blästern 13 office property, located 
in Hagastaden in Stockholm, was acquired in January 2012. Atrium 
Ljungberg previously owned 50 per cent of the property and was also 
responsible for its management. The acquisition means that Atrium 
Ljungberg now owns 100 per cent of Blästern 13, which comprises a total 
of approximately 40,400m² of letting space, 6,500m² of which is a garage, 
and which is fully let. The purchase price was based on an underlying 
property value of SEK 630 million for half of the property. Possession was 
taken on 14th February 2012.
 In February 2012, Mattias Celinder took over as Business Area Retail 
Director for Atrium Ljungberg, succeeding Kristina Johnson, who had re-
signed her position in January. Mattias Celinder became a member of the 
company’s management group which, as of 1st February, consequently 
comprises Ingalill Berglund (MD), Annica Ånäs (CFO), Magnus Alteskog 
(Project Manager), Carola Lavén (Business Development Director), 
Helena Martini (HR Director), Micael Averborg (Business Area Offices 
Director), and Mattias Celinder (Business Area Retail Director).  

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTY FACTORS

Atrium Ljungberg’s property portfolio, with its retail, office and full-service 
environments, is primarily located in strong subsidiary markets in growth 
regions. The company’s financial position is strong, with strong key ratios, 
such as a low gearing ratio and a high interest coverage margin. On the 
investment front, the company’s investments are governed by the principle 
of prudence, whereby no new investments are made until a reasonable 
return can be secured through agreed lease contracts or lease contracts 
in combination with good preconditions in the rental market. 
 See Note 29 and pages 79-83 for a description of financial risks and 
risk management.  

OUTLOOK FOR 2012

The Swedish economy is performing well in comparison with other Euro-
pean countries, but the growth rate in Sweden as a whole is expected 
to slow down in 2012. Atrium Ljungberg is, however, well positioned as 
the performance by our subsidiary markets is expected to exceed the 
average performance in Sweden as a whole. External factors that can 
bring about rapid changes in preconditions must, however, be respected, 
and we must maintain a constant readiness in order to be able to quickly 
readjust. 
 The acquisitions made and projects ongoing in 2011, such as the 
Atlas Copco HQ, the reconstruction of Mobilia in Malmö, the extension of 
Gränby Centrum and the Rådhuset building in Uppsala, and the exten-
sion of Port73 will generate rental income in 2012. The new projects we 
have launched, such as the new construction work at Mobilia in Malmö, 
and on behalf of Intrum Justitia and Akzo Nobel in Sickla, along with 
Kvarte ret NOD in Kista, will also entail a healthy rental income trend in 
the longer term.  

SHARES

There are a total of 133,220,736 shares (133,220,736) in the company, 
distributed as 4,000,000 class A shares (4,000,000) and 129,220,736 
(129,220,736) class B shares. One class A share grants entitlement to 
ten votes while one class B share grants entitlement to one vote. Class A 
and class B shares grant equal entitlement to a share in the company’s 
profits and assets. Atrium Ljungberg AB owns 3,063,748 (3,063,748) of 
its own shares through buy-backs. The bought-back shares held by the 
company do not grant entitlement either to receive dividends or to exer-
cise votes. An agreement exists between the company’s class A share-
holders whereby class A shares may only be transferred to a person 
who already owns class A shares. The class A share shall otherwise be 
converted to class B shares before it may be transferred The Articles of 
Association include a pre-emption clause with regard to class A shares.

DIVIDEND

The dividend shall correspond to at least 50 per cent of the profit before 
changes in value, after estimated tax (currently 26.3 per cent), unless 
investments or the company’s financial position in other respects mo-
tivates a deviation from this norm. A dividend of SEK 2.60 per share (SEK 
2.40) is proposed for the financial year.

PROPOSED TREATMENT  
OF UNAPPROPRIATED EARNINGS

The following sum in the Parent Company is available for disposal by the 
General Meeting:

Profit brought forward SEK 4,934,289,077
Net profit for the year SEK 58,400,058
   SEK  4,992,689,135 

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director propose that the 
Unappropriated earnings be allocated as follows:

That a dividend of SEK 2.60/share be paid  
to the shareholders SEK 338,408,169 
Carried forward SEK 4,654,280,966 
   SEK 4,992,689,135 
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THE CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Summing up the past year’s development from the perspective 
of the Board is a rewarding task: Atrium Ljungberg is well- 
positioned – both financially and in terms of expertise – to 
achieve continued commercial success and to generate value 
for our shareholders. 

 
THE ROLE OF THE BOARD

The Annual General Meeting entrusted me with the task of leading the 
work of the Board. This entails working alongside my Board colleagues 
in continuing our successful endeavours, ensuring that the operations 
are conducted in accordance with our agreed strategies, keeping an eye 
on the company’s organisation, and being the best friend, work-wise,  
of our new Managing Director, Ingalill Berglund. 
 Atrium Ljungberg’s orientation and strategy remains the same in 
every respect: we shall focus on office and retail premises in Greater 
Stockholm, Uppsala and Malmö, both as management objects and 
as property development projects. This strategy has demonstrated its 
long-term viability in recent years and has worked well. Our property 
portfolio, with its high quality office properties and attractive retail hubs 
in expansive areas, is a robust one in terms of the yield it generates. The 
company’s high equity/assets ratio is also a strength when facing the 
 uncertainty prevalent in the financial markets in 2012. Being a Member 
of the Board of such a professional landlord requires an understanding 
of trends in the outside world and an insight into economic trends, 
both in the market as a whole and in the sectors in which our tenants 
 operate. And it is a requirement that we take very seriously indeed.  

AN UNUSUAL COMPANY

Atrium Ljungberg is, in terms of the number of people it employs, a 
small company that manages items with substantial economic worth. 
Consumer cooperatives, in the form of Coop, are our biggest tenants, 
both in terms of area rented and of rental income generated, and are 
also our biggest owner in terms of capital share, and are hence naturally 
represented on the Board. 
 In my everyday life, I am President of Svensk Handel, the  employers’ 
organisation serving the entire trade and commerce sector. This com-
bined tenant and customer perspective is an unusual one in a Board 
context, and it has proven to be beneficial. The biggest ownership 
 constellations meanwhile – the Ljungberg and Holmström families – 
 ensure the commitment and long-term approach that a property com-
pany must have if it is to inspire confidence and trust. 

OPPORTUNITIES IN 2012

Maintaining readiness – both financially and in terms of expertise – not 
only for the day-to-day operations, but for acquisitions, disposals and 
structural transactions, is one of the most important tasks faced by the 
Board in 2012. The uncertain economic outlook can also pave the way for 
good deals, such as advantageous acquisition opportunities. 

 Shareholder value will, in the years ahead, be generated by growing 
the value of our property holdings and through project development, but 
also through acquisitions, as exemplified by our recent acquisitions of 
Blästern 6 and 13 in the emerging Hagastaden district of Stockholm. 

NEW MD

Ulf Holmlund, Laszlo Kriss and Anders Nylander have all held the 
role of Managing Director of Atrium Ljungberg in the past, and have 
subsequently also been actively involved in the important work of the 
Board. Numerous substantial and significant decisions have been taken 
jointly by these three veterans and they have all individually contributed 
to build ing the corporate health that Atrium Ljungberg now enjoys. The 
legacy they have left imposes an obligation upon those who succeed 
them. 
 I am delighted that Ingalill Berglund took over as the new Managing 
Director of the company on 8th April 2011. Her primary task will be to 
continue along the path we have laid out, retaining profitability while 
simultaneously developing Atrium Ljungberg’s project portfolio and 
property management operations. 

Dag Klackenberg, Chairman of the Board
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This report has been prepared in accordance with the Swedish Annual 
Accounts Act and the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance, and 
 constitutes part of the formal annual accounts documents.  

AGENCIES AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORKS

All companies listed on the NASDAQ OMX Stockholm exchange shall 
apply the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance, (“the Code”). The 
overriding purpose of the Code is to contribute to improved control of 
Swedish companies and it forms part of trade and industry’s self-regula-
tion. The code can be viewed at www.bolagsstyrning.se. It is based  
on the principle that deviations from the Code shall be justified and ex-
plained. The Code also states that a Corporate Governance Report shall 
be appended to the annual accounts. 
 Atrium Ljungberg’s class B share is listed on the NASDAQ OMX Stock-
holm exchange. The company has approximately 1,600 shareholders. 
Control and management of the company is divided between share-
holders, the Board of Directors, the Managing Director and the company 
senior management team. Control is primarily regulated by Swedish 
legislation, EU directives, the Stock Market’s listing agreement, the Swe-
dish Code of Corporate Governance, the company’s Articles of Associa-
tion, and internal guidelines and policies. Atrium Ljungberg endeavours, 
through transparency, to provide a clear insight into decision-making 
pathways, responsibilities and authority, and a range of control systems. 
The company has no infringements of its listing agreement or infringe-
ments of good practice in the stock market to report for the year.  

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Corporate governance within Atrium Ljungberg can be described on 
the basis of the organisational structure below. A presentation of the 
respective control bodies follows thereafter.

2011 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The shareholders’ influence within the company is exercised through the 
General Meeting of the company’s shareholders, which is the company’s 
most senior decision-making body. The General Meeting appoints the 

Board of Directors and the company’s auditors, and adopts principles 
governing remuneration to the Board of Directors, the auditors, and 
the company’s senior management. The General Meeting also takes 
decisions with regard to the articles of association, dividends, and any 
changes to the share capital. The General Meeting shall also, at the 
Annual General Meeting which shall be held within six months of the 
end of the financial year, adopt Balance Sheets and Income Statements 
and decide on the discharge from liability for the Board of Directors 
and the Man aging Director. The date of the Annual General Meeting 
is  announced in conjunction with the Interim Report of 30th Septem-
ber. Notices convening the Annual General Meeting shall be issued 
4–6 weeks before the meeting and shall be issued by means of press 
releases, announce ments in the Swedish Official Gazette, and on the 
company’s website. The notice is issued together with a detailed agenda. 
The issue of the convening notice shall be announced in the Dagens 
Nyheter newspaper. Shareholders are entitled to have an issue discus-
sed at the meeting if the Board is provided with notice thereof no later 
than eight weeks  before the date when the meeting is held. The 2011 
Annual General Meeting was held on 7th April 2011. The Annual General 
Meeting was attended by 68 shareholders representing 74.7 per cent 
of the share capital and 80.2 per cent of the votes. The only restriction 
on voting rights applies to the company’s holding of its own shares. 
Atrium Ljungberg’s ownership structure is shown on page 84, where the 
number of votes etc., is also shown. The Annual General Meeting took 
decisions on, amongst other things, the following issues:

•	 	the	adoption	of	Income	Statements	and	Balance	Sheets	for	the	Parent	
Company and the Group; 

•	 	the	granting	of	discharge	from	liability	for	the	Board	of	Directors	and	
the Managing Director; 

•	 	the	determination	of	the	appropriation	of	profits	entailing	a	dividend	of	
SEK 2.40 per share; 

•	 the	election	of	the	Board	of	Directors,	see	table	on	page	96;	

•	 	the	determination	of	Directors’	fees	totalling	SEK	1,600,000,	broken	
down as SEK 400,000 payable to the Chairman of the Board and SEK 
200,000 payable to each of the Board Members and Deputy Board 
Members; 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS

GENERAL MEETING

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MD SENIOR MANAGEMENT

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

AUDITORS

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE
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•	 	the	determination	of	Auditors’	fees	in	accordance	with	an	approved	
presentation of invoice; 

•	 	the	establishment	of	a	Nomination	Committee	representing	the	five	
biggest shareholders by vote as of 31st August 2011; 

•	 	the	adoption	of	guidelines	for	the	remuneration	of	senior	manage-
ment within the Group;

•	 	amendments	to	the	Articles	of	Association	such	that	the	registered	
office of the company shall be in the Nacka municipality, that there 
shall be no fewer than three and no more than seven Members of 
the Board, without Deputy Members, that the mandate period for the 
Auditors shall be four years, and that the General Meeting shall be 
held in the Stockholm or Nacka municipalities; 

•	 	that	Ernst	&	Young	AB	shall	be	appointed	as	the	company’s	Auditors	
for the period until the end of the Annual General Meeting held in 
2015;

•	 	the	authorisation	of	the	Board	to	transfer	the	company’s	holdings	of	
its own class B shares in a regulated market where the shares are 
listed or in conjunction with the acquisition of companies, operations 
or properties. 

Complete Minutes of the Annual General Meeting are available on the 
company’s website. 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Atrium Ljungberg’s Board of Directors shall, in accordance with the 
company’s Articles of Association for 2011, comprise a minimum of three 
and a maximum of seven Members without Deputy Members. The Board 
has comprised seven Members during the year. The Board of Directors is 
presented on page 98. The Code states that a majority of the Board shall 
be independent in relation to the company and the senior management. 
At least two of the independent Members must also be independent in 
relation to the company’s major shareholders. The composition of the 
Board complies with the Code’s independence requirements. 
 The Board is responsible for the organisation and management of 
the company and is tasked with managing the company’s concerns in 
the interests of the company and all shareholders. The Board’s duties 
are documented in writing in the form of a formal work plan for the 
Board, which is revised and adopted once a year. The Board has held ten 
meetings during the year, one of which was held following election. The 
Board’s work is headed by the Chairman of the Board who has special 
responsibility for ensuring that the work of the Board is well organised 
and that it is conducted efficiently. This entails, amongst other things, 

ensuring that the Board has the training required to perform its duties, 
that the Board receives satisfactory information and decision data and 
that the work of the Board is evaluated every year. The Chairman of the 
Board also maintains close and ongoing contact with the company’s 
Managing Director.  
 In 2011, the Board laid down the overall goals for the company’s oper-
ations and decided on the strategies needed to achieve these goals. The 
Board has decided on all investments in excess of SEK 20 million and on 
acquisitions completed. The internal frameworks and policies that apply 
to the management of the company have also been established. These 
include the work plan for the Board of Directors, the Managing Director’s 
instructions, the financial reporting instructions, finance policy, infor-
mation policy, environmental policy, ethical policy, work environment 
policy, IT policy and equality and anti-discrimination policy. The work 
of the Board has also, to a large extent, focused on ongoing and future 
investment projects, discussions of property purchases and sales, and 
financial issues. Board meetings have been scheduled to enable study 
trips to be made in order to establish in-depth familiarity with ongoing 
projects and the property holding in general. Feedback reports from the 
Group management with regard to the company’s economic and finan-
cial position, current market issues, and ongoing projects have been 
presented at the Board Meetings. Business plans and budgets for 2011 
were presented in December 2010. Results in comparison with budget 
have been reported quarterly during the year, together with revised fore-
casts for the 2011 financial year. 
 The Members of the Board possess a variety of areas of expertise. 
The entire Board has fulfilled the undertakings mandated in the Code’s 
instructions with regard to the audit and remuneration committees, in 
that the Board has deemed it expedient to address these issues within 
the context of the normal work of the Board. The company’s auditors 
have reported on their work and observations to the Board on two occa-
sions during the year, on one of these occasions without the presence of 
the company management. The Board has, in accordance with the Code, 
evaluated the work of the Managing Director and their own work in 2011. 
The company’s Legal Counsel has acted as the Secretary of the Board.
 

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management in 2010 comprised of the Managing Director 
and the managers responsible for the property management, business 
development, project implementation, HR, and accounts and finance 
functions. Property management is divided into two business areas, 
namely retail property and office property. The work of the Group 
man agement in 2011 has been characterised by measures in connec-
tion with, amongst other things, property transactions, finance issues, 

Board Meeting – February:
– Full year profit/loss
– Annual accounts
– Proposed allocation of profits
– Actions ahead of the Annual General Meting
– Feedback report from Auditors

Board Meeting – April:
– Preparations for Annual 
    General Meeting 

Board Meeting – May:
– Q1 report, forecast
– Managing Director’s instructions
– Policies
– Formal work plan

Board Meeting –June:
– Audit plan

Board Meeting – July:
– Q2 report

Board Meeting – September:
– Q2 report, forecast
– Vision, business concept, strategies
– Business intelligence analysis
– Budget preconditions

Board Meeting – October:
– Q3 report, forecast
– Feedback report from Auditors
– Financing strategy

Board Meeting – December:
– Budget, business and action plan
– Sustainability issues

Annual General Meeting – April Board Meeting following election – April:
– Subsidiary companies’ general meetings
– Boards of Directors
– Company signatories

Jan

Feb

Mars

April

Okt

Sep

Maj

Nov

Aug

Juni

Dec

Juli

THE BOARD OF DIRECTOR’S ANNUAL PLANNING, OVER AND ABOVE STANDING ITEMS  
such as investment decisions, situation reports on ongoing projects and management, liquidity and financing
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 ongoing investment projects and business development. The manage-
ment team members also deal with ongoing matters within their 
 respective functions. 
 In November 2010, after 8 years as Managing Director of Atrium 
Ljungberg, Anders Nylander announced that he had decided to resign 
his position. Ingalill Berglund (born 1964) took over as the company’s 
Managing Director on 8th April 2011. Ingalill Berglund joined Atrium 
Ljungberg in 2001 as the company’s CFO and has almost 20 years’ 
 experience in the property industry, gained at companies such as 
 Stadshypotek Fastigheter and Skolfastigheter i Stockholm, Sisab.  
Ingalill Berglund has no other significant directorships. She holds  
40,000 class B shares in Atrium Ljungberg and has no shareholdings 
in companies with which Atrium Ljungberg has significant commercial 
links.   
 The other members of the senior management are presented on  
page 99.

AUDITING

The	accounting	firm	of	Ernst	&	Young	AB	was	elected	at	the	2011	Annual	
General Meeting to act as auditors for Atrium Ljungberg for the period 
up to and including the end of the 2015 Annual General Meeting. Author-
ised Public Accountant, Jonas Svensson has been appointed as the audi-
tor in charge who will sign the Audit Report together with Authorised 
Public Accountant, Ingemar Rindstig.
 The auditing team has ongoing contact for information purposes 
with the company during the year, over and above the review activities 
conducted. The Board meets with the auditor at least twice a year, one of 
which meetings is held in the absence of the company management. The 
company’s auditors audit the annual financial statements and also carry 
out a review of the interim accounts as per 30th September. 

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee is the General Meeting’s organ for preparing 
the meeting’s resolutions on appointment-related issues and is tasked 
with providing a proficient basis for decision-making on behalf of the 
Meeting’s handling of these issues. The nomination committee is tasked 
with preparing and submitting proposals to the Annual General Meeting 
on the following issues:
•	 	the	election	of	the	Chairman	of	the	Meeting,	the	Chairman	of	the	

Board and other Members to the Board of Directors of the company; 
•	 	the	determination	of	Directors’	fees	for	the	Chairman	of	the	Board,	

other Board Members and Deputy Members, and any remuneration 
for committee work and, where relevant, the election and remunera-
tion of Auditors;

•	 	decisions	on	principles	relating	to	the	structure	of	the	Nomination	
Committee ahead of impending Annual General Meetings.

At the Annual General Meeting held on 7th April 2011, it was decided 
that the Nomination Committee for the 2012 Annual General Meeting 
should comprise representatives of the company’s five biggest share-
holders in terms of number of votes, as of 31st August 2011. The 
following persons have been appointed as members of the Nomination 
Committee: Gunilla Fjelde (also Chairperson of the Nomination Com-
mittee), representing the Holmström family, Eva Gottfridsdotter-Nilsson, 
representing Länsförsäkringar Fondförvaltning, Hans Hedström, 
representing Carnegie Fonder, Laszlo Kriss, representing the Stockholm 
Consumer Cooperative Society, and Johan Ljungberg, representing the 
Ljungberg family. 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, 2011
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Dag Klackenberg Chairman 2004 400,000 Yes Yes 1) 10 of 10

Sune Dahlqvist Member 2006 200,000 Yes No 2) 10 of 10

Thomas Evers Member 2011 200,000 Yes Yes 3) 6 of 10

Anna Hallberg Member 2009 200,000 Yes Yes 10 of 10

Ulf Holmlund Member 1983 200,000 Yes Yes 10 of 10

Johan Ljungberg Member 2001 200,000 Yes No 4), 5) 10 of 10

Anders Nylander Member 2011 200,000 No Yes 3) 6 of 10

Laszlo Kriss 2006 – Yes No 6), 7) 4 of 10

Mats Israelsson 2006 – Yes Yes 8) 4 of 10

*  Independent in relation to the company and the company management
* * Independent in relation to the company’s major shareholders

1) Chairman of the Board as of the 2011 Annual General Meeting.
2)  Chairman of the Stockholm Consumer Cooperative Society, which is one of the company’s 

major shareholders. Deputy Member, 2006–2011.
3) Member of the Board as of the 2011 Annual General Meeting. 
4) Deputy Member of the Board, 2001–2009.
5) Directly and/or indirectly a major shareholder in the company.
6)  Managing Director of the Stockholm Consumer Cooperative Society, which is one of the 

company’s major shareholders.
7) Member and Chairman up to the 2011 Annual General Meeting.
8) Member of the Board up to the 2011 Annual General Meeting.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, 2011  

Dag Klackenberg Chairman of the Board. Born 1948. Managing Director of the Swedish 
Trade Federation. Member of the Board since 2004. Other significant 
directorships: Chairman of the Boards of Ersta Sköndal högskola AB, 
Nyréns Arkitektkontor AB and AB Svensk Byggtjänst. Member of the 
Board of Scandbook AB Atrium Ljungberg shareholding: 4,000 class B 
shares. 

Sune Dahlqvist Member of the Board. Born 1948. Former Negotiations Manager for the 
Swedish Union of Tenants, Stockholm Region. Member of the Board 
since 2011. Deputy Member of the Board, 2006–2011. Other significant 
directorships: Chairman of the Board of Stockholm Consumer Coope-
rative Society. Member of the Boards of the Swedish Cooperative Union 
and Folksam Liv. Atrium Ljungberg shareholding: 1,000 class B shares.

Thomas Evers Member of the Board. Born 1957. LL.B. from University of Lund. 
Member of the Board since 2011. Lawyer and partner at Hellström 
Advokatbyrå. Took over the position of Senior Counsel at the Stockholm 
Consumer Cooperative Society in the spring of 2012. No other signifi-
cant directorships. No shareholding in Atrium Ljungberg. 

Anna Hallberg Member	of	the	Board.	Born	1963.	Economics	&	Law	graduate	of	the	
Gothenburg School of Economics and Business Administration. Deputy 
Managing Director and CFO of Almi Företagspartner AB. Member of the 
Board since 2009. Other significant directorships: Member of the Boards of 
Högskolan Väst and companies within the Almi Group. Atrium Ljungberg 
shareholding: 2,000 class B shares. 

Ulf Holmlund Member of the Board. Born 1947. Graduate Engineer. Managing 
Director of LjungbergGruppen AB between 1983 and 2003. Member of 
the Board since 1983. Other significant directorships: Member of the 
Boards of NCC AB, Anticimex Holding AB and Nordstjernan Industri-
utveckling AB. Atrium Ljungberg shareholding: 380,000 class A shares 
and 462,080 class B shares.

Johan Ljungberg Member of the Board. Born 1972. Graduate Engineer. Managing Direc-
tor of Tagehus AB. Member of the Board since 2009. Deputy Member 
of the Board between 2001 and 2009, and Member of the Board for 
part of 2006. Other significant directorships: Member of the Boards of 
companies within the Tagehus Group. Atrium Ljungberg shareholding: 
1,206,400 class A shares and 4,747,600 class B shares.

Anders Nylander Member of the Board. Born 1952. Graduate Engineer. Managing Director 
of Atrium Ljungberg between 2003 and 2011.Member of the Board since 
2011. Other significant directorships: Chairman of the Board of Kista 
Science City AB. Member of the Boards of the Electrum Foundation, Kjell 
&	Company,	and	Usports.	Member	of	the	City	of	Stockholm	Advisory	
Board	for	Trade	&	Industry	issues.	Atrium	Ljungberg	shareholding:	
121,600 class B shares. 
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The Board of Directors is, subject to the provisions of the Swedish Com-
panies Act and the Swedish Code of Corporate Governance, responsible 
for the company’s internal control. This section describes the way in 
which the internal control of financial reporting works.
 

CONTROL ENVIRONMENT

The control environment forms the basis for the company’s internal 
 control and includes, amongst other things, the values and corporate 
culture communicated by the Board and the management. Clarity with 
regard to decision-making paths, responsibility and authority is an 
important part of the control environment, as is ensuring that steering 
documents in the form of policies, routines and manuals address signifi-
cant areas and provide sufficient guidance. The company’s values and 
objectives are well-known by all employees as they are always com-
municated during the twice yearly meetings of the entire workforce. The 
control environment in Atrium Ljungberg is characterised by decentra-
lised, operationally-proximate work in all functions. In addition to the 
company management and Managing director, there is a further man-
age ment level in place. Stringent demands are imposed with regard to 
both  competence and commitment on the part of all employees. Atrium 
Ljungberg works to ensure that competence is maintained through 
 ongoing performance reviews during which training requirements, etc., 
are identified. Reliability is one of the company’s most important values. 
The Group is comprised of 51 companies that own a total of 54 proper-
ties. Each property constitutes a profit centre and is part of a market 
area, for which a market area manager has profit responsibility. The 
market area manager reports to a business area director who is part 
of the senior management team. Complete financial statements are 
pre pared for each individual property and company at the end of each 
quarter. There are a total of four accounting managers within the Group 
who are responsible for preparing these financial statements in coopera-
tion with the organisation as a whole. In addition, analyses and checks 
are carried out by the company’s CFO, senior controller and four control-
lers. Budgets, profit analyses, and forecasts are produced at least five 
times a year for each property and are prepared in consultation between 
the market area manager, the business area director, the accounting ma-
nagers, and the senior controller. The financial reporting guidelines are 
updated as legislative and accounting principles change and knowledge 
of these changes is ensured through ongoing information gathering and 
dialogue with the company’s Auditors.

RISK ASSESSMENT AND CONTROL ACTIVITIES

Risk assessment means that Atrium Ljungberg has identified the work 
processes and Income Statement and Balance Sheet items where there 
is a risk that inaccuracy, incompleteness, or improprieties could arise if 
the requisite control activities are not built into the routines. Risk assess-
ment accordingly analyses whether errors could occur and, if so, how 
and where they could occur in the process. Areas analysed include, for 
example, whether assets and liabilities exist on a given date, whether 
they are reported and valued correctly, whether a commercial trans-
action actually occurred, and whether items are correctly reported in 
accordance with legislative and statutory requirements. Risk assessment 
pays particular attention to the risk of impropriety and improper use of 
another part of the company’s costs and the risk of loss and misappropri-
ation of assets. During the risk assessment conducted every year by 

the company, processes in connection with preparation of the financial 
statements, routines in connection with property transactions, property 
valuations project accounting, financing activities, processes concern ing 
rental income, tax and VAT reporting, authorisation and payment control 
and IT systems have been among the issues analysed. This work has 
resulted in a number of control goals being defined for the risks that have 
been identified. A number of control activities have been introduced in 
order to prevent inaccuracies occurring and with the aim of ensuring that 
the control goals are fulfilled. The work on risk assessment and struc-
turing of control activities has been conducted by individuals in volved in 
the respective processes on an ongoing basis, in cooperation with the 
company’s CFO and controllers, in order to ensure participation and an 
understanding of the risks and the importance of conducting internal 
controls. Internally, the company also works continuously to evaluate and 
enhance the efficiency of its control activities. The controls are carried 
out both at overall level, through analyses of results and key ratios, and at 
a detailed level by defining a number of control points in the ongoing pro-
cesses and routine descriptions. The biggest single risk lies in assess ing 
the market value of the properties and Forum Fastighetsekonomi, CBRE 
and Savills, which quality assure the valuation, are consequently used 
during the valuation process.

INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION

Regulations, policies and routine descriptions that apply to the company’s 
control activities are available on the company’s intranet. They are 
introduced in accordance with a plan adopted for all new employees. 
The company’s managers have ongoing responsibility for communica-
ting and providing information on these matters within their respective 
departments, and all employees are responsible for ensuring they keep 
themselves up to date with these regulations. There is also an ongoing 
information exchange between different functions within the company 
in order to ensure that information with regard to financial reporting is 
communicated efficiently and correctly. An information policy has been 
established and regulates the way in which information is published in 
order to ensure that external communication with the stock market is 
correct.  

FOLLOW-UP WORK

All process descriptions, policies and steering documents are updated as 
necessary, but at least once a year. An evaluation of the internal controls 
is also conducted every year. Both the senior management and the Board 
of Directors are notified of the results. Atrium Ljungberg has no internal 
audit department. The system for internal controls is followed up by the 
Group’s CFO, Accounting Managers, the company’s controllers (who have 
specialist competence), and through self-evaluation. These controls 
are deemed to be both necessary and sufficient to generate appropriate 
knowledge, feedback of experience and high quality in the ongoing ac-
countancy work, and hence in the financial reporting. The company’s 
Auditors also conduct ongoing reviews of the company’s internal controls, 
and the Board of Directors accordingly believes that the establishment of 
a separate internal audit function is not motivated.

INTERNAL CONTROL
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
ST
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G ULF HOLMLUND

Born 1947. Graduate Engineer. Managing 
Director of LjungbergGruppen AB between 
1983 and 2003. Member of the Board since 
1983. Other significant directorships: Member 
of the Boards of NCC AB, Anticimex Holding 
AB and Nordstjernan Industriutveckling AB. 
Atrium Ljungberg shareholding: 380,000 class 
A shares and 462,080 class B shares.

DAG KLACKENBERG
Born 1948. Managing Director of the Swedish 
Trade Federation. Member of the Board since 
2004. Other significant directorships: Chair-
man of the Boards of Ersta Sköndal högskola 
AB, Nyréns Arkitektkontor AB and AB Svensk 
Byggtjänst. Member of the Board of Scand-
book. AB Atrium Ljungberg shareholding: 
4,000 class B shares.

ANNA HALLBERG
Born	1963.	Economics	&	Law	graduate	of	
the Gothenburg School of Economics and 
Business Administration. Deputy Managing 
Director and CFO of Almi Företagspartner AB. 
Member of the Board since 2009. Other sig-
nificant directorships: Member of the Boards 
of Högskolan Väst and companies within the 
Almi Group. Atrium Ljungberg shareholding: 
2,000 class B shares.

ANDERS NYLANDER
Born 1952. Graduate Engineer. Managing 
Director of Atrium Ljungberg between 2003 
and 2011. Member of the Board since 2011. 
Other significant directorships: Chairman of 
the Board of Kista Science City AB. Member of 
the Boards of the Electrum Foundation, Kjell 
&	Company,	and	Usports.	Member	of	the	City	
of	Stockholm	Advisory	Board	for	Trade	&	In-
dustry issues. Atrium Ljungberg shareholding: 
121,600 class B shares.

SE
AT

ED JOHAN LJUNGBERG
Born 1972. Graduate Engineer. Managing 
Director of Tagehus AB. Member of the Board 
since 2009. Deputy Member of the Board 
between 2001 and 2009, and Member of the 
Board for part of 2006. Other significant direc-
torships: Member of the Boards of companies 
within the Tagehus Group. Atrium Ljungberg 
shareholding: 1,206,400 class A shares and 
4,747,600 class B shares. 

SUNE DAHLQVIST
Born 1948. Former Negotiations Manager 
for the Swedish Union of Tenants, Stockholm 
Region. Member of the Board since 2011. De-
puty Member of the Board, 2006–2011. Other 
significant directorships: Chairman of the 
Board of Stockholm Consumer Cooperative 
Society. Member of the Boards of the Swedish 
Cooperative Union and Folksam Liv. Atrium 
Ljungberg shareholding: 1,000 class B shares.

THOMAS EVERS
Born 1957. LL.B. from University of Lund. 
Member of the Board since 2011. Lawyer 
and partner at Hellström Advokatbyrå. Took 
over the position of Senior Counsel at the 
Stockholm Consumer Cooperative Society 
in the spring of 2012. No other significant 
directorships. No shareholding in Atrium 
Ljungberg.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT, 2011
ST
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G KRISTINA JOHNSON

Born 1962. Former Business Area Director, 
Retail. Member of the senior management 
team until January 2012. Resigned her 
position in January 2012. No shareholding in 
Atrium Ljungberg. 

CAROLA LAVÉN
Born 1972. Business Development  
Director. Employed by the Atrium Ljungberg 
Group  since 2003. No shareholding in  
Atrium  Ljungberg.

MAGNUS ALTESKOG
Born 1965. Project development Director.  
Employed by the Atrium Ljungberg Group 
since 1999. Atrium Ljungberg shareholding: 
28,700 class B shares. 

ANNICA ÅNÄS
Born1971. CFO. Employed by the Atrium 
Ljungberg Group since 2011, also employed 
between 2008 – 2010. Atrium Ljungberg  
shareholding: 2,500 class B shares.

SE
AT

ED MICAEL AVERBORG
Born 1965. Business Area Director, Offices. 
Employed by the Atrium Ljungberg Group 
since 2000. Atrium Ljungberg shareholding: 
1,500 class B shares.

INGALILL BERGLUND
Born1964. MD. Employed by the Atrium  
Ljungberg Group since 2001. Managing 
 Director of the company since 2011.Twenty 
years’ experience of the property sector. No 
other significant directorships outside the 
company. Atrium Ljungberg shareholding: 
40, 000 class B shares.

HELENA MARTINI
Born 1965. HR Director. Employed by the  
Atrium Ljungberg Group since 2010. 
No shareholding in Atrium Ljungberg.
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REMUNERATION TO SENIOR EXECUTIVES

The General Meeting lays down the guidelines for remuneration to 
senior executives. Atrium Ljungberg’s principles governing the remune-
ration payable to senior executives states that salaries and other terms 
and conditions of employment for the company’s senior management 
team shall be on market conditions and be competitive, but not market-
leading in relation to other comparable companies. 
 The Annual General Meeting held in April 2011 resolved that the 
guidelines for remuneration to senior executives adopted at the 2010 
Annual General Meeting shall continue to apply. The guidelines are as 
follows: 
 The guidelines shall apply for the senior management team which 
consists of the Managing Director and six Business Area Managers. The 
Managing Director’s remuneration shall be determined by the Board 
of Directors. Remuneration payable to other members of the senior 
management team shall be proposed by the Managing Director and 
approved by the Board. Remuneration payable to the senior company 
management team, including the Managing Director, comprises a fixed 
salary. No variable salary of performance-related remuneration shall 
be payable. The Managing Director’s retirement age is 60, while the re-
tirement age for other members of the senior management team is 65. 
Pension plans are defined contribution plans, and the company hence 
has no additional obligations after payment of the annual premiums.
 In the event of the termination of his/her position of employment by 
the company, the Managing Director of the parent company and the 
Managing Director of the TL Bygg subsidiary company shall be entitled 

to severance pay corresponding to one year’s annual salary. The notice 
period, if notice is given by the company, shall be 12 months. Other 
members of the senior management team have a period of notice of up 
to 6 months. No entitlement to severance pay, other than that described 
above, exists. The terms and conditions that the company applies to 
other employees in the group, either in accordance with collective agree-
ments or in accordance with unilateral commitments by the company 
to the employees, otherwise apply for the senior management team. 
Departure from the above-mentioned guidelines by the Board of Direc-
tors is permitted if there are specific grounds for so doing in a particular 
instance.
 The proposal by the Board of Directors ahead of the 2012 Annual 
General Meeting is essentially the same as in previous years with the 
following amendments: the retirement age for the Managing Director 
shall be 62. In the event of notice being given by the company, the Man-
aging Director of the Parent Company and the Managing Director of the 
subsidiary company, TL Bygg AB, shall be entitled to a 12 month notice 
period. The Managing Director shall in the event of notice of termination 
being given by the company, be entitled to severance pay corresponding 
to 6 months’ pay. No other entitlement to severance pay exists. 

REMUNERATION TO THE BOARD

The fees payable to the Members of the Board elected by the Annual 
General Meeting are decided by the Annual General Meeting in line with 
proposals by the Nomination Committee. All of the Board Members are 
also members of the Audit Committee.

REMUNERATION

REMUNERATION, 2011 (SEK K)

Basic 
salary/fee

Other 
 remuneration

Other 
 benefits

Pension  
cost

Share-related 
remuneration Total

Senior management
Anders Nylander Managing Director 1,636 – 10 391 – 2,037
Ingalill Berglund Managing Director 1,783 – 40 999 – 2,822
Other senior executives 7,001 50 252 1,506 – 8,809

Board of Directors
Dag Klackenberg Chairman 400 – – – – 400
Anders Nylander Member 200 – – – – 200
Anna Hallberg Member 200 – – – – 200
Johan Ljungberg Member 200 – – – – 200
Sune Dahlqvist Member 200 – – – – 200
Thomas Evers Member 200 – – – – 200
Ulf Holmlund Member 200 – – – – 200
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Amounts in SEK m Note 2011 2010
Rental income 5 1,686.3 1,613.5
Project and construction work sales 331.8 322.9
Net sales 2 2,018.1 1,936.4

Property management, costs
  Service charge-related costs –180.0 –183.4
  Other operating costs –122.0 –124.3
  Management costs –117.1 –112.3
  Repairs –38.2 –34.8
  Property tax –99.4 –92.5
  Leasehold fees –26.4 –28.0
  Non-deductible VAT    –8.2 –8.7

6,7,8,9 –591.3 –584.0

Project and construction work costs –317.0 –313.5

Gross profit 1,109.8 1,038.9

– of which gross profit property management (operating surplus) 1,095.0 1,029.5
– of which gross profit project and construction work 10 14.8 9.4

Central administration, property management –44.1 –45.4
Central administration, project and construction work –12.2 –11.9

3,7,8,9 –56.3 –57.3

Financial income 12 10.6 7.7
Financial expenses 12 –369.7 –320.6

–359.1 –313.0

Profit/loss before changes in value 694.4 668.6

Changes in value 
Properties, unrealised 15 528.3 525.1
Properties, realised 2.0 14.2
Write-downs, goodwill 13 – –16.9

530.3 522.4

Profit/loss before tax 1,224.7 1,191.1

Current tax 14 –1.5 –23.5
Deferred tax 14 –318.7 –252.1

–320.2 –275.5

Profit/loss after tax 904.5 915.5

Other comprehensive income
Cash flow hedging 30, 32 –204.6 82.4
Tax attributable to other reported income and expenses 53.8 –21.5
Total other comprehensive income –150.8 60.9

Total comprehensive income for the year 753.7 976.4

Earnings per share, SEK 6.95 7.03
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Amounts in SEK m Note 31-12-11 31-12-10
ASSETS
Fixed assets
Investment properties 15, 16 21,896.7 19,939.7
Tangible fixed assets 19 23.8 10.3
Goodwill 13 389.8 389.8
Participations in associated companies 20 0.1 0.1
Deferred tax receivable 27 26.4 –
Other long-term receivables 22 0.7 154.9
Total fixed assets 22,337.5 20,494.8

Current assets
Accounts receivable 23 81.2 72.9
Tax receivables 176.4 91.9
Other receivables 24 209.4 25.0
Prepaid costs and accrued income 25 97.1 85.7
Liquid assets 28, 29 274.2 439.3
Total current assets 838.3 714.8

Total assets 23,175.8 21,209.6
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Amounts in SEK m Note 31-12-11 31-12-10

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 333.0 333.0
Other capital contributed 3,959.8 3,959.8
Provisions –163.7 –12.9
Profits brought forward including net profit/loss for the year 5,411.4 4,819.3
Total shareholders’ equity attributable to the  
Parent Company’s shareholders 9,540.5 9,099.2

Long-term liabilities
Deferred tax liability 27 2,612.5 2,320.4
Liabilities to credit institutions 28, 29 7,839.6 7,373.6
Other long-term liabilities 30 241.8 47.9
Warranty provision 2.1 1.9
Total long-term liabilities 10,696.0 9,743.8

Current liabilities
Liabilities to credit institutions 28, 29 1,881.3 1,736.9
Accounts payable  149.5 114.6
Other liabilities 32 384.7 12.0
Accrued costs and prepaid income 31 523.8 503.2
Total current liabilities 2,939.3 2,366.7

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 23,175.8 21,209.6

MEMORANDUM ITEMS
Collateral pledged for liabilities to credit institutions
Property mortgages 10,078.3 9,443.3

Other collateral pledged
Floating charges 10.0 10.0

10,088.3 9,453.3
Guarantee engagements
Guarantee undertakings 0.1 0.1

Contingent liabilities
Review of tax demand re. property transaction by limited partnership 33 91.5 91.8
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CHANGES	IN	SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY	 
– THE GROUP

 Attributable to the Parent Company shareholders

Amounts in SEK m Share capital
Other capital 

contributed 
Hedging 

 provisions
Profits brought 

forward

Profits brought 
forward incl. 

comprehensive 
income

Total share-
holders’ 

equity
Opening balance, as per 1st January 2010 333.0 3,959.8 –73.8 4,196.6 4,122.8 8,415.6
Change in shareholders’ equity, 2010
Total comprehensive income for the period, 
1st January–31st December 60.9 915.5 976.4 976.4
Dividend, SEK 2.25/share –292.9 –292.9 –292.9

Closing balance as per 31st December 2010 333.0 3,959.8 –12.9 4,819.3 4,806.4 9,099.2

Change in shareholders’ equity, 2011
Total comprehensive income for the period, 
1st January–31st December –150.8 904.5 753.7 753.7
Dividend, SEK 2.40/share –312.4 –312.4 –312.4

Closing balance as per 31st December 2011 333.0 3,959.8 –163.7 5,411.4 5,247,7 9,540.5

There are a total of 133,220,736 (133,220,736), of which 4,000,000 (4,000,000) are class A shares and 129,220,736 (129,220,736) are class B shares. 
One class A share grants entitlement to ten votes and one class B share grants entitlement to one vote. At the period end, there were a total of 
130,156,988 (130,156,988) outstanding shares, which corresponds to the average number of outstanding shares. The company holds 3,063,748 
(3,063,748) of its own class B shares.
 The nominal value of the share is SEK 2.5.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW

Amounts in SEK m Note 2011 2010
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/loss before tax 1,224.7 1,191.1
Reversal of depreciation and write-downs 13, 19 4.3 19.8
Realised changes in value, investment properties –2.0 –14.2
Unrealised changes in value, investment properties 15 –528.3 –525.1
Tax paid –86.0 –38.7
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital 612.7 632.9
Increase/decrease in current receivables –46.9 42.2
Increase/decrease in current liabilities 73.9 –4.0
Change in working capital 27.0 38.2

Cash flow from operating activities 639.7 671.1

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
Change in other receivables – –12.0
Purchases of machinery and equipment –17.8 –4.1
Reconstruction and new construction of properties 15 –1,049.8 –1,047.0
Acquisition of properties 1) 15 –36.8 –34.6
Sales of properties – 303.5
Cash flow from investment activities –1,104.4 –794.2

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Change in other long-term receivables 1.6 4.1
Loans raised 28 635.5 972.4
Amortisation of debts 28 –25.1 –353.8
Dividend paid –312.4 –292.9
Cash flow from financing activities 299.6 329.8
Cash flow for the year –165.1 206.7
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 439.3 232.6
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 274.2 439.3

Information on interest paid
Interest received totalled 10.7 9.3
Interest paid totalled   –370.0 –345.0

Information on liquid assets at the end of the year
Bank deposits ex. blocked funds 274.2 439.3

1)  The Sicklaön 115:3, 115:4, 117:5 and 117:7 properties were acquired during 2011. The acquisition of the remaining 50 per cent of the Blästern 6 
property completed during Q4 2011 had no effect on the cash flow for 2011 as possession was not taken until Q1 2012. The Sicklaön 117:1 and 
117:2 properties were acquired in 2010.
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OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME

Amounts in SEK m Note 2011 2010

Net profit/loss for the year 58.4 134.3

Cash flow hedging 30, 32 –204.6 82.4
Tax attributable to  
cash flow hedging 53.8 –21.5
Total other comprehensive 
income –150.8 60.9

Total comprehensive income  
for the year –92.4 195.3

INCOME STATEMENTS   
–	PARENT	COMPANY

Amounts in SEK m Note 2011 2010

Net sales 246.8 264.8
Management and  
production costs 7,8,9 –122.3 –123.7
Gross profit/loss 10 124.5 141.1

Central administration  
and marketing 3,7,8,9 –43.7 –45.1
Operating profit/loss 4,5,6 80.8 96.0

Result of participations  
in Group companies 11 170.5 137.1
Interest income and  
similar P/L items 12 227.4 399.1
Interest expenses and  
similar P/L items 12 –397.7 –447.7

0.2 88.5

Profit/loss after financial items 81.0 184.5
Appropriations 26 –2.3 –1.2

Current tax 14 – –24.9
Deferred tax 14 –20.3 –24.1

–20.3 –49.0

Net profit/loss for the year 58.4 134.3

Dividend per share, SEK  
(2011, proposed) 2.60 2.40
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BALANCE SHEETS   
–	PARENT	COMPANY

Amounts in SEK m Note 31-12-11 31-12-10
ASSETS
Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Buildings, land and land 
improvements 16, 17 1,705.9 1,721.8
Ongoing new construction, 
extension and reconstruction work 18 85.7 24.5
Machinery and equipment 19 15.1 3.6
Total tangible fixed assets 1,806.7 1,749.9

Financial fixed assets 29
Participations in Group companies 21 6,029.4 5,848.8
Total financial fixed assets 6,029.4 5,848.8

Total fixed assets 7,836.1 7,598.7

Current assets
Accounts receivable 23 3.4 1.1
Receivables from  
Group companies 4, 29 3,595.3 3,668.0
Tax receivables 76.4 73.8
Other receivables 24 6.8 2.6
Prepaid costs and  
accrued income 25 14.3 12.5
Liquid assets 28, 29 202.5 382.8
Total current assets 3,898.7 4.140.8

Total assets 11,734.8 11,739.6

Amounts in SEK m Note 31-12-11 31-12-10
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  
AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ equity

Restricted shareholders’ equity
Share capital (133,220,736 
 shares, nominal value: SEK 2.5) 333.0 333.0
Statutory reserve 265.4 265.4

598.4 598.4
Non-restricted shareholders’ 
equity
Fair value fund –163.7 –12.9
Share premium reserve 3,948.4 3,948.4
Profit brought forward 1,149.6 1,327.6
Net profit/loss for the year 58.4 134.3

4,992.7 5,397.5

Total shareholders’ equity 5,591.1 5,995.9

Untaxed reserves 26 21.4 29.1

Provisions
Deferred tax liability 27 200.9 234.4

Long-term liabilities
Liabilities to credit institutions 28 3,948.5 3,873.6
Other long-term liabilities 30 236.3 29.5

4,184.8 3,903.1

Current liabilities 29
Liabilities to credit institutions 28 786.4 700.2
Accounts payable 14.4 12.5
Liabilities to Group companies 4, 29 839.3 740.8
Tax liabilities - 25.7
Other liabilities 32 10.0 15.2
Accrued costs and prepaid 
income 31 86.5 82.8

1,736.6 1,577.2

Total shareholders’ equity and 
liabilities 11,734.8 11,739.6

MEMORANDUM ITEMS
Collateral pledged for liabilities 
to credit institutions
Property mortgages 1,431.8 1,276.8
Property mortgages made 
 available by subsidiary companies 3,490.5 3,016.5

4,922.3 4,293.3
Guarantee engagements
Guarantee undertakings for sub-
sidiary companies 1,400.0 875.0
Liabilities as limited partner in 
limited partnerships 104.1 92.0

1 504,1 967,0



108   
ATRIUM LJUNGBERG ANNUAL REPORT 2011

CHANGES	IN	SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY	 
–	PARENT	COMPANY

Amounts in SEK m Note
Share 

capital
Statutory 

reserve
Fair value 

fund

Share 
premium 

reserve

Profits  
brought  
forward

Profits brought 
forward incl. 

comprehensive 
income

Total share-
holders’ 

equity
Opening balance as per 1st January 2010 333.0 265.4 –73.8 3,948.4 1,620.5 1,546.7 6,093.5
Total comprehensive income for the period 
from 1st January – 31st December 60.9 134.4 195.3 195.3
Dividend, SEK 2.25/share –292.9 –292.9 –292.9
Closing balance, as per  
31st December 2010 333.0 265.4 –12.9 3,948.4 1,462.0 1,449.1 5,995.9

Total comprehensive income for the period 
from 1st January – 31st December –150.8 58.4 –92.4 –92.4
Dividend, SEK 2.40/share –312.4 –312.4 –312.4
Closing balance, as per  
31st December 2011 333.0 265.4 –163.7 3,948.4  1,208.0 1,044.3 5,591.1

There are a total of 133,220,736 (133,220,736), of which 4 000 000 (4 000 000) are class A shares and 129,220,736 (129,220,736) are class B shares. One 
class A share grants entitlement to ten votes and one class B share grants entitlement to one vote. At the period end, there were a total of 130,156,988 
(130,156,988) outstanding shares, which corresponds to the average number of outstanding shares. The company holds 3,063,748 (3,063,748) of its own 
class B shares.
 The nominal value of the share is SEK 2.5.

Amounts in SEK m Note 2011 2010
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/loss after financial items 81.0 184.5
Reversal of depreciation and 
write-downs 17, 19 21.1 21.0
Other items not included in the 
cash flow –81.6 –174.3
Tax paid –28.3 –32.0
Cash flow from operating 
activities before changes in 
working capital –7.8 –0.8

Increase/decrease in current 
receivables 65.0 238.8
Increase/decrease in current 
liabilities 0.0 2.0
Change in working capital 65.0 240.8
Cash flow from operating 
activities 57.2 240.0

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
Purchases/sales of machinery and 
equipment –13.7 –4.4
Reconstruction and new 
construction of properties –73.5 –17.8
Cash flow from investment 
activities –87.2 –22.2

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW –	PARENT	COMPANY
Amounts in SEK m Note 2011 2010
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Change in other long-term 
liabilities 0.9 2.5
Loans raised 28 185.7 284.5
Amortisation of debts 28 –24.5 –
Dividend paid –312.4 –292.9
Cash flow from financing 
activities –150.3 –5.9
Cash flow for the year –180.3 211.9
Liquid assets at the beginning of 
the year 28, 29 382.8 170.9
Liquid assets at the end of the 
year 28, 29 202.5 382.8

Information on interest paid
Interest received totalled 227.0 214.0
Interest paid totalled –308.9 –325.1

Information on liquid assets at 
the end of the year
Bank deposits 202.5 382.8
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SUPPLEMENTARY	INFORMATION	 
– NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

NOTE 1. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

General information
Atrium Ljungberg AB (publ.), company ID no.: 556175-7047, is a limited 
 company registered in Sweden with registered offices in Nacka and a 
street address of Sickla Industriväg 19, SE-131 04 Nacka. Atrium Ljung-
berg’s class B share has been listed on the NASDAQ OMX Stockholm 
Exchange since 1994. Atrium Ljungberg shall engage in the long-term 
ownership, development and management of retail properties, office 
properties and full-service environments in strong subsidiary  markets, 
primarily in large urban regions, and shall engage in project and construc-
tion activities. The consolidated  accounts in respect of the 2011 financial 
year were approved for  publication by the Board of Directors on 24th 
February 2012. It is proposed that the Income Statement and Balance 
Sheet contained in the Annual Accounts be adopted at the Annual General 
Meeting held on 29th March 2012.

CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The Consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) approved by the EU and 
with the interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 
Inter pretations Committee (IFRIC) as of 31st December 2011. The Consoli-
dated accounts have also been prepared in accordance with Swedish law 
through the application of RFR 1, Complementary accounting regulations 
for  corporate groups, issued by the Swedish Accounting Standards Board.
 Assets and liabilities are reported at historic acquisition values, with 
the exception of investment properties and derivative instruments, which 
are valued and reported at fair value. The consolidated accounting prin-
ciples described have been applied consistently to all periods presented 
in the Group’s financial reports, unless otherwise indicated below. The 
functional currency of the Parent Company is the Swedish krona, which 
is also the reporting currency for the Parent Company and the Group. All 
amounts are shown in SEK million unless otherwise indicated. 
 The Parent Company applies the same accounting principles as the 
Group with the exceptions and additions indicated below in the section 
entitled  “Parent Company accounting principles”. The Parent Company 
complies with the provisions of the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and the 
RFR2 recommendation, Accounting for Legal Entities, issued by the Swed-
ish Accounting Standards Board and hence the Parent Company shall, in 
its annual accounts for the legal entity, apply all of the IFRS standards and 
pronouncements  approved by the EU wherever this is possible within the 
framework of the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and the Swedish Pension 
Obligations Vesting Act and with reference to the link between accounting 
and taxation.  

Consolidated accounts 
The Consolidated accounts comprise the Parent Company, Atrium 
 Ljungberg AB, and the companies over which the Parent Company has a 
controlling influence (subsidiary companies). The term, controlling influ-
ence, refers to the right to formulate strategies for an economic concern 
in order to achieve financial gain and is normally achieved when the Parent 
Company, either directly or indirectly, owns shares that represent more 
than 50 per cent of the votes. Controlling influence can also be exercised 
in ways other than through share ownership. 

 The results of subsidiary companies acquired or sold during the year 
are included in the Consolidated Income Statement from and until (incl.) 
the date when the transaction occurred, i.e. when the controlling influence 
ceased to obtain. 
 If the accounting principles of the subsidiary companies deviate from 
those of the Group, the subsidiary companies accounting is adjusted to 
comply with the same principles as other Group companies. 
 Internal transactions between Group companies and intra-Group trans-
actions are eliminated in conjunction with the preparation of the consoli-
dated accounts. 
 Minority interests comprise that part of the result and the net assets 
of a jointly owned company that accrue to other owners. The minority 
interest’s share of the result is included in the Consolidated Income State-
ment’s profit/loss after tax. The percentage of the net assets is included 
in shareholders’ equity in the Consolidated Balance Sheet but is reported 
separately from the shareholders’ equity attributable to the Parent Com-
pany’s shareholders.

Operational acquisitions
Acquisitions of subsidiary companies are reported using the acquisition 
 accounting method. The acquisition value of an acquisition comprises 
the fair value on the transaction date of assets paid, of liabilities arising 
or assumed, and of the shareholders’ equity instruments issued by the 
acquiring party in return for controlling influence over the acquired unit. 
Acquired and identi fiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are 
valued at fair value on the acquisition date.  
 If the acquisition value of the participations acquired exceeds the sum 
of the fair value of acquired and identifiable assets, liabilities and contin-
gent  liabilities, the difference is reported as goodwill. If the acquisition 
cost is lower than the fair value calculated in the manner described above, 
the difference is reported directly in the Income Statement. 
 Minority interests are reported showing the minority owners’ propor-
tional share of the reported fair value of assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities. Any difference between the acquisition value of the participa-
tions acquired and the fair value of acquired and identified assets and lia-
bilities in conjunction with the acquisition of minority holdings is reported 
directly to share holders’ equity.  

Asset acquisitions
When a group of assets or net assets that do not constitute a commercial 
operation are acquired, the acquisition value for the Group is spread over 
the individual identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative 
fair values on the acquisition date. 

Goodwill
Goodwill arising in conjunction with the preparation of the Consolidated 
accounts comprises the difference between the acquisition value and the 
Group’s share of the fair value of an acquired subsidiary company’s or 
associated company’s identifiable assets on the acquisition date. Goodwill 
reported within the Group is attributable to the difference between nominal 
tax and calculated tax applied in conjunction with operational acquisitions.
 Goodwill is reported on the acquisition date to the acquisition value 
and after the first set of accounts, it is valued at the acquisition value after 
 deductions for any write-downs.
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 When conducting impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the 
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies 
arising in conjunction with the acquisition. Goodwill impairment testing 
shall be carried out annually, or more frequently if there is any indication 
that the reported value may not be recoverable. If the recovery value of a 
cash- generating unit is determined to be lower than the reported value, 
the write-down amount shall be allocated, starting with a reduction in 
the value of goodwill attributed to the cash-generating unit, followed by 
a reduction in the reported value of goodwill attributable to other assets 
within a unit. Any reported write-downs of goodwill may not be reversed in 
a subsequent period.
 The remaining reported value of goodwill is taken into account when 
calculating the capital gain or loss in conjunction with the sale of a sub-
sidiary company or associated company.

Associated companies
Shareholdings in associated companies in which the Group has a mini-
mum and maximum holding of 20 per cent and 50 per cent,  respectively, 
are reported using the equity method. Under the equity method, participa-
tions in associated companies are reported at the acquisition value on the 
acquisition date and subsequently adjusted by the Group’s share of the 
change in the associated company’s net assets. The Group’s book value of 
the shares in the associated companies corresponds to the Group’s share 
in the associated companies’ shareholders’ equity and any residual value 
of consolidated surplus and deficit values. Participations in associated 
companies are reported in Note 20.  

Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises rents and remuneration for external project and 
construc tion activities. All lease contracts are classified as operational 
leasing agreements. Rental income is distributed linearly over the term 
of the contract other than when the terms of the lease contract are such 
that a different form of distribution would better reflect the way in which 
the economic benefits attributable to the letting of the investment property 
change over time. Rental payments in advance are reported as prepaid 
income. The gross rent includes items in respect of costs passed on for 
property tax, electricity and heating. Rent discounts have been distributed 
over the term of the contracts. Net sales-based rent has been estimated 
in the closing accounts on the basis of reported net sales data. Net sales-
based rent is determined in subsequent years once tenants’ auditors have 
determined the tenants’ net sales. Any difference between the determined 
and estimated annual rent is reported as an amended determination in the 
period in which the annual rent is determined. 
 Project and construction revenue is reported as the project progresses, 
i.e. in accordance with so-called successive revenue recognition. The 
 degree of recognition – the degree of completion – is primarily determined 
on the basis of project costs expended in relation to the estimated total 
engagement expenses in conjunction with completion. If the result of a 
project cannot be reliably calculated, a revenue is recognised that cor-
responds to expenses disbursed as of the closing day. Anticipated losses 
are reported immediately as a cost. The difference between recognised 
project revenue and as yet uninvoiced amounts is reported as an asset in 
accordance with the successive revenue recognition method. Equally, the 

difference between an invoiced amount and as yet unrecognised project 
revenue is reported as a liability.  
 Dividend income is reported when the shareholders’ right to receive 
payment has been confirmed. 
 Interest income is reported over the interest term, applying the effec-
tive interest method. Effective interest is the interest that ensures that the 
current value of all future payments received and made during the fixed 
interest term is the same as the reported value of the receivable.

Leasing
A leasing agreement is an agreement whereby a lessor grants a lessee the 
right, on agreed terms and conditions for a contractually agreed period of 
time, to make use of an asset in return for payment. Leasing is classified 
as either financial or operational leasing in the Consolidated accounts. A 
financial leasing agreement exists when the economic risks and benefits 
associated with ownership are transferred, in every significant respect, 
to the lessee. If this is not the case, then the agreement is an operational 
leasing agreement. 
 Atrium Ljungberg is the lessor in conjunction with the granting of 
 premises to tenants and lessees for vehicles and leasehold fees. Details of 
these agreements are shown in Notes 5 and 6. All leasing agreements are 
classi fied as operational leasing agreements in that a significant portion 
of the risks and benefits associated with ownership are retained by the 
 lessor. Income and expenses in respect of leasing agreements are distrib-
uted  linearly over the leasing period. Benefits received in conjunction with  
the signing of a leasing agreement are reported linearly in the Income 
Statement over the term of the leasing agreement. Increased leasing fees 
are distributed over the term of the leasing agreement.  

Segment reporting
The Atrium Ljungberg Group’s reportable segments comprise the property 
management and project and construction activities operating sectors. 
Property management is divided up by geographical market, properties 
sold and project properties. The identification of reportable segments is 
based on the internal reporting to the most senior  executive decision maker 
which, for Atrium Ljungberg, is deemed to be the Managing Director. The 
Group is managed and reported on the basis of the result measurement of 
gross profit divided by the identified and reportable operating segments. 
Two profit and loss items are not divided by segment, namely financial 
items and taxes. Accounting principles applied in the segment report-
ing concur with the consolidated accounting principles and presentation 
formats for the Income Statement as described in Note 1.   

Investment properties
Investment properties, i.e. properties held in order to generate rental 
income and/or increased value gains, are reported on an ongoing basis at 
fair value. The fair value is determined on the basis of estimated market 
values, which correspond to the value at which ownership of a property 
could be transferred between knowledgeable parties who are mutually 
independent and who have an interest in completing the transaction. 
Changes in fair value are reported in the Income Statement as unrealised 
changes in value. See Note 15 for details of property valuation.
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 The term, investment properties, includes buildings and land, land 
improvement, and buildings- and land-related equipment. Any proper ties 
that are being built or developed for future use as investment  properties 
are also reported as investment properties.  
 Investments in investment properties are initially reported at 
 acquisition value. The acquisition value includes expenses directly 
 attributable to the  acquisition, such as transaction costs, stamp duty and 
legal services.  Expenses in connection with reconstruction work that has 
entailed an economic benefit for the Group, i.e. that has increased the 
value of the property, and which can be calculated reliably, are capitalised. 
Other expenses in connec tion with repairs and ongoing maintenance 
are reported as repair costs and are included in the operating surplus. 
Property sales are reported in conjunction with the transfer of the risks 
and benefits associate with title from the vendor to the purchaser, which 
normally coincides with the contract date unless this specific contractual 
terms and conditions mandate that this occurs on some other date. 
 Profits or losses arising in conjunction with the sale or disposal of 
invest ment properties comprise the difference between the sale price and 
the most recently conducted valuation (reported value is based on the most 
recently conducted valuation at fair value). Profits or losses from a sale of  
an investment property are reported as realised changes in value in the 
Income Statement. 
 If the company uses a property for its own internal purposes, e.g.  
for administrative purposes, the property only constitutes an investment 
 property if a minority of the property is used for internal purposes.   

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are capitalised in conjunction with major reconstruction 
or new construction projects to the extent that they have arisen during the 
construction period. Interest expenses are calculated using the effective 
interest method on the basis of the Group’s average interest rate on all 
loans.  

Tangible fixed assets 
Tangible fixed assets are reported at the acquisition value less accumu-
lated depreciation and write-downs. The acquisition value includes 
expenses directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Additional 
expenses are added to the asset’s reported value or reported as a separate 
asset only if it is likely that future economic benefits associated with the 
asset will be received by the Group and when the acquisition value of the 
asset can be reliably calculated. 
 The useful lives of computer equipment and of other machinery and 
equipment has been calculated at three years and five years, respectively. 
Depreciation is effected linearly over the useful life. The residual value 
of the assets and their useful life is reviewed on every closing day and 
adjusted when necessary.
 
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 
Depreciation is charged to the operating profit/loss according to plan in 
the Income Statement. Depreciation according to plan for  computer equip-
ment has been effected in the amount of 33 per cent of the  acquisition 
value. Depreciation for other machinery and equipment has been effected 
in the amount of 20 per cent of the acquisition value.

Write-downs and reversals of write-downs
An impairment test of the Group’s assets is conducted in conjunction with the 
 preparation of every set of annual accounts. An asset’s reported value is  written 
down to its recoverable amount if its reported value exceeds the recover able 
amount. The recoverable amount comprises whichever is the higher of the value 
in use and the fair value, minus selling expenses. When conducting an impair-
ment test, assets are grouped together at the lowest levels at which there are 
separate, identi fiable revenue streams (known as cash-generating units). If there 
are any  indications that a previous write-down is no longer motivated, either 
wholly or in part, the asset’s reported value shall be increased. Write-downs are 
reported as a cost in the Income Statement.

Financial assets and financial liabilities
A financial asset or financial liability is reported in the Balance Sheet when 
the company becomes party to the instrument’s contractual terms and 
conditions. A financial asset is removed from the Balance Sheet when the 
rights contained in the agreement are realised, fall due, or when the com-
pany loses control over it. A financial liability is removed from the  Balance 
Sheet when the undertaking in the agreement is fulfilled or otherwise 
ceases to obtain. Trading date accounting is applied for derivative instru-
ments and settlement date accounting for on demand purchases or sales 
of financial assets.  
 The company conducts impairment testing on every closing day to 
determine whether there are objective indications that events indicate a 
requirement to write down a financial asset or group of financial assets. 
Financial instruments are reported at the accrued acquisition value or  
at fair value, depending on the initial categorisation in accordance with  
IAS 39.

Determining fair value for financial instruments
The fair value of interest swaps is determined by discounting estimated 
cash	flows.	The	discounting	is	based	on	observable	yield	curves.	Yield	
curves are based on current market interest rates on the closing day. The 
fair value is, therefore, determined in accordance with level 2 of IFRS 7, 
section 27 A. Atrium Ljungberg currently has no financial assets or liabili-
ties where the valuation is based on levels 1 or 3 of IFRS 7,  section 27 A. 
 The reported value for all financial assets and liabilities, unless other-
wise stated in a Note to the Accounts, is deemed to constitute a good 
approximation of the fair value.

Offsetting financial liabilities and assets
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported in a net amount  
in the Balance Sheet when a legal right to offset exists and when an inten-
tion to regulate the items with a net amount or to simultaneously realise 
the asset and settle the debt exists.

Liquid assets/cash and bank balances
Liquid assets comprise investments with a term of three months or  
less that can easily and with an insignificant risk of changes in value be 
 converted to cash. Atrium Ljungberg’s financial policy states that invest-
ments are only permitted in cash, treasury bills or fixed income funds  
and must be convertible to liquid assets within 3 days.
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Statements of cash flow
Statements of cash flow are prepared using the indirect method, in ac-
cordance with IAS 7, and the profit/loss is consequently adjusted for 
trans actions that have not entailed payments received or made and for 
income and expenses that can be attributed to investment and/or financial 
activities.

Accounts receivable 
Accounts receivable are categorised as “Loan receivables and accounts 
receivable” and are consequently valued at the accrued acquisition value. 
The anticipated term of accounts receivable is, however, short, and they 
are, therefore, reported in nominal amounts without discounting, less 
receivables deemed to be doubtful. Write-downs of accounts receivable 
are reported under operating expenses.

Long-term receivables and other receivables
Long-term receivables and other current receivables are categorised as 
“Loan receivables and accounts receivables”. They are valued at the ac-
crued acquisition value, which means that the reported value corre sponds 
to the fair value as the receivable is discounted to the current value in ac-
cordance with market interest rates. Receivables whose anticipated term 
is short are reported in nominal amounts without discounting. Deductions 
are made for receivables deemed to be doubtful.

Derivative instruments and hedge accounting
Hedge accounting is applied in accordance with the rules governing 
cash flow hedging for derivative instruments or so-called interest swap 
agreements entered into in order to achieve a desired fixed interest term 
for the interest-bearing liabilities. The risk hedged is the risk of changes 
in future interest payments resulting from changes in market interest 
rates for a given portion of the company’s liabilities to credit  institutions. 
Derivative instruments are valued on an ongoing basis at their fair value in 
the  Balance sheet and reported as an asset if the fair value is positive for 
Atrium Ljungberg and as a liability if the fair value is negative. Interest in-
come and interest expenses from the  derivative instruments are reported 
as a net amount in the Interest expenses item. Other changes in the value 
of derivative instruments are reported directly to shareholders’ equity to the 
extent that the hedging is effective, and are included in the Income State-
ment’s Other comprehensive  income item. Ineffectiveness arising in the 
hedging relationship is reported in the Income Statement. 
 Hedge accounting is only applied if the hedging relationship can be 
expected to be extremely effective. The hedging relationship effectiveness 
shall be within the interval from 80-125%. If the preconditions for hedge 
accounting are no longer met, derivative instruments are reported at fair 
value with the change in value, via the Income Statement.  

Accounts payable
Accounts payable are categorised as “Other financial liabilities” and are 
consequently valued at the accrued acquisition value. Accounts payables’ 
anticipated terms are short and the liability is consequently reported as a 
nominal amount without discounting.

Other financial liabilities
Atrium Ljungberg’s liabilities to credit institutions and the company’s other 
liabilities are categorised as “Other financial liabilities” and are valued at 

the accrued acquisition value. Liabilities whose anticipated term is short 
are reported as nominal amounts without discounting. Long-term liabili-
ties have an anticipated term in excess of one year while current liabilities 
have an anticipated term of less than one year.

Remuneration to employees
Remuneration to employees in the form of salaries, paid leave, paid 
 absence due to sickness, etc., and pensions, are reported as they are 
earned.  Pensions and other remuneration after employment ceases are 
classified as defined contribution or defined benefit pension plans.

Defined contribution pension plans
The company pays defined fees to a separate, independent legal entity 
for defined contribution pension plans and has no obligation to pay any 
additional fees. Costs are charged to the Group’s profit/loss as the benefits 
are earned, which normally coincides with the dates when premiums are 
paid. The Group has only one defined benefit pension plan (the Alecta 
plan) for which information reliable enough to report it in accordance with 
the rules governing defined pension plans is unavailable. See Note 8 for 
further details.  

Taxes
Current tax
Current tax is calculated on the basis of the taxable profit/loss for the 
period. The taxable profit/loss differs from the reported profit/loss in the 
Income Statement in that it has been adjusted for non-taxable income and 
non- deductible expenses and for income and expenses that are  taxable or 
deductible in other periods. The Group’s current tax liability is calculated 
using the tax rates confirmed or announced as of the  closing day. 

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is reported on the difference between the reported value 
of assets and liabilities in the financial reports and the fiscal value used 
when calculating the taxable result. Deferred tax is reported using the 
so-called Balance Sheet method. Deferred tax liabilities are reported for, 
in principle, all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax receivables 
are reported for, in principle, all deductible temporary differences to the 
extent that it is likely that the amounts can be used to offset future taxable 
surpluses. Deferred tax liabilities and tax receivables are not reported if 
the temporary difference is attributable to goodwill or if they arise as a 
result of a trans action that constitutes the first reporting of an asset or 
liability (which is not a corporate acquisition) and which, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the reported nor the fiscal profit/loss. 
 The reported value of deferred tax receivables is reviewed in conjunc-
tion with the preparation of every set of financial statements and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer likely that sufficient taxable surpluses will 
be available for offsetting, either wholly or in part, against the  deferred tax 
receivable. 
 Deferred tax is calculated using the tax rates expected to apply for the 
period during which the asset is recovered or the debt settled, based on 
the tax rates (and tax legislation) confirmed or announced as of the clos-
ing day. Deferred tax receivables and tax liabilities are offset when they 
are  attributable to income tax levied by the same authority and when the 
Group intends to settle the tax demand using a net amount.
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Current and deferred tax for the period 
Current and deferred tax is reported as a cost or income in the Income 
Statement, other than when the tax is attributable to transactions reported 
under Other comprehensive income, in which case the tax shall also be 
reported under Other comprehensive income. If the tax is attributable 
to a corporate acquisition or merger, the fiscal effect shall be taken into 
account when calculating goodwill or when determining the size of any 
surplus component arising if the fair value of the acquired participation in 
the acquired unit’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
exceeds the acquisition value of the operational acquisition. 
 Property tax, advertising tax and payroll tax are reported as operating 
expenses.

Provisions
Provisions are reported in the Balance Sheet when an undertaking exists 
and it is likely that the undertaking must be fulfilled and that the amount 
can be reliably calculated but the date when the undertaking must be 
fulfilled is unknown or unclear. Provisions are reported in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet as long-term or current liabilities. 

Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is reported when a possible undertaking exists as  
a result of a transpired event or any future uncertainty that is not reported  
as a liability or provision, in that an outflow of resources is unlikely.  

Significant assessments and assumptions
Preparing financial reports in accordance with IFRS requires the Board 
of Directors and the senior management to make assessments and 
 estimates that affect the application of the accounting principles and the 
reported  values of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Assumptions 
and  estimates are based on, amongst other things, historical experience 
and other  factors deemed relevant under the circumstances currently 
obtaining. These assump tions and estimates are used to assess the 
reported values of  assets, liabilities, income and expenses whose value 
is not other wise clear from other sources. The actual result may deviate 
from these estimates and assess ments. 
 Assumptions and estimates are analysed regularly by the Board of 
Direc tors and senior management. Changes are reflected in the accounts 
for the period when the change is made if the change only affects the 
current period. If the change affects the current period and subsequent 
periods, the accounts are affected in accordance therewith.  
 Atrium Ljungberg has valued all of its investment properties at their 
fair value. Assumptions made, uncertainty factors and assessments are 
shown in Note 15. 
 Allocations to the guarantee reserve for construction work are made 
in the amount of 0.5 per cent of the contract sum during the guarantee 
period. The allocation is based on historical experience and an assess-
ment of the risks inherent in ongoing projects. The allocation exceeds the 
costs expended during the year for guarantee work and may deviate from 
the Group’s assessment.

PARENT COMPANY ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The Parent Company applies the same accounting principles as the Group 
with the exceptions and additions regulated in the RFR 2, Reporting for 
legal entities recommendation issued by the Swedish Financial Report-

ing Board. The Parent Company Annual Accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with the provisions of the Swedish Annual  Accounts Act (ÅRL), 
RFR 2, Reporting for legal entities, and UFR guideline statements issued 
by the Swedish Financial Reporting Board. 

Amended accounting principles 
The rules governing the reporting of Group contributions contained in  
RFR 2 have changed during the year (see also under Group  contributions 
below). Other changes to RFR 2 have had no significant effect on the 
 Parent Company’s financial reports.

Buildings, land and land improvements
Properties are valued at the acquisition value less accumulated deprecia-
tion and write-downs and come under the heading of Buildings, land and 
land improvements in the Parent Company’s Balance Sheet. Expenses for  
reconstruction work that has resulted in the standard and functionality 
being raised in comparison with the level obtaining when the property 
was originally acquired or was most recently the subject of measures that 
raised standards, are added to the acquisition value. 

Depreciation of buildings, land and land improvements
Depreciation according to plan is charged to the operating profit/loss in 
the Parent Company’s Income Statement. Booked depreciation  according 
to plan is effected in the amount of 1 per cent of the acquisition value 
for buildings, land improvements and building equipment. The  buildings 
are fiscally depreciated in the amount of between 2 and 4 per cent of 
the  acquisition value, while land improvements are depreciated in the 
amount of 5 per cent. All building equipment is fiscally depreciated in the 
amount of 20-30 per cent of the acquisition value. The  difference  between 
depreciation according to plan and fiscal depreciation is reported under 
appropriations. Deferred tax on the difference between booked and fiscal 
depreciation of buildings and land improvements is reported as deferred 
tax in the Income Statement and as a deferred tax liability in the Balance 
Sheet.

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets/Machinery and equipment
Depreciation according to plan is charged to the operating profit/loss  
in the Income Statement. Depreciation according to plan for computer 
equipment is effected in the amount of 33 per cent of the acquisition  
value. Depreciation has been effected in the amount of 20 per cent of the 
acquisition value for other machinery and equipment. 

Participations in subsidiary companies
Participations in subsidiary companies are reported using the acquisition 
value method. Acquisition-related costs for subsidiary companies, which 
are carried as expenses in the Consolidated accounts, are included in the 
acquisition value for participations in subsidiary companies. Impairment 
testing of the reported value of participations in subsidiary companies 
is carried out when there are indications that a write-down requirement 
exist.

Provisions and financial guarantee agreements
Provisions are reported under a separate heading in the Parent Com-
pany’s Balance Sheet. The Parent Company applies the relaxation rule 
in RFR 2 with regard to the reporting of financial guarantee agreements 
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to the  benefit of subsidiary companies and associated companies, which 
means that IAS 39 is not applied to such guarantee agreements. Rather, 
the Parent Company reports a provision in respect of financial guarantee 
agreements when the company has an undertaking for which an outflow of 
resources will probably be required in order to settle the obligation.  

Untaxed reserves
The amount allocated to untaxed reserves in the Parent Company com-
prises taxable temporary differences. The deferred tax liability attri butable 
to the untaxed reserves in the Parent Company is not reported separately 
due to the link between accounting and taxation. Untaxed reserves are, 
however, broken down within the Group, with 73.7 per cent reported as 
shareholders’ equity and 26.3 per cent as deferred tax liabilities. 

Reporting of Group contributions
Group contributions received are, as of 2011, reported as financial income, 
while Group contributions made are reported as a financial expense. The 
reported values for 2010 have been adjusted.  

NEW ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The following new and amended standards and interpretations have come 
into force and apply to the 2011 financial year:

Standards
•	 	Amendment	to	IFRS	1	First-time	adoption	of	International	Financial	

Reporting Standards
•	 	Amendment	to	IAS	24	Related	Party	Disclosures	(amended	definition	

of related parties and exceptions with regard to disclosures in publicly 
owned companies) 

•	 	Amendment	to	IAS	32	Financial	Instruments	Presentation:	
 Classification (classification of warrants et al. in foreign currencies) 

•	 Improvements	to	IFRS	2010

Interpretations
•	 	Amendment	to	IFRIC	14	IAS	19	–	The	limit	on	a	defined	benefit	asset,	

 minimum funding requirements and their interaction 
•	 IFRIC	19	Extinguishing	Financial	Liabilities	with	Equity	Instruments

The new and amended standards and interpretations have had no effect on 
the Group’s financial reports in 2011. 

NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS  
THAT HAVE NOT YET COME INTO FORCE  
The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has issued the 
following new and amended standards that have not yet come into force. 
Those listed below have not yet been approved by the EU, with the excep-
tion of the amendment to IFRS 7.

Standards
To be applied to financial years commencing 1st July 2011 or thereafter:
•	 	Amendment	to	IFRS	7	Financial	instruments:	Disclosures		(Disclosures	

in conjunction with the transfer of financial assets).

To be applied to financial years commencing 1st July 2012 or thereafter:
•	 	Amendment	to	IAS	1	Presentation	of	Financial	Statements.	Require-

ment for breakdown of items under Other comprehensive income. 
 
To be applied to financial years commencing 1st July 2013 or thereafter:
•	 	IFRS	9	Financial	instruments.	The	standard	is	being	published	in	

stages and will replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement.

•	 	IFRS	10	Consolidated	Financial	Statements.	The	standard	contains	
 uniform regulations governing which units shall be consolidated, and  
will replace IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements,  
and SIC 12, which addresses so-called Special Purpose Entities.

•	 	IFRS	11	Joint	Arrangements.	The	standard	addresses	the	reporting	 
of so-called joint arrangements and will replace IAS 31 Interests in 
joint ventures. 

•	 	IFRS	12	Disclosure	of	Interests	in	Other	Entities.	Augmented	dis	closure	
requirements for subsidiary companies, joint arrangements and asso-
ciated companies have been grouped together within a single standard. 

•	 	IFRS	13	Fair	Value	Measurement.	The	standard	contains	uniform	regula-
tions governing the calculation of and disclosures of fair values. 

•	 	Amendment	to	IAS	19	Employee	benefits.	The	amendments	relate	pri-
marily to the reporting and disclosure of defined benefit pension plans. 

It has not, as yet, been possible to evaluate the effects of the new IFRS 9 
standard, which will not be applied before 2015. The company manage-
ment is of the opinion that other new and amended standards and inter-
pretations will have no significant effect on the Group’s financial reports in 
the period during which they are first applied.
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NOTE 2. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Atrium Ljungberg Group’s reportable segments comprise the property management and project and construction activities business segments. 
Property management is divided up by geographical market, properties sold and project properties. See Note 1 Accounting principles for a more detailed 
description of the principles behind segment reporting.

100 per cent of the revenue was generated in Sweden, i.e. in the country in which Atrium Ljungberg’s registered office is located. The intra-Group sales in 
respect of the Group’s project and construction operations total SEK 134.0 million (SEK 69.4 m) and have been eliminated in the Group’s net sales.
 Engagement expenses in respect of ongoing engagements in accordance with construction agreements totalled SEK 207.5 million (SEK 214.9 m)  
and the reported profit totalled SEK 8.9 million (SEK 9.2 m). Sums received from the client for ongoing engagements total SEK 2.1 million (SEK 3.7 m). The 
allocation of assets per segment is made for investment properties on the basis of geographic affiliation and project properties. Project and construction 
work assets comprise fixed assets and current assets, excluding liquid assets. No one customer accounts for more than 10 per cent of the company’s 
total revenue.

1)  The investment properties at the period end include properties acquired during the year for a total of SEK 379 million, SEK 342 million of which was 
expended in the Stockholm, city centre segment, and SEK 37 million in the Stockholm, other segment. 
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Rental income 431.9 865.4 202.2 61.8 120.8 4.2 1,686.3 1,686.3
Project and construction work sales 331.8 331.8
Net sales 431.9 865.4 202.2 61.8 120.8 4.2 1,686.3 331.8 2,018.1
Property management costs –142,6 –314.8 –64.8 –25.9 –43.2 –591.3 –591.3
Production costs –317.0 –317.0
Gross profit/loss 289.3 550.5 137.5 35.9 77.6 4.2 1,095.0 14.8 1,109.8

–  of which gross profit/loss, property  management 289.3 550.5 137.5 35.9 77.6 4.2 1,095.0 1,095.0
–  of which gross profit/loss, project and  construction 

work 14.8 14.8

Central administration, property management –44.1 –44.1
Central administration, project and construction work –12.2 –12.2

Financial income 10.6 10.6
Financial expenses –369.7 –369.7

–359.1 –359.1
Profit/loss before changes in value 289.3 550.5 137.5 35.9 77.6 4.2 1,050.9 2.6 –359.1 694.4

Unrealised changes in value 246.7 308.2 31.8 –15.5 –42.9 528.3 528.3
Realised changes in value 2.0 2.0 2.0
Write-downs goodwill

246.7 308.2 31.8 –15.5 –42.9 2.0 530.3 530.3

Current tax –1.5 –1.5
Deferred tax –318.7 –318.7
Profit/loss after tax 536.0 858.7 169.3 20.4 34.7 6.2 1,581.2 2.6 –679.3 904.5

Investments per business segment
Investment properties 44.8 175.9 57.3 12.5 759.3 1,049.8 1,049.8
Project and construction work 2.2 2.2

44.8 175.9 57.3 12.5 759.3 1,049.8 2.2 1,052.0
Assets per business segment, period end
Investment properties 1) 6,481.1 9,833.6 2,312.0 667.0 2,603.0 21,896.7 21,896.7
Project and construction work 106.8 106.8
Unallocated joint assets 1,172.3 1,172.3
Total assets 6,481.1 9,833.6 2,312.0 667.0 2,603.0 21,896.7 106.8 1,172.3 23,175.8
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2010 
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Rental income 417.8 750.2 149.8 131.5 143.9 20.4 1,613.5 1,613.5
Project and construction work sales 322.9 322.9
Net sales 417.8 750.2 149.8 131.5 143.9 20.4 1,613.5 322.9 1,936.4
Property management costs –135.1 –270.6 –50.8 –45.6 –74.2 –7.7 –584.0 –584.0
Production costs –313.5 –313.5
Gross profit/loss 282.7 479.6 99.0 85.9 69.7 12.7 1,029.5 9.4 1,038.9

–  of which gross profit/loss, property  management 282.7 479.6 99.0 85.9 69.7 12.7 1,029.5 1,029.5
–  of which gross profit/loss, project and  construction 

work 9.4 9.4

Central administration, property management –45.4 –45.4
Central administration, project and construction work –11.9 –11.9

Financial income 7.7 7.7
Financial expenses –320.6 –320.6

–313.0 –313.0
Profit/loss before changes in value 282.7 479.6 99.0 85.9 69.7 12.7 984.1 –2.5 –313.0 668.6

Unrealised changes in value 261.2 197.5 9.8 15.9 40.7 525.1 525.1
Realised changes in value 14.2 14.2 14.2
Write-downs goodwill –16.9 –16.9 –16.9

261.2 197.5 9.8 15.9 40.7 –2.7 522.4 522.4

Current tax –23.5 –23.5
Deferred tax –252.1 –252.1
Profit/loss after tax 543.9 677.1 108.8 101.8 110.4 10.0 1,506.6 –2.5 –588.6 915.5

Investments per business segment
Investment properties 50.8 81.5 14.1 61.0 835.6 4.0 1,047.0 1,047.0
Project and construction work 2.7 2.7

50.8 81.5 14.1 61.0 835.6 4.0 1,047.0 2.7 1,049.7
Assets per business segment, period end
Investment properties 1) 5,847.5 8,021.6 1,763.0 1,446.0 2,861.6 19,939.7 19,939.7
Project and construction work 88.3 88.3
Unallocated joint assets 1,181.6 1,181.6
Total assets 5,847.5 8,021.6 1,763.0 1,446.0 2,861.6 19,939.7 88.3 1,181.6 21,209.6

1)  The investment properties at the period end include SEK 35 million in respect of properties acquired  
during the year in the Stockholm, other segment.
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NOTE 3. CENTRAL ADMINISTRATION

Central administration comprises the costs in connection with the Board 
of Directors, the Managing Director, and other senior executives, and of 
audit and corporate costs in respect of, inter alia, the provision of informa-
tion for shareholders, the costs of maintaining the stock market listing, 
and the production of the annual accounts, together with depreciation of 
machinery and equipment associated with the administration (see Note 9).

Fees and expenses  
paid to auditors

The Group Parent Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

Audit engagements
			Ernst	&	Young	AB 1.7 – 1.7 –
   Deloitte AB – 2.6 – 2.6
Accounting engagements over 
and above audit engagements
			Ernst	&	Young	AB 0.2 – 0.2 –
   Deloitte AB – 0.5 – 0.5
Tax consultancy
			Ernst	&	Young	AB 0.2 – 0,2 –
   Deloitte AB 0.6 0.9 0.6 0.9
Total 2.7 3.9 2.7 3.9

NOTE 4. DISCLOSURE OF RELATED PARTIES

SEK 134.0 million (SEK 69.4 m) of the TL Bygg AB subsidiary company’s 
net sales comprised work carried out on behalf of the Group companies, 
corresponding to 31 per cent (18.6%) of the net sales for TL Bygg AB. 
SEK 1.3 million (SEK 6.1 m) of the Parent Company’s net sales comprised 
sales to subsidiary companies, corresponding to 0.5 per cent (2.3%) of the 
Parent Company’s net sales. Intra-Group transactions are effected at cost 
price with no profit surcharge. The Parent Company has a related party 
relationship with its subsidiary companies. See Note 21.

Parent Company
2011 2010

Receivables from related parties (Group companies) 3,595.3 3,668.0
Liabilities to related parties (Group companies) 839.3 740.8

Remuneration to the Managing Director and senior executives in respect 
of work carried out is shown in Note 8.  

NOTE 5. LEASE CONTRACTS

The reported annual rent for agreed lease contracts totalled SEK 1,768 
million (SEK 1,625 m) in the first quarter within the Group, SEK 186 million 
(SEK 176 m) of which was within the Parent Company.

The Group Parent Company
Premises, contract 
maturity structure

Rent,  
SEK m

Percentage, 
%

Rent,  
SEK m

Percentage, 
%

2012 199 11 20 11
2013 309 18 32 17
2014 277 16 28 15
2015 281 16 31 17
2016 183 10 11 6
2017 161 9 2 1
2018 and thereafter 299 17 17 9
Residential 60 3 45 24
Total 1,768 100 186 100

Letting rate, Q1 20123)

Rental value, 
SEK m

Lease contract, 
SEK m

Letting rate, 
%

Stockholm city centre 487 461 95
Stockholm, other 932 876 94
Uppsala and Mälardalen 214 212 99
Sweden, other 66 60 92

1,700 1,609 95
Project properties2) 171 159 93
Total 1,871 1,768 94

Rental income 
trend, 2012

2011 
Result

2012 
Q11)

2012 
Q21)

2012 
Q31)

2012 
Q41)

Stockholm city 
centre 432 461 514 514 514
Stockholm, other 865 876 879 876 865
Uppsala and 
Mälardalen 202 212 211 207 213
Sweden, other 62 60 60 60 60
Project properties 2) 121 159 170 170 204
Properties sold 4
Total 1,686 1,768 1,834 1,827 1,856
1)  Contracted rental income. 
2)  The term, project properties, refers to an individual property or a clearly delimited 

part of a property that has been vacated in order to permit the reconstruction and 
upgrading of the property, irrespective of whether construction work has begun. 
The term, project property, also refers to buildings under construction and to 
undeveloped land and building rights. Reclassification from project property to 
completed property occurs in 1st January of the year after completion.

3)  The reported letting rate is based on the immediately subsequent quarter.

Lease contracts for retail space contain contractual terms that mandate 
a minimum rent and a net sales clause. The variable net sales surcharge 
totalled approximately 1 per cent of the total rental income in 2011. 

NOTE 6. LEASEHOLD AGREEMENTS AND  
OTHER LEASING AGREEMENTS

The year’s leasehold fees totalled SEK 26 million (SEK 28 m), SEK 8 million 
(SEK 10 m) of which refers to the Parent Company.

Leasehold The Group Parent Company
agreements 
maturity structure Fee, SEK m

Percent-
age, % Fee, SEK m

Percent-
age, %

2012 17.3 54 7.4 76
2013 7.8 24 – –
2014 – – – –
2015 – – – –
2016 and thereafter 7.2 22 2.3 24
Total 32.3 100 9.7 100

2012 refers to agreements that have matured in previous years but for 
which negotiations were not completed at the end of 2011. 

Leasing agreements
Agreed leasing agreements refer primarily to vehicles and copying 
 machines and have a maturity date of less than 3 years. The year’s leasing 
costs in this category totalled SEK 2.9 million (SEK 2.1 m), while remaining 
costs totalled SEK 5.2 million (SEK 4.1 m).
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NOTE 7. PERSONNEL

The Group Parent Company
Average number of employees 2011 2010 2011 2010
Men 204 196 89 87
Women 56 55 51 57

260 251 140 144
Gender breakdown – Board of  
Directors and management
Men, Board 6 6 – –
Women, Board 1 1 – –
Men, company management 2 3 – –
Women, company management 5 4 – –

Absence due to sickness The Group Parent Company
by gender, % 2011 2010 2011 2010
Men 3.5 3.6 2.8 2.2
Women 2.3 2.2 2.4 2.2
Total absence 3.2 3.3 2.6 2.2

Absence due to sickness The Group Parent Company
by age category, % 2011 2010 2011 2010
Aged 29 or younger 3.9 3.3 1.5 1.0
Aged 30–49 2.1 2.7 1.3 2.4
Aged 50 or above 5.3 4.4 5.9 2.2
Total absence 3.2 3.3 2.6 2.2

The percentages for the Group and the Parent Company of consecutive 
sick leave over a period of 60 days or more are 1.1 per cent (0.9%) and 1.1 
per cent (0.8%), respectively.

NOTE 8. SALARIES, OTHER REMUNERATION  
AND PAYROLL OVERHEAD

The Group Parent Company
SEK k 2011 2010 2011 2010
Board of Directors and  
senior executives
Salaries 12,070 10,983 12,070 10,983
Payroll overheads 4,479 4,272 4,479 4,272
Pension costs 2,896 3,386 2,896 3,386
Other
Salaries 110,943 105,336 64,552 63,312
Social security contributions 37,203 35,526 22,286 22,188
Pension costs 10,961 12,486 8,261 9,460
Total 178,552 171,989 114,544 113,601

Senior executives’ terms and remuneration 
Atrium Ljungberg’s principles governing the remuneration payable to 
 senior executives states that salaries and other terms and conditions 
of employment for the company’s senior management team shall be on 
market conditions and be competitive, but not market-leading in relation 
to other comparable companies. The guidelines shall apply for the  senior 
management team which consists of the Managing Director and six Busi-
ness Area Managers. The Managing Director’s remuneration shall be de-
termined by the Board of Directors. Remuneration payable to other mem-
bers of the senior management team shall be proposed by the Managing 
Director and approved by the Board. Remuneration payable to the senior 
company management team, including the Managing Director, comprises 
a fixed salary. No variable salary of performance-related remuneration 
shall be payable. The Managing Director’s  retirement age is 60, while the 
retirement age for other members of the senior management team is 65. 

Pension plans are defined contribution plans, and the company hence has 
no additional obligations after payment of the annual premiums. 
 In the event of the termination of his/her position of employment by the 
company, the Managing Director of the parent company and the Managing 
Director of the TL Bygg subsidiary company shall be entitled to  severance 
pay corresponding to one year’s annual salary. Other members of the 
senior management team have a period of notice of up to 6 months. No 
entitlement to severance pay exists. The terms and conditions that the 
company applies to other employees in the Group, either in accordance 
with collective agreements or in accordance with unilateral commitments 
by the company to the employees, otherwise apply for the senior manage-
ment team. Departure from the above-mentioned guidelines by the Board 
of Directors is permitted if there are specific grounds for so doing in a 
particular instance. 
 The proposal by the Board of Directors ahead of the 2012 Annual Gen-
eral Meeting is essentially the same as in previous years with the following 
amendments: the retirement age for the Managing Director shall be 62. In 
the event of notice being given by the company, the Managing Director of 
the Parent Company and the Managing Director of the subsidiary company, 
TL Bygg AB, shall be entitled to a 12-month notice period. The  Managing 
Director shall in the event of notice of termination being given by the 
 company, be entitled to severance pay corresponding to 6 months’ pay.  
No other entitlement to severance pay exists. 
 The 2011 company management team is presented on page 99.

2011 SEK k

Basic 
 salary/ 

Director’s 
fees

Other 
remun-
eration

Other 
benefits

Pension 
costs

Share-related 
remun-
eration Total

Chairman  
of the Board 
Dag Klackenberg 400 – – – – 400
Other Board 
members
Anna Hallberg 200 – – – – 200
Ulf Holmlund 200 – – – – 200
Thomas Evers 200 – – – – 200
Anders Nylander 200 – – – – 200
Sune Dahlqvist 200 – – – – 200
Johan Ljungberg 200 – – – – 200

1,600 – – – – 1,600
MD Anders 
Nylander 1,636 – 10 391 – 2,037
MD Ingalill 
Berglund 1,783 – 40 999 – 2,822
Other senior 
executives 7,001 50 252 1,506 – 8,809

10,420 50 302 2,896 – 13,668
Total 12,020 50 302 2,896 – 15,268

2010 SEK k

Basic 
 salary/ 

Director’s 
fees

Other 
remun-
eration

Other 
benefits

Pension 
costs

Share- 
related 
remun-
eration Total

Chairman  
of the Board 
Laszlo Kriss 400 – – – – 400
Other Board 
members
Anna Hallberg 200 – – – – 200
Ulf Holmlund 200 – – – – 200
Mats Israelsson 200 - – – – 200
Dag Klackenberg 200 – – – – 200
Sune Dahlqvist 200 – – – – 200
Johan Ljungberg 200 – – – – 200
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2010 SEK k

Basic 
 salary/ 

Director’s 
fees

Other 
remun-
eration

Other 
benefits

Pension 
costs

Share- 
related 
remun-
eration Total

1,600 – – – – 1,600
MD Anders 
Nylander 2,517 – 31 1,580 – 4,128
Other senior 
executives 6,716 150 296 1,806 – 8,968

9,233 150 327 3,386 – 13,096
Total 10,833 150 327 3,386 – 14,696

Pensions
Undertakings for old age pensions and family pensions for salaried 
 workers in Sweden are secured through an insurance policy with Alecta. 
According to a statement issued by the Swedish Financial  Reporting 
Board, UFR 3, this is a defined benefit plan that comprises several 
 employers. A pension plan in accordance with ITP (supplementary pen-
sions for salaried employees) that is secured through an insurance policy 
with Alecta shall, for those financial years for which the company has 
not had access to information that enables this plan to be reported as a 
defined benefit plan, be reported as a defined contribution plan. The year’s 
pension insurance fees in accordance with ITP for the policy with Alecta 
total SEK 4.6 million (SEK 5.6 m). Alecta’s surplus may be allocated to the 
policyholders and/or those insured. At the end of 2011, Alecta’s surplus in 
the form of the collective consolidation level totalled 113 per cent (146%).  
 The collective consolidation level comprises the market value of 
Alecta’s assets as a percentage of the insurance undertakings calculated 
in accordance with Alecta’s actuarial calculation assumptions, which do 
not correspond to IAS 19. 
 The Managing Director of the Parent Company may retire from the  
age of 62. The premium is a defined contribution one, and the company 
consequently has no additional undertaking once the annual premium 
has been paid. The pensionable age for senior executives other than the 
Managing Director of the Parent Company is 65. All pensions are, with 
the exception of the defined benefit ITP plan in accordance with  collective 
agreements, defined benefit pension plans.

NOTE 9. DEPRECIATION

The Group Parent Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

Management and production costs
Buildings – – 18.3 18.1
Building equipment – – 0.2 0.2
Land improvements – – 0.4 0.4
Machinery and equipment 2.0 1.8 0.0 0.2

2.0 1.8 18.9 18.9
Central administration 
Machinery and equipment 2.3 1.9 2.3 1.9
Total depreciation 4.3 3.7 21.2 20.8

NOTE 10. GROSS PROFIT/LOSS, PROJECT  
AND CONSTRUCTION WORK

The Group Parent Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

Gross profit/loss TL Bygg AB 44.5 42.8 – –
Development project costs that 
cannot be capitalised –29.7 –33.4 –18.8 –16.5
Total gross profit/loss 14.8 9.4 –18.8 –16.5

NOTE 11. RESULT OF PARTICIPATIONS  
IN GROUP COMPANIES

Parent Company
2011 2010

Result of participations in Group companies
Sickla Industrifastigheter KB, 916616-1720 170.5 137.1
Total 170.5 137.1

NOTE 12. FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

The Group Parent Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

Financial income
Interest income, banks 4.2 1.0 3.7 0.9
Other interest income 6.1 5.8 – –
Interest income, tax-free 0.2 0.3 0.1 0.1
Other financial income 0.1 0.6 – 0.1
Group interest income – – 223.6 212.9
Group contributions received – – – 185.1
Total 10.6 7.7 227.4 399.1

Financial expenses
Interest expenses, banks –369.0 –318.9 –190.7 –172.3
Non-deductible interest 
expenses –0.2 –0.6 – –
Other financial expenses –0.5 –1.1 –0.2 –0.1
Group interest expenses – – –117.9 –127.4
Group contributions paid – – –88.9 –147.9
Total –369.7 –320.6 –397.7 –447.7

Of which interest income from 
financial liabilities not valued 
at fair value via the Income 
Statement 10.5 7.4 227.4 213.9
Of which interest expenses 
from financial liabilities not 
valued at fair value via the 
Income Statement –369.2 –318.9 –308.6 –299.7

Capitalised interest expenses The Group Parent Company
from investment properties 31-12-11 31-12-10 31-12-11 31-12-10
Opening capitalised interest 
expenses 165.6 149.0 61.3 61.3
Year’s	capitalised	interest	
expenses 10.2 16.6 0.7 –
Reclassification –10.0 – –10.0 –
Closing capitalised interest 
expenses 165.8 165.6 52.0 61.3
Average interest rate used 
when calculating capitalised 
interest 3.9% 3.8% 3.9% 3.8%



   121ATRIUM LJUNGBERG ANNUAL REPORT 2011

NOTE 13. GOODWILL

On 17th October 2006, LjungbergGruppen AB acquired all of the shares 
in Atrium Fastigheter AB through payment in the form of newly issued 
shares. The closing rate on 16th October 2006 has been used to calculate 
the acquisition value and shareholders’ equity. Goodwill arose in conjunc-
tion with the acquisition that was attributable to the difference between 
nominal tax and the estimated tax for costing purposes applied in conjunc-
tion with the acquisition.

The Group
2011 2010

Opening balance 389,8 406,7
Write-downs – –16,9
Closing balance 389,8 389,8

Goodwill write-downs refer to properties sold. 

NOTE 14. TAX

Tax calculation Current tax Deferred tax
The Group 2011 2010 2011 2010

Reported profit/loss before tax 1,224.7 1,191.1
Fiscally deductible 
    depreciation –335.9 –309.6 335.9 309.6
    investments –168.6 –123.0 168.6 123.0
Non-taxable
 changes in the value of properties, unrealised –528.3 –525.1 528.3 525.1
    changes in the value of properties, realised –2.0 2.7 – –126.8
    consolidated capitalisation of interest on ongoing projects  –10.2 – 10.2 –
Non-deductible costs/other non-taxable income 1.7 –11.9 – –
Other fiscal adjustments 1.8 – –5.4 –
Fiscal profit/loss before loss carry-forwards 183.2 224.2 1,037.6 830.9
Fiscally deductible investments, adjustments in previous years –282.4 –113.6 282.4 113.6
Other loss carry-forwards from previous tax assessments –1.6 0.0 – –

Taxable profit/loss –100.8 110.6 1,319.9 944.5

26.3% tax – –29.1 –347.1 –248.4
Capitalisation of loss carry-forwards – – 26.5 –
Adjustment of tax in relation to previous years –1.5 5.6 1.9 –3.7
Reported tax expense –1.5 –23.5 –318.7 –252.1

Tax calculation Current tax Deferred tax
Parent Company 2011 2010 2011 2010
Reported profit/loss before tax 78.7 183.3
Fiscally deductible investments –18.1 –31.7 18.1 31.7
Difference between fiscal and book depreciation on buildings and land improvements –60.7 –58.0 60.7 58.0
Non-taxable income, non-deductible expenses 0.0 4.1 – –
Taxable profit/loss 0.0 97.7 78.7 89.7
  
26.3% tax – –25.7 –20.7 –23.6
Adjustment of tax in relation to previous years – 0.8 0.4 –0.5
Reported tax expense – –24.9 –20.3 –24.1

The Group       Parent Company

Reconciliation of tax expenses 2011 2010 2011 2010

Profit/loss before tax 1,224.7 1,191.1 78.7 183.3

Nominal tax rate in Sweden, 26.3% –322.1 –313.3 –20.7 –48.2

Fiscal effect of

    changes in value of properties, realised 0.5 32.6 – –

 loss carry-forwards from previous tax assessments 0.4 0.0 – –

 other non-deductible expenses/non-taxable income –0.4 3.2 0.0 –1.1

 previous years’ tax assessments/calculations 0.4 1.9 0.4 0.3

 other fiscal adjustments 0.9 – – –

Reported tax expense –320.2 –275.5 –20.3 –49.0

of which current tax –1.5 –23.5 – –24.9

of which deferred tax –318.7 –252.1 –20.3 –24.1
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NOTE 15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Definition and classification
Investment properties are properties held by the owner with the aim of 
generating rental income, or an increase in value, or a combination of the 
same. Atrium Ljungberg had, at the year-end, classified all of its proper-
ties as investment properties and they shall consequently be valued at fair 
value. The fair value of the investment properties is the price at which the 
property could be transferred between knowledgeable parties who are 
mutually independent and who have an interest in completing the trans-
action. The fair value of the investment property shall reflect the market 
conditions on the closing day. The properties in which Atrium Ljungberg 
also has offices in which to conduct its own administration and manage-
ment have been classified as investment properties in that the percentage 
of the building used by the company for its own purposes is marginal.

Valuation method
The property valuation is primarily conducted via an internal valuation that 
is based on an estimated yield requirement for each property. The yield 
requirement is determined using the location price method, which means 
that information is gathered from equivalent value transactions completed 
in equivalent value markets. The yield requirement is used to  determine 
the value through a current value calculation during the so-called calcula-
tion period and through a current value calculation of the residual value 
at the end of the calculation period. The calculation period normally 
comprises 5-10 years but may be longer in certain cases, depending on 
the contract situation. The valuation system used has been purchased 
from Forum Fastighetsekonomi, who is responsible for ensuring that the 
model is continuously updated in order to ensure a correct current value 
calculation. The earning capacity of each property is assessed individu-
ally during the valuation. Income during the calculation period comprises 
agreed rental levels until such time as these lease contracts come to an 
end or are due for renegotiation. Rental income for the subsequent period 
is calculated at the market rent currently applicable. Operating and main-
tenance costs have been assessed on the basis of the company’s actual 
costs and are adjusted in line with the property’s age and condition. 
 Development rights and land have been valued on the basis of an 
estimated market value per metre square and only include development 
rights established in accordance with an approved detailed development 
plan. 
 Independent valuation experts have conducted an external valuation of 
a normalised portfolio corresponding to 64 per cent of the total value as 
part of Atrium Ljungberg’s efforts to ensure that the valuation is accurate. 
The valuations have been conducted by Forum Fastighetsekonomi, Savills 
and CBRE. The assumptions regarding rental levels and yield requirements 
used in the internal valuation have, furthermore, been quality assured by 
Forum Fastighetsekonomi. The following table contains a summary of the 
parameters used during the valuation.
 The average yield requirement in the valuation totalled 5.8 per cent 
(5.8%). The reported value of the property portfolio as of 31st December 
2011 totalled SEK 21,897 million (SEK 19,940 m). Development rights and 
land account for SEK 214 million (SEK 259 m) of this total. Investments 
in properties during the year totalled SEK 1,050 million (SEK 1,047 m). 
Properties were acquired for a total of SEK 379 million (SEK 35 m). The 
unrealised change in the value of the properties totalled SEK 528 million 
(SEK 525 m), corresponding to an increase in value of 2.6 per cent. The in-
crease in value was primarily due to increased rental levels and to a slight 
reduction in yield requirements. 
 

Yield requirement per premises type %

Premises type Interval Average
Offices 4.8 – 8.0 5.9
Stores 4.8 – 7.5 5.8
Residential 4.5 – 4.8 4.6
Other 6.1 – 8.5 6.2
Total 4.5 – 8.5 5.8

Yield requirement per segment, %

Region Interval Average
Stockholm, city centre 4.8 – 7.0 5.3
Stockholm, other 4.5 – 8.5 6.0
Uppsala and Mälardalen 5.8 – 6.2 6.0
Sweden, other 5.5 – 7.3 6.3
Project properties 5.8 – 7.5 6.0
Total 4.5 – 8.5 5.8

Sensitivity analysis, property valuation

Value parameter Assumption Impact on value
Rental level +/– 10% 2,320
Operating cost +/– 50 SEK/m2 630
Yield	requirement +/– 0.25% -910 /+ 990
Long-term vacancy level +/– 2% –/+ 580

The market value is described below on the basis of normalised  operating 
net, adjusted for, inter alia, initial effects, remaining investments and 
development rights. 

Value based on normalised operating net

SEK m Segment Project Total
Rental value 1,668 327 1,994
Long-term vacancy (–3.5 %) –57 –12 –68
Rental income 1,611 315 1,926
Property expenses –502 –75 –577
Normalised operating net 1,109 240 1,349
Yield	requirement 5.7 % 6.0 % 5.8 %
Yield	requirement	before	adjustments 19,456 3,985 23,441
Adjustments
Remaining investments –290 –1,523 –1 813
Initial vacancies –20 –52 –72
Other adjustments 252 5 257
Land and development rights 0 213 213
Registration of title deeds costs –104 –25 –129
Fair value 19,294 2,603 21,897
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2011
Properties 

sold
Properties 

acquired

Proper-
ties owned 
throughout 

the year Total

Developed properties, incl. ongoing reconstruction
Opening market value – – 19,680.7 19,680.7
Reclassification from 
development rights and 
ongoing new construction – – 21.0 21.0
Investments 1,049.8 1,049.8
Acquisitions – 379.0 – 379.0
Change in value, invest-
ment properties – – 552.3 552.3
Closing market value – 379.0 21,303.8 21,682.7

Land and development 
rights
Opening market value – – 259.0 259.0
Reclassification as devel-
oped properties – – –21.0 –21.0
Change in value of land 
and development rights – – –24.0 –24.0
Investments – – – –
Closing market value – – 214.0 214.0

2010
Properties 

sold
Properties 

acquired

Proper-
ties owned 
throughout 

the year Total

Developed properties, incl. ongoing reconstruction
Opening market value 280.0 – 18,032.6 18,312.6
Reclassification from 
development rights and 
ongoing new construction – – 46.0 46.0
Investments 4.0 – 1,043 1,047.0
Acquisitions – 35.0 – 35.0
Sales –284.0 – – –284.0
Change in value, invest-
ment properties – – 524.1 524.1
Closing market value 0.0 35.0 19,645.7 19,680.7

Land and development 
rights
Opening market value – – 304.0 304.0
Reclassification as devel-
oped properties – – –46.0 –46.0
Change in value of land 
and development rights – – 1.0 1.0
Investments – – – –
Closing market value – – 259.0 259.0

Property portfolio, 31-12-2011 January–December 20111)                   Yield1)

Property portfolio  
by segment

Number  
of proper-

ties          

Letting 
area,  

‘000 m²

Fair  
value,  

SEK m

Fair  
value,  

SEK/m²

Rental 
value,  

SEK m

Rental 
value, 

SEK/m²

Economic 
letting  

rate, %

Rental 
income, 
SEK m

Property 
costs,  

SEK m

Operating 
surplus, 

SEK m  %

Stockholm city centre 12 166 6,481 38,960 487 2,930 95 452 –149 303 4.7
Stockholm, other 31 484 9,834 20,303 932 1,925 94 865 –315 550 5.6
Uppsala Mälardalen 4 79 2,312 29,160 214 2,701 99 202 –64 138 6.0
Sweden, other 3 53 667 12,523 66 1,233 92 62 –26 36 5.4

Total 50 783 19,294 24,633 1,700 2,170 95 1,581 –554 1,027 5.3
Project properties 2 87 2,389 27,348 171 1,963 93 121 –43 78 3.3

Land and development rights 2 214

Total 54 871 21,897 25,151 1,871 2,149 94 1,702 –597 1,105 5.0
Properties sold 4 4

Total for the Group 1,706 –597 1,109

1)  The above summary refers to the property portfolio as of 31st December 2011 where the properties acquired during the year are reported, as regards income and expenses, as if they had been 

owned for the entire year. This is the reason for the difference between the operating surplus shown above and that shown in the Income Statement.  
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NOTE 16. RATEABLE VALUES

The Group Parent Company
31-12-11 31-12-10 31-12-11 31-12-10

Building 7,372.4 7,122.2 1,294.9 1,294.9
Land 3,030.3 3,022.8 348.4 348.4
Total 10,402.7 10,145.0 1,643.3 1,643.3
Of which business premises  
in TL Bygg AB 2.0 2.0

NOTE 17. BUILDINGS, LAND AND  
LAND IMPROVEMENT

Parent Company
31-12-11 31-12-10

Buildings
Opening acquisition values 1,825.5 1,809.5
Reclassification from ongoing, new builds, 
extension and reconstruction work 11.1 16.1
Reclassification –9.9
Closing accumulated acquisition values 1,826.7 1,825.5
Opening depreciation –242.0 –223.9
Reclassification 1.8 -
Depreciation for the year –18.3 –18.1
Closing accumulated depreciation –258.6 –242.0
Closing residual value according to plan 1,568.2 1,583.5
Fiscal value 1,165.1 1,200.9

Building equipment
Opening acquisition values 20.5 20.5
Reclassification from ongoing, new builds, 
extension and reconstruction work – –
Investment 20.5 20.5
Closing accumulated acquisition values –1.9 –1.7
Opening depreciation –0.2 –0.2
Depreciation for the year –2.1 –1.9
Closing accumulated depreciation 18.4 18.6
Fiscal value 0 2.1

Land improvements
Opening acquisition values 43.3 38.6
Reclassification from ongoing, new builds, 
extension and reconstruction work - 4.7
Closing accumulated acquisition values 43.3 43.3
Opening depreciation –6.7 –6.3
Depreciation for the year –0.4 –0.4
Closing accumulated depreciation –7.1 –6.7
Closing residual value according to plan 36.2 36.6
Fiscal value 7.7 9.8

Land
Opening acquisition values 83.1 83.1
Investment – –
Closing accumulated acquisition values 83.1 83.1
Fiscal value 83.1 83.1

Total closing residual value according to plan 1,705.9 1,721.8
Total fiscal value 1,255.9 1,295.9

NOTE 18. ONGOING NEW BUILDS, EXTENSION AND 
RECONSTRUCTION WORK

Parent Company
31-12-11 31-12-10

Opening acquisition values 24.5 27.5
Investments 74.8 22.8
Ongoing work on another party’s behalf –2.5 –5.0
Reclassification to buildings, land and  
land improvement –11.1 –20.8
Closing balance 85.7 24.5

NOTE 19. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

The Group Parent Company
31-12-11 31-12-10 31-12-11 31-12-10

Opening acquisition values 39.7 35.3 24.3 22.7
Purchases 17.8 4.8 13.8 1.6
Sales/disposals –1.4 –0.4 –0.1 0.0
Closing accumulated  
acquisition values 56.1 39.7 38.0 24.3
Opening depreciation –29.3 –26.1 –20.7 –18.6
Sales/disposals 1.3 0.5 0.0 0.0
Depreciation for the year –4.3 –3.7 –2.2 –2.1
Closing accumulated 
 depreciation –32.3 –29.3 –22.9 –20.7
Closing residual value 
 according to plan 23.8 10.3 15.1 3.6

NOTE 20. PARTICIPATIONS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Number
Share in 

equity  Book value, SEK k
31-12-11 31-12-11 31-12-11 31-12-10

AB FB-sjön, general partner, 
Corp. ID no. 556605-5181
Registered office in Stockholm 500 50% 50 50
KB Fatburssjön 5
Corp. ID. no. 969670-3439
Registered office in Stockholm 4,999 50% – –
Gränby	Miljö	&	Retur	AB
Corp. ID. no. 556222-2199
Registered office in Uppsala 300 30% 30 30
Closing balance 80 80

NOTE 21. PARTICIPATIONS IN GROUP COMPANIES

Parent Company
31-12-11 31-12-10

Opening acquisition values 8,932.3 8,795.2
Acquisitions 0.1 –
Capital contribution 10.0 –
Change in share of equity 170.5 137.1
Closing accumulated acquisition values 9,112.9 8,932.3

Opening write-downs –3,083.5 –3,083.5
Write-downs for the year – –
Closing accumulated write-downs –3,083.5 –3,083.5

Closing balance 6,029.4 5,848.8
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Note 21, cont.
Number of 

 participations
Share in  
equity, %          Book value, SEK k

Directly owned subsidiary companies Corporate ID no. Registered office 31-12-11 31-12-11 31-12-11 31-12-10
TL Bygg AB 556225-4440 Stockholm 10,000 100 16.0 6.0
Impluvium Tio AB 556063-1128 Nacka 10,000 100 4.8 4.8
Fastighets AB Blästern 556282-8052 Nacka 10,000 100 0.1 0.1
Årstalunden AB 556357-8094 Nacka 1,000 100 0.1 0.1
PUB AB 556720-3111 Nacka 1,000 100 0.1 –
Sickla Industrifastigheter KB 1) 2) 916616-1720 Nacka 999 99.9 1,542.8 1,372.3
Suhob Fastighets AB 556739-7772 Nacka 1,000 100 0.3 0.3
LjungbergGruppen Holding AB 556669-3221 Nacka 1,000 100 189.9 189.9
Fastighets AB Celtica 556350-9727 Nacka 2,781,000 100 155.2 155.2
Atrium Fastigheter AB 556006-4239 Nacka 5,924,941 100 4,120.1 4,120.1
Closing balance 6,029.4 5,848.8

Number of participations Share in equity, %
Indirectly owned subsidiary companies Corporate ID no. Registered office 31-12-11 31-12-11
LjungbergGruppen Fastighets AB TX 31 556688-4283 Nacka 1,000 100
LjungbergGruppen Svindersvik AB 556674-6045 Nacka 1,000 100
Svenska Kvarter AB 556717-8305 Nacka 1,000 100
Gränby Nord AB 556731-8265 Nacka 1,000 100
LjungbergGruppen Aktiebolag 556731-7283 Nacka 1,000 100
Atrium Ljungberg Planiavägen AB 556815-7852 Nacka 50,000 100
Mobilia Nord AB 556745-4888 Nacka 1,000 100
Atrium Ljungberg Hälsingegatan AB 556877-5687 Nacka 500 100
Atrium Ljungberg Gävlegatan 22 AB 556745-4870 Nacka 1,000 100
    Fastighets AB Jungblästern 556758-7745 Stockholm 1,000 100
Atrium Ljungberg Kista NOD AB 556745-5182 Nacka 1,000 100
Impluvium Sex AB 556781-3059 Nacka 1,000 100 
Impluvium Sju AB 556781-3067 Nacka 1,000 100
Impluvium Åtta AB 556781-3075 Nacka 1,000 100
Impluvium Nio AB 556040-4229 Nacka 1,000 100
Impluvium Elva AB 556781-3083 Nacka 1,000 100
Impluvium Tolv AB 556781-3091 Nacka 1,000 100
Impluvium Tretton AB 556781-3109 Nacka 1,000 100
Impluvium Fjorton AB 556781-3117 Nacka 1,000 100
Atrium Ljungberg Östersund AB 556791-8510 Nacka 1,000 100
Atrium Ljungberg Igor AB 556791-7140 Nacka 1,000 100
Walls Fastighets AB 556004-9909 Nacka 6,000 100
Fastighets AB Brogatan 556060-5536 Nacka 1,000 100
Fastighets AB Österbotten 556019-4408 Nacka 1,250 100
Paul U Bergström AB 556021-7506 Nacka 1,500 100
   Fatburstrappan Väst AB 556622-5966 Nacka 1,000 100
Jupiter Fastighets AB 556015-4030 Nacka 400 100
KB Arbetsstolen 32) 969651-2350 Nacka 1,000 99.9
KB Wårbyriggen2) 969651-2251 Nacka 1,000 99.9
Atrium Ljungberg Rotundan AB 556791-7124 Nacka 1,000 100
Atrium i Uppsala AB 556691-3603 Nacka 1,000 100
Högbergsgatan 62 AB 556624-3225 Nacka 1,000 100
Fastighets AB Stadsgården 556029-0602 Nacka 31,993,074 100
   Fastighets AB Stenalyckan 556357-3244 Nacka 1,000 100
   Gränby Centrum AB 556409-6708 Nacka 100 100
   Mobilia Shopping Centre AB 556412-5242 Nacka 100 100
   KB T-bodarne2) 969646-1392 Nacka 990 99
   AB Farsta Centrum 556065-3023 Nacka 1,000 100
   Farsta Centrum HB2) 916404-1361 Nacka 950 95
 Farsta Centrumledning AB 556321-0896 Nacka 1,000 100
1) The book value of participations in Sickla Industrifastigheter KB has increased by the year’s profit of SEK 170.5 m (SEK 137.1 m).
2) The remaining participations are owned by other Group companies.
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NOTE 22. OTHER LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES

The Group Parent Company
31-12-11 31-12-10 31-12-11 31-12-10

Opening acquisition values 154.9 143.1 – –
Instalments –0.3 –0.2 – –
Additional receivables 0.8 12.0 – –
Reclassification as other 
receivables –154.7 – – –
Closing balance 0.7 154.9 – –

NOTE 23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The Group Parent Company
31-12-11 31-12-10 31-12-11 31-12-10

Accounts receivable 101.6 87.9 4.3 1.9
Opening accumulated provi-
sions for doubtful receivables –15.0 –19.2 –0.8 –0.8
The period’s provisions for 
doubtful receivables –18.2 –13.2 –0.2 0.0
The period’s reversed provi-
sions 13.3 12.2 0.1 0.0
The period’s confirmed bad 
debt losses –0.5 5.2 – 0.0
Closing accumulated provi-
sions for doubtful receivables –20.4 –15.0 –0.9 –0.8
Closing balance 81.2 72.9 3.4 1.1

Age breakdown of accounts 
receivable fallen due for which The Group Moderbolaget
provision has not been made 31-12-11 31-12-10 31-12-11 31-12-10
1–10 days 0.3 1.0 – 0.1
11–30 days 5.9 6.2 1.5 0.4
31–60 days 0.1 0.4 – –
>60 days 0.0 1.4 – –
Total 6.3 9.1 1.5 0.5

NOTE 24. OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group Parent Company
31-12-11 31-12-10 31-12-11 31-12-10

Interest-bearing receivables 154.7 – – –
Value Added Tax receivable 25.9 5.5 – –
Other receivables 28.8 19.5 6.8 2.6
Closing balance 209.4 25.0 6.8 2.6

NOTE 25. PREPAID COSTS AND ACCRUED INCOME

The Group Parent Company
31-12-11 31-12-10 31-12-11 31-12-10

Prepaid leasehold fees 1.6 2.4 1.6 2.4
Receivables from clients for 
ongoing engagements as per 
construction agreement 12.6 13.2 – –
Other prepaid costs 15.2 16.0 4.9 5.4
Distributed rent discounts 35.3 32.6 5.4 4.0
Accrued rent 8.6 7.2 – –
Other accrued income 23.8 14.3 2.4 0.7
Closing balance 97.1 85.7 14.3 12.5

NOTE 26. UNTAXED RESERVES

Parent Company
31-12-11 31-12-10

Untaxed reserves
Accumulated excess depreciation 21.4 19.1
Accumulated interest write-downs - 10.0
Closing balance 21.4 29.1
Appropriations
Excess depreciation, buildings –2.3 –1.2
Total –2.3 –1.2

NOTE 27. DEFERRED TAX RECEIVABLE/LIABILITY

The Group Parent Company
31-12-11 31-12-10 31-12-11 31-12-10

Deferred tax receivable:
Loss carry-forward
Year’s	capitalised	loss	carry-
forward 26.4 – – –
Closing receivable 26.4 – – –

Deferred tax liability:
Buildings, land and land improvement
Opening liability 2,266.3 2,014.5 239.0 214.9
Year’s	change	between	book	
and fiscal values 347.5 285.2 20.7 23.6
Year’s	sales – –33.3 – –
Other items – – –0.4 0.5
Closing liability 2,613.8 2,266.3 259.3 239.0

Accumulated excess depreciation
Opening liability 56.1 55.1 – –
Year’s	excess	depreciation 1.1 1.0 – –
Closing liability 57.2 56.1 – –

Interest write-downs
Opening liability 2.6 2.6 – –
Reclassification as buildings –2.6 – – –
Closing liability – 2.6 – –

Unrealised changes in the value of financial instruments
Opening liability –4.6 –26.1 –4.6 –26.1
Year’s	change	in	value –53.8 21.5 –53.8 21.5
Closing liability –58.4 –4.6 –58.4 –4.6

Total deferred tax liability 2,612.5 2,320.4 200.9 234.4

NOTE 28. ASSET MANAGEMENT

The Group endeavours to ensure a good profit performance, financial 
sustainability and a strong financial position. The economic and financial 
goals are set in order to provide a combination of a high return on share-
holders’ equity, high growth capacity, and financial stability. The Group’s 
economic and financial goals are as follows:
•	 The	equity/assets	shall	be	a	minimum	of	30	per	cent
•	 The	interest	coverage	ratio	shall	be	a	minimum	of	2.0	
•	 	The	dividend	shall	correspond	to	at	least	50	per	cent	of	the	profit	before	

changes in value after estimated tax unless investments or the com-
pany’s financial position otherwise mandate a deviation from this norm. 
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Note 28, cont.

The financing activity is described in greater detail in Note 29 Financial in-
struments and risk management. The Group’s capital structure comprises 
interest-bearing net borrowing and shareholders’ equity attributable to 
the Parent Company’s shareholders. This comprises share capital, other 
capital contributed and profits brought forward, including the net profit/
loss for the year. 

Capital structure

The Group Parent Company
31-12-11 31-12-10 31-12-11 31-12-10

Interest-bearing net 
 borrowing
Interest-bearing long-term 
liabilities to credit institutions 7,839.6 7,373.6 3,948.5 3,873.6
Interest-bearing current liabili-
ties to credit institutions 1,881.3 1,736.9 786.4 700.2
Interest-bearing liabilities to 
Group companies – – 838.3 740.8
Financial derivative instru-
ments 222.1 17.4 222.1 17.4
Interest-bearing receivables –154.7 –154.5 – –

– – –3,593.7 –3,668.0
Liquid assets –274.2 –439.3 –202.5 –382.8
Total 9,514.1 8,534.1 1,999.1 1,281.2

Shareholders’ equity attribu-
table to the Parent Company’s 
shareholders 9,540.5 9,099.2 5,591.1 5,995.9

Total capital 19,054.6 17,633.3 7,590.2 7,277.1

The breakdown between interest-bearing and non-interest-bearing 
 liabilities is shown below.

The Group Parent Company
31-12-11 31-12-10 31-12-11 31-12-10

Non-interest-bearing 
 liabilities (excluding deferred 
tax liability) 1,079.8 662.2 126.1 148.3
Interest-bearing liabilities 9,943.0 9,127.9 5,795.3 5,332.0
 Total 11,022.8 9,790.1 5,921.4 5,480.3

Renegotiation date for interest-bearing liabilities (excluding financial 
derivative instruments)

The Group Parent Company

Fixed interest term up  
to and incl.

Loan 
amount

Average 
interest 
rate, %

Loan 
amount

Average 
interest 
rate, %

2012 4,204 4.1 1,868 3.6
2013 1,200 4.8 – –
2014 640 4.2 400 4.5
2015 846 4.4 537 4.1
2016 – – – –
2017 and thereafter 2,831 4.0 1,930 3.9
Total 9,721 4.2 4,735 4.2

The Group Parent Company
31-12-11 31-12-10 31-12-11 31-12-10

Fair value of interest-bearing 
liabilities 9,966 9,170 4,854 4,604

NOTE 29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT

Principles governing financing and financial risk management
Financing and financial risks are managed in accordance with guidelines 
laid down by Atrium Ljungberg’s Board of Directors. The Group’s treasury 
function, which is responsible for financing, liquidity and financial risks, 
is concentrated within the Parent Company. The financial assets com-
prise bank deposits, accounts receivable and loan receivables. Financial 
liabilities comprise property loans, accounts payable and promissory note 
liabilities. The company has, furthermore, entered into interest swap 
agreements. The breakdown of financial assets and liabilities is shown in 
the following table.

The Group Parent Company
31-12-11 31-12-10 31-12-11 31-12-10

Assets
Loan receivables and accounts 
receivable 319.1 282.0 3,610.4 3.675.9
Total 319.1 282.0 3,610.4 3,675.9

Liabilities
Derivatives used for hedge 
accounting 222.1 17.4 222.1 17.4
Financial liabilities valued at 
accrued acquisition value 10,485.3 9,449.8 5,650.5 5,379.0
Total 10,707.4 9,467.2 5,872.6 5,396.4

No financial assets or financial liabilities have been reclassified between 
the above valuation categories during the year.

Liquidity risk
The term, liquidity risk refers to the company’s risk that there will be 
insufficient liquid assets of credit for the company to be able to fulfil its 
payment undertakings. In order to ensure that the liquidity risk can be 
managed, a maximum of 30 per cent of the loan portfolio may fall due 
within one year and a maximum of 50 per cent of the loan financing may 
be obtained from a single creditor. The liquidity shall, furthermore, at all 
times total a minimum of SEK 300 million and a maximum of SEK 700 mil-
lion, including liquidity risks totalling a maximum of SEK 500 million and 
which may comprise current account overdrafts or loan guarantees. The 
company’s liquidity on 31-12-2011, including unutilised current overdraft 
facilities totalling SEK 300 million, totalled SEK 574 million (SEK 739 m). 
Current surplus liquidity shall be invested in short-term government, local 
authority and bank securities, or the equivalent issued by companies with 
the highest possible rating. It must be possible to convert the investment 
into cash within three days. The table below shows the capital commit-
ment structure of the loan portfolio. The average loan maturity term, as of 
31-12-2011, was 2.5 years (2.4 yrs.)

Capital commitment Amount Percentage, %
2012 1,868 19
2013 2,032 21
2014 2,194 22
2015 1,713 18
2016 1,729 18
2017 and thereafter 185 2
Total 9,721 100

The following table shows the payment undertakings associated with the 
company’s financial liabilities and assets.
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Note 29, cont.
31-12-11 31-12-10

Financial liabilities, 
the Group

Matures 
within  
1 year

Matures 
within  

1-5 years

Matures 
after  

5 years

Matures 
within  
1 year

Matures 
within  

1-5 years

Matures 
after  

5 years

Amortisation of 
loans 1,881.3 7,654.7 185.0 1,736.9 7,373.6
Interest on loans 
including interest 
derivatives 360.0 673.1 34.9 298.6 728.9 145.7
Other long-term 
liabilities – 22.7 – – 33.5 –
Accounts payable 149.5 – – 114.6 – –
Other current 
 liabilities 383.8 – – 12.0 – –
Accrued costs and 
prepaid income 523.8 – – 503.2 – –
Total 3,298.4 8,350.5 219.9 2,665.3 8,136.0 145.7

31-12-11 31-12-10

Financial liabilities, 
Parent Company

Matures 
within  
1 year

Matures 
within  

1-5 years

Matures 
after  

5 years

Matures 
within  
1 year

Matures 
within  

1-5 years

Matures 
after  

5 years

Amortisation of 
loans 786.4 3 763.5 185.0 700.2 3,873.6
Interest on loans 
including interest 
derivatives 179.1 293.7 34.9 204.0 455.6 145.7
Other long-term 
liabilities – 15.1 – – 13.2 –
Accounts payable 14.4 – – 12.5 – –
Liabilities to Group 
companies 839.3 – – 740.8 – –
Other current 
 liabilities 9.1 – – 15.2 – –
Accrued costs and 
prepaid income 86.5 – – 82.8 – –
Total 1,914.8 4,072.3 219.9 1,755.5 4,342.4 145.7

31-12-11 31-12-10

Financial assets,  
the Group

Matures 
within  
1 year

Matures 
within  

1-5 years

Matures 
after  

5 years

Matures 
within  
1 year

Matures 
within  

1-5 years

Matures 
after  

5 years

Rent receivables, 
contracted rents 1,768.0 4,278.0 460,0 1,624.0 3,930.0 445.0
Interest on long-
term receivables 3.8 – – 5.7 3.8 –
Accounts receivable 81.2 – – 72.9 – –
Other receivables 209.4 – – 25.0 154.9 –
Prepaid costs and 
accrued income 97.1 – – 85.7 – –
Liquid assets 274.2 – – 439.3 – –

Total 2,433.7 4,278.0 460.0 2,252.6 4,088.7 445.0

31-12-11 31-12-10

Financial assets, 
 Parent Company

Matures 
within  
1 year

Matures 
within  

1-5 years

Matures 
after  

5 years

Matures 
within  
1 year

Matures 
within  

1-5 years

Matures 
after  

5 years

Rent receivables, 
contracted rents 186.0 301.0 19.0 176.0 270.0 14.0

Accounts receivable 3.4 – – 1.1 – –

Receivables Group 
companies 3,595.3 – – 3,668.0 – –

Other receivables 6.8 – – 2.6 – –

Prepaid costs and 
accrued income 14.3 – – 12.5 – –

Liquid assets 202.5 – – 382.8 – –

Total 4,008.3 301.0 19.0 4,243.0 270.0 14.0

Market and interest risk
The term, market risk, refers to the risk of an impact on the profit/loss as 
a consequence of changes in the outside world. The market risk is primarily 
attributable to the trend in interest levels for short- and long-term borrow-
ing and for market rent levels. The loan portfolio’s renegotiation dates has, 
with regard to interest rate adjustments and in order to limit the interest 
risk, been spread to mature at regular intervals, with a maximum fixed 
interest term of 10 years. A maximum of 65 per cent of the loans may fall 
due for renegotiation of the terms within 1 year and a maximum of 50 per 
cent may comprise loans with variable interest rates. The maturity dates 
for the company’s interest-bearing liabilities are specified in Note 28. The 
average fixed interest term on 31-12-2011 was 3.1 years (2.0 yrs.). Atrium 
Ljungberg has extended the fixed interest term for a total of SEK 5,001 mil-
lion (SEK 3,343 m) of the total loan portfolio of SEK 9,721 m (SEK 9.110 m) 
by means of so-called interest swap agreements. The fair value of these 
interest swap agreements totalled SEK -222 million (SEK –17 m) on the 
closing day and is reported under Other long- and short-term liabili ties in 
the Balance Sheet. Atrium Ljungberg applies hedge accounting whereby 
the change in value is reported directly to shareholders’ equity to the 
extent that the hedging is effective and includes it in Other  comprehensive 
income. The interest swap agreements have primarily been used as a 
means of directly fixing the loans to longer terms in order to generate 
 flexibility in the event of any restructuring of the property portfolio. 
 The future cash flows comprised by hedge accounting are expected to 
arise in conjunction with the interest on the loans affected falling due for 
payment. No ineffectiveness from the hedging relationships has arisen 
during the period. Interest on the loans matures quarterly up until the 
year 2020. The interest payments have an ongoing effect on the Income 
Statement during the loans in question’s term in that accrued interest is 
reported. Atrium Ljungberg also endeavours to ensure a spread in the 
renegotiation dates for existing lease contracts as part of its efforts to 
reduce the annual market risk. The percentage of income renegotiation 
during the years ahead is shown in Note 5. The average remaining term 
for lease contracts is 3.9 years (3.9 yrs.).
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Note 29, cont.

Sensitivity analysis Change in %
Effect on profit, 

year 1
Effect on profit, 

total
Rental level, commercial 
premises 5 10 85
Rental level, residential 5 3 3
Letting rate1) 1 17 17

Interest level 1) 1 30 97
1) Change in percentage point

Credit risk
The term, credit risk, refers to the risk of a counterparty being unable to 
fulfil delivery or payment undertakings. Atrium Ljungberg’s credit risks 
lie in the possibility that the tenants may be unable to fulfil their payment 
undertakings in accordance with applicable lease contracts. This risk is 
assessed when contracts are signed and the agreements are comple-
mented, where appropriate, with collateral pledged by the tenants in the 
form of deposits or bank guarantees corresponding to between 3 and 12 
months’ rent. Deposits and bank guarantees received totalled SEK 21 mil-
lion and SEK 28 million, respectively, at the end of the year. The company 
has, with regard to a short-term receivable for SEK 154.7 million, security 
in the form of mortgage deeds totalling SEK 142.5 million, together with 
SEK 12.2 million in blocked funds in banks.   

Currency risk
A currency risk arises when payment is made in a currency other than that 
in which the vendor’s costs or the purchaser’s income arises. 
 Atrium Ljungberg has no commercial transactions in foreign curren-
cies, nor does it have any external financing in foreign currencies and the 
Group is, consequently, not exposed to any currency risk.

NOTE 30. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

The Group Parent Company
31-12-11 31-12-10 31-12-11 31-12-10

Derivative instruments used 
for hedge accounting 221.2 16.4 221.2 16.4
Deposits received from 
tenants 20.6 19.5 15.1 13.1
Other liabilities – 12.0 – –
Closing balance 241.8 47.9 236.3 29.5

NOTE 31. ACCRUED COSTS AND PREPAID INCOME

The Group Parent Company
31-12-11 31-12-10 31-12-11 31-12-10

Holiday pay liability and social 
security contributions 26.3 27.3 17.6 18.4
Liabilities to clients for 
ongoing engagements in 
accordance with construction 
agreements 17.3 13.0 – –
Accrued interest expenses 34.2 17.0 8.2 8.6
Accrued property tax 106.0 96.9 13.9 13.9
Other accrued costs 50.9 53.0 15.6 11.9
Prepaid rent 278.1 280.3 31.1 29.2
Other prepaid income 11.0 15.7 0.1 0.8
Closing balance 523.8 503.2 86.5 82.8

NOTE 32. OTHER LIABILITIES

The Group Parent Company
31-12-11 31-12-10 31-12-11 31-12-10

Derivative instruments used 
for hedge accounting 0.9 1.1 0.9 1.1
Value Added Tax – – 3.6 4.3
Liabilities in respect of 
 property acquisitions 343,0 – – –
Other liabilities 40.8 10.9 5.5 9.8
Closing balance 384.7 12.0 10.0 15.2

NOTE 33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Atrium Ljungberg has previous announced that the company has appealed 
the tax case in which the Swedish Administrative Court essentially granted 
the Swedish Tax Agency’s suit, under the provisions of the Swedish Tax 
Avoidance Act, to increase the tax assessment of a company within the 
Atrium Ljungberg Group for a property transaction carried out in 2004 via 
a limited partnership. The Administrative Court ruled that the company’s 
tax assessment shall be increased by SEK 326.7 million, corresponding to 
a tax demand for SEK 91.5 million, excluding interest. No demand for the 
imposition of a tax surcharge has been made. Atrium Ljungberg has made 
no provision for the amount in the company’s accounts, regarding the 
amount as a contingent liability until further notice. Atrium Ljungberg is of 
the opinion that the company has complied with the legislation and praxis 
applicable at the time of the transaction. The company is, furthermore, of 
the opinion that the Swedish Tax Avoidance Act is not applicable. 
 The Administrative Court of Appeal has issued a stay of proceedings 
pending a review by the Supreme Administrative Court of an advance ruling 
that may act as a test case and Atrium Ljungberg has been granted a 
respite with regard to payment of the tax.

NOTE 34. EVENTS AFTER THE CLOSING DAY

The remaining 50 per cent of the Blästern 13 office property, located  
in Haga staden in Stockholm, was acquired in January 2012. Atrium 
 Ljungberg previously owned 50 per cent of the property and was also 
responsible for its management. The acquisition means that Atrium 
 Ljungberg now owns 100 per cent of Blästern 13, which comprises a total 
of approximately 40,400m² of letting space, 6,500m² of which is a garage, 
and which is fully let. The purchase price was based on an underlying 
property value of SEK 630 million for half of the property. Possession was 
taken on 14th February 2012.
 In February 2012, Mattias Celinder took over as Business Area Retail 
Director for Atrium Ljungberg, succeeding Kristina Johnson, who had 
resigned her position in January. Mattias Celinder became a member of 
the company’s management group which, as of 1st February, consequently 
comprises Ingalill Berglund (MD), Annica Ånäs (CFO), Magnus Alteskog 
(Project development director), Carola Lavén (Business development 
director), Helena Martini (HR director), Micael Averborg (Business area 
director, offices), and Mattias Celinder (Business area director, retail).
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ANNUAL ACCOUNTS SIGNATORIES

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director hereby attest that the 
Consolidated accounts and the annual accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 
adopted by the EU, and with generally accepted auditing principles, and 
that they provide a true and fair view of the Group’s and the company’s 
respective positions and results and that the Directors’ Report for the 

Group and the Directors’ Report for the company are faithful represen-
tations of the development of the performance by the Group’s and the 
company’s operations, and of their respective positions and results,  
and describes significant risks and uncertainty factors faced by the 
 companies that make up the Group.

 Nacka, 24th February 2012

 

 Dag Klackenberg Sune Dahlqvist Thomas Evers
 Chairman of the Board Member of the Board Member of the Board

 Anna Hallberg Ulf Holmlund Johan Ljungberg
 Member of the Board Member of the Board Member of the Board

 Anders Nylander
 Member of the Board

  Ingalill Berglund
Managing Director

Our Audit Report was submitted on 24th February 2012.

Ernst	&	Young	AB

 Jonas Svensson Ingemar Rindstig
 Authorised Public Accountant Authorised Public Accountant
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To the annual meeting of the shareholders of Atrium Ljungberg AB 
(publ), corporate identity number 556175-7047  

REPORT ON THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS  
AND CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

We have audited the annual accounts and consolidated accounts of 
Atrium Ljungberg AB (publ) for the year 2011, except for the corporate 
governance statement on pages 94–97. The annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts of the company are included in the printed version of this 
document on pages 89–130.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for 
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for 
the preparation and fair presentation, of the annual accounts in accor-
dance with the Annual Accounts Act and, of the consolidated accounts in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted 
by the EU, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual accounts 
and consolidated accounts based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts are free from material misstatement.
 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judge-
ment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal 
control relevant to the company’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by the Board of Directors and the Managing Director, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts.
 We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions
In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in accordance 
with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the parent company as of 31 December 2011 and 
of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act, and the consolidated accounts 
have been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the group 
as of 31 December 2011 and of their financial performance and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, as adopted by the EU, and the Annual Accounts 
Act. Our opinions do not cover the corporate governance statement on 
pages 94–97. The statutory administration report is consistent with the 
other parts of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts.
 We therefore recommend that the annual meeting of shareholders 
adopt the income statement and balance sheet for the parent company 
and the group.

Other disclosures
The annual accounts for 2010 were audited by a different auditor who, in 
his Auditor’s Report dated 17th February 2011, expressed an unmodified 
opinion on those annual accounts. 

AUDITORS’ REPORT
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS

In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, 
we have examined the proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or 
loss and the administration of the Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director of Atrium Ljungberg AB (publ) for the year 2011. We have also 
conducted a statutory examination of the corporate governance statement. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director
The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal for appropriations 
of the company’s profit or loss. The Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director are responsible for administration under the Companies Act 
and that the corporate governance statement on pages 94–97 has been 
prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act. 

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion with reasonable assurance on 
the proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss and on the 
administration based on our audit. We conducted the audit in accordance 
with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. 
 As a basis for our opinion on the Board of Directors’ proposed appro-
priations of the company’s profit or loss, we examined the Board of 
Directors’ reasoned statement and a selection of supporting evidence 
in order to be able to assess whether the proposal is in accordance with 
the Companies Act. 
 As a basis for our opinion concerning discharge from liability, in  
addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, 
we examined significant decisions, actions taken and circumstances of 
the company in order to determine whether any member of the Board of  
Directors or the Managing Director is liable to the company. We also  
examined whether any member of the Board of Directors or the Managing 
Director has, in any other way, acted in contravention of the Companies 
Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of Association. 
 We believe that the audit evidence which we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate in order to provide a basis for our opinions.

 Furthermore, we have read the corporate governance statement and 
based on that reading and our knowledge of the company and the group 
we believe that we have obtained a sufficient basis for our opinion. This 
means that our statutory examination of the corporate governance state-
ment is different and substantially less in scope than an audit conducted 
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden.

Opinions
We recommend to the annual meeting of shareholders that the profit be 
appropriated in accordance with the proposal in the statutory admini-
stration report and that the members of the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director be discharged from liability for the financial year.
 A corporate governance statement has been prepared, and its sta-
tutory content is consistent with the other parts of the annual accounts 
and the consolidated accounts.

Stockholm, 24th February 2012
Ernst	&	Young	AB

Jonas Svensson Ingemar Rindstig
Authorized Public Accountant Authorized Public Accountant
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2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
KEY RATIOS
Letting rate, % 94 94 93 94 92
Operating surplus margin, % 65 64 64 62 62
Equity/assets ratio, % 41.2 42.9 42.4 42.2 45.5
Debt/equity ratio, multiple 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 0.8
Gearing ratio, % 44.4 45.7 45.6 43.8 39.8
Interest coverage ratio, multiple 2.9 3.1 3.0 2.5 3.0
Return on shareholders’ equity, % 9.7 10.5 2.2 –4.5 19.2
Return on shareholders’ equity, excluding changes in value, % 5.6 5.6 5.7 4.3 5.6
Return on total assets, % 7.2 7.4 2.2 –1.7 12.4
Return on total assets, excluding changes in value, % 4.8 4.8 5.0 4.4 4.9
Average number of employees 260 251 242 233 228
Average rate of interest on interest-bearing liabilities (at period end), % 4.2 3.8 3.8 4.7 4.6

DATA PER SHARE
Earnings per share, SEK 6.95 7.03 1.44 –3.09 12.55
Profit/loss before changes in value less applicable nominal tax, SEK 3.93 3.79 3.78 2.97 3.36
Dividend (2011 proposed), SEK 2.60 2.40 2.25 2.00 2.00
Dividend pay-out ratio, % 66.2 63.4 59.5 67.3 59.5
The share’s dividend yield, % 3.5 2.8 3.4 3.2 3.1
Cash flow, SEK 4.91 5.16 4.67 4.55 3.64
Shareholders’ equity, SEK 73.30 69.91 64.66 65.27 71.14
Net worth, 10% deferred tax, SEK 82.75 77.97 71.28 72.32 79.98
Share price on 31st December 73,25 86.50 67.00 62.50 63.75
Number of outstanding shares, thousand 130,157 130,157 130,157 130,157 130,157
Average number of outstanding shares after dilution, thousand1) 130,157 130,157 130,157 130,157 130,295

KEY	RATIOS

1) All option programmes expired on 31st December 2009.
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Amounts in SEK m 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
INCOME STATEMENTS
Rental income 1,686.3 1,613.5 1,655.7 1,499.6 1,512.7
Project and construction work sales 331.8 322.9 323.9 355.1 337.7
Net sales 2,018.1 1,936.4 1,979.6 1,854.7 1,850.4
Property management costs –591.3 –584.0 –603.7 –564.6 –571.4
Project and construction work costs –317.0 –313.5 –316.5 –343.8 –329.0
Gross profit/loss 1,109.8 1,038.9 1,059.4 946.3 950.0
– of which gross profit/loss, property management 1,095.0 1,029.5 1,052.0 934.9 941.3
– of which gross profit/loss, project and construction work operations 14.8 9.4 7.4 11.3 8.7

Central administration, property management –44.1 –45.4 –49.2 –47.7 –41.0
Central administration, project and construction operations –12.2 –11.9 –10.7 –14.2 –11.8

–56.3 –57.3 –59.9 –61.9 –52.8
Result from participations in Group companies – – – – 2.6
Financial income 10.6 7.7 6.6 21.2 14.7
Financial expenses –369.7 –320.6 –338.7 –368.3 –306.0

–359.1 –313.0 –332.1 –347.1 –288.7
Profit/loss before changes in value 694.4 668.6 667.4 537.2 608.5
Unrealised changes in value 528.3 525.1 –523.0 –1,202.1 1,286.7
Realised changes in value 2.0 14.2 0.1 –21.6 176.2
Write-down on goodwill – –16.9 –51.7 –26.2 –37.0

530.3 522.4 –574.6 –1,249.9 1,425.9
Profit/loss before tax 1,224.7 1,191.1 92.8 –712.7 2,034.4
Current tax –1.5 –23.5 –77.4 –72.9 –93.3
Deferred tax –318.7 –252.1 171.5 383.2 –305.2
Profit/loss after tax 904.5 915.5 186.9 –402.4 1,635.9

BALANCE SHEETS
Investment properties 21,896.7 19,939.7 18,616.6 19,058.7 18,801.1
Tangible fixed assets 23.8 10.3 9.1 13.9 9.5
Goodwill 389.8 389.8 406.7 458.3 484.5
Deferred tax receivable 26.4 – – – –
Other fixed assets 0.8 155.0 143.2 0.9 8.5
Current assets 564.1 275.5 424.0 414.9 1,021.6
Liquid assets 274.2 439.3 232.6 178.4 92.6
Total assets 23,175.8 21,209.6 19,832.2 20,125.0 20,417.8

Shareholders’ equity 9,540.5 9,099.2 8,415.6 8,495.8 9,259.4
Deferred tax liability 2,612.5 2,320.4 2,046.1 2,220.0 2,637.6
Long-term liabilities to credit institutions 7,839.6 7,373.6 6,444.1 6,676.5 5,515.6
Other long-term liabilities 243.9 49.8 99.3 10.4 3.5
Current liabilities to credit institutions 1,881,3 1,736.9 2,047.7 1,674.9 1,969.9
Other current liabilities 1,058.0 629.8 779.4 1,047.4 1,031.8
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 23,175.8 21,209.6 19,832.2 20,125.0 20,417.8

FIVE-YEAR	OVERVIEW



   135ATRIUM LJUNGBERG 2011

Amounts in SEK m 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit/loss before tax 1,224.7 1,191.1 92.8 –712.7 2,034.4
Reversal of write-downs and depreciation 4.3 19.8 55.8 30.2 40.0
Reversal of realised changes in value –2.0 –14.2 –0.1 21.6 –176.2
Reversal of unrealised changes in value –528.3 –525.1 523.0 1,202.1 –1,286.7
Rental guarantee paid – – – – –3.0
Tax paid –86.0 –38.7 –197.9 –35.1 –32.1
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital 612.7 632.9 473.6 506.1 576.4
Net change in working capital 27.0 38.2 134.0 86.3 –102.1
Cash flow from operating activities 639.7 671.1 607.6 592.5 474.3

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
Change in other receivables – –12.0 7.0 – –
Acquisition of properties –36.8 –34.6 –65.0 –641.3 –386.7
Reconstruction and new construction of properties –1,049.8 –1,047.0 –1,242.9 –1,207.9 –946.6
Sale of properties – 303.5 868.6 751.6 705.2
Acquisition/sale of equipment –17.8 –4.1 –1.2 6.1 –80.9
Cash flow from investment activities –1,104.4 –794.2 –433.5 –1,091.5 –709.0

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Change in other long-term liabilities 1.6 4.1 – – –
Incentives programme – – – 0.1 5.1
Change in interest-bearing liabilities 610.4 618.6 140.4 845.0 1,855.5
Dividend paid –312.4 –292.9 –260.3 –260.3 –1,811.5
Cash flow from financing activities 299.6 329.8 –119.9 584.8 49.1

Cash flow for the year –165.1 206.7 54.2 85.7 –185.6
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 439.3 232.6 178.4 92.6 278.2
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 274.2 439.3 232.6 178.4 92.6
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Rounding off 
As the figures have been rounded off to the nearest SEK million, the  
tables do not always add up.

Share dividend yield, % 
Share dividend as a percentage of the share price on the balance sheet 
date.

Share’s total yield, % 
The year’s change in the share price plus the dividend as a percentage  
of the share price at the previous balance sheet date.

PROPERTY-RELATED DEFINITIONS 

CBD 
Central Business District. A city’s most central area for commercial office 
and retail premises.

GFA, m2 
GFA (Gross Floor Area) refers to the building’s total area, including outer 
walls.

GFA, non-residential, m2 
GFA (Gross Floor Area), non-residential comprises space intended for 
purposes other than residential, the operation of the building, or public 
transport.

GRFA, m2 
GRFA (Gross Residential Floor Area) refers to areas above ground that are, 
either wholly or in part, adapted for residential purposes.

Letting rate, % 
Contracted annual rents as a percentage of the rental value in conjunction 
with full letting. Reported figures are based on the immediately subsequent 
quarter.

Operating surplus
Rental income less property management costs.

Project property 
The term, project property, refers to an individual property or a clearly 
 delimited part of a property that has been vacated in order to permit the 
reconstruction and upgrading of the property, irrespective of whether 
construction work has begun. The term, project property, also refers to 
buildings under construction and to undeveloped land and building rights. 
Reclassification from project property to completed property occurs in  
1st January of the year after completion.

Rental value 
Contracted yearly rends and estimated market rents for vacant space as 
found. 

Surplus margin, % 
Gross profit/loss from property management as a percentage of the 
reported rental income. 

FINANCIAL DEFINITIONS 

Cash flow per share, SEK
Cash flow from operating activities divided by the number of outstanding 
shares at the period end.

Debt/equity ratio, multiple 
Interest-bearing liabilities divided by reported shareholders’ equity.

Dividend payout ratio, % 
Dividend per share as a percentage of the profit/loss per share before 
changes in value, less applicable nominal tax.

Earnings per share, SEK 
Profit/loss after tax for the year divided by the average number of out-
standing shares after dilution.

Equity/assets ratio, % 
Reported shareholders’ equity as a percentage of the balance sheet total 
at the period end.

Equity per share, SEK
Reported equity divided by the number of outstanding shares at the  
period end.

Gearing ratio, % 
Interest-bearing liabilities as a percentage of the book value of the 
 properties.

Interest coverage ratio, multiple
Profit/loss after financial items plus interest expenses, divided by interest 
expenses. 

Net worth per share, 10% deferred tax, SEK
Equity per share calculated using a deferred tax rate of 10 per cent.

Number of outstanding shares 
Number of registered shares less shares bought back, which do not give 
entitlement to dividends.

Number of outstanding shares after dilution 
Number of outstanding shares after dilution calculated in accordance with 
IAS 33. Dilution occurs in conjunction with stock option programmes when 
the redemption price is lower than the current market value.

P/E ratio 
Market price at the period end divided by the profit/loss after tax per share 
for the previous 12-month period.

Profit/loss before changes in value per share, SEK 
Profit/loss before changes in value, after nominal tax, divided by the 
 number of outstanding shares.

Return on total assets, % 
Profit/loss before tax plus interest expenses as a percentage of the 
 average balance sheet total.

Return on shareholders’ equity, % 
Net profit/loss after tax as a percentage of average equity.

DEFINITIONS



SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING 2011
Q1
•	 	The	further	development	of	Mobilia	in	Malmö,	which	

will be converted from a retail centre into a vibrant city 
district, was approved. The project is Atrium Ljungberg’s 
biggest single project ever. 

•	 	The	expansion	of	Mobilia’s	southern	section	was	
completed. It comprises 2,100 m² of new retail space and 
a garage with 380 parking spaces. 

•	 	Work	began	on	the	second	expansion	phase	at	Port	73	in	
Haninge.	The	expansion	comprises	3,500	m²	of	new	retail	
space. 

•	 	Work	began	on	converting	the	Rådhuset	(old	City	Hall	
building) in Uppsala into a fashion department store. 

•	 	Atlas	Copco’s	new	headquarters	in	Sickla,	Nacka	were	
completed and Atlas Copco’s staff of around 700 people 
moved in.  

Q4
•		 	The	first	sod	was	turned	for	the	Kvarteret	NOD	in	Kista.	

•		 	Orminge	Centrum	celebrated	its	40th	anniversary	as	a	
retail hub.

•		 	The	strategic	acquisition	of	the	remaining	50	per	cent	of	
the Blästern 6 office property in the Hagastaden district of 
Stockholm’s city centre was completed. 

•		 	The	NASDAQ	OMX	Stockholm	exchange	announced	that	
Atrium	Ljungberg	will	move	to	the	exchange’s	Large	Cap	
segment in January 2012

Q3
•		 	The	decision	was	taken	to	build	around	70	new	rental	

apartments	in	Mobilia	in	Malmö.

•		 	A	new	9,000	m²	shopping	centre	section	at	Gränby	
Centrum in Uppsala opened. Twenty or so stores and 
service facilities opened.

•		 	The	decision	was	taken	to	start	work	on	another	
reconstruction	and	expansion	project	in	Gränby	Centrum’s	
western entrance, with space for new stores and a  
food court. 

•		 	An	agreement	was	signed	with	Axfood	regarding	the	
establishment of a Willys FMCG store in Port73 in 
Haninge and the decision was taken to start building a 
further 10,500 m² of new retail space.

•		 	An	agreement	was	signed	with	Ica	Sverige	AB	regarding	
the opening of an Ica Kvantum store in a 3,300 m² new 
build in Farsta Centrum. The agreement is conditional 
upon approval of changes to the detailed development 
plan. 

•		 	A	5-year	agreement	was	signed	with	the	ÖoB	department	
store chain for 3,000 m² in Rotebro Handel.

•		 	Gränby	Centrum	celebrated	its	40th	anniversary	as	a	
retail hub.

•		 	Atrium	Ljungberg’s	headquarters	in	Sickla	were	
nominated in the “Sweden’s most attractive office” 
competition.

Q2
•	 	Ingalill	Berglund	took	over	as	the	new	Managing	Director	

of Atrium Ljungberg.

•	 	Atrium	Ljungberg	moved	its	headquarters	to	Sickla	 
in Nacka.

•	 	Construction	work	began	on	Intrum	Justitia’s	 
new headquarters in Sickla, Nacka. 

•	 	Hotspots.nu,	a	new	entrepreneurial	centre	in	Farsta	
Centrum, opened. 

•	 	A	ten-year	agreement	with	the	University	of	Stockholm	
was signed to rent 7,100m² in Kvarteret NOD in Kista – a 
new meeting place for learning, research and trade and 
industry. A decision was taken to start construction work 
on the first phase of NOD.

•	 	6,000m²	of	renovated	premises	for	the	IT	and	
infrastructure company, Atea, amongst others, was 
completed in Ärvinge, Kista.

LARGE 
CAP

ATRIUM LJUNGBERG WILL MOVE TO  
LARGE CAP IN JANUARY 2012

9000 M2

A NEW SHOPPING CENTRE WAS OPENED 
IN GRÄNBY CENTRUM, UPPSALA

40 Y
GRÄNBY CENTRUM AND ORMINGE CENTRUM 

CELEBRATED THEIR 40TH ANNIVERSARIES

“A 10-year agreement was signed  
with the University of Stockholm”

TO RENT 7,100M² IN THE KVARTERET NOD IN KISTA



GRI-INDEX
Atrium Ljungberg’s sustainability work has been reported for 
a number of years as a part of the Annual Report, and from 
2008 in accordance with level C (self-declared) of the GRI 
(global reporting initiative) guidelines. The report describes 
Atrium Ljungberg’s work in 2011 with regard to issues con-
cerning the Global Compact’s ten principles (Communication 
on Progress). The report has not been reviewed by external 
bodies.

The work on defining and developing the content of the 
report is based on the issues determined internally and in 
dialogue with the company’s stakeholders. They concern criti-
cal aspects during planning, construction and management of 
sustainable environments for customers and visitors, and the 

company’s role as a responsible employer. 
Data and information in the report have been gathered 

during the 2011 calendar year and cover all properties owned 
by Atrium Ljungberg, adjusted for sales and acquisitions dur-
ing the year. Environmental data and employee information 
includes the wholly-owned subsidiary company, TL Bygg. Any 
exceptions or limitations in respect to the data are indicated. 

The table below shows the degree to which the reporting 
provides the information required. The table includes all core 
indicators and additional indicators that Atrium Ljungberg has 
deemed to be relevant. On the company’s website, this table is 
supplemented with complementary information and com-
ments that explain departures and bases for calculation. 

GRI–REFERENCES REPORTING
CROSS-
REFERENCE

1. STRATEGY AND ANALYSIS

1.1 Managing Director’s Statement R 2–3

1.2 Description of key impacts, risks and opportunities. R 2, 6, 12–19

2. ORGANISATIONAL PROFILE

2.1 Name of the organisation R 84

2.2 Primary brands, products, and/or services
R Inside cover, 

6, 8–10, 20–27

2.3 Operational structure of the organisation R
Inside cover, 
18, 99

2.4 Location of the organisation’s headquarters R Back cover

2.5 Countries where the organisation operates R Inside cover

2.6 Nature of ownership and legal form R Inside cover, 
84

2.7 Markets served R 8–10, 20

2.8 Scale of the reporting organisation R Inside cover

2.9 Significant changes during the reporting period 90–92

2.10 Awards received during the reporting period R* –

3. REPORT PARAMETERS

3.1 Reporting period R 137

3.2 Date of most recent report R 137

3.3 Reporting cycle R 137

3.4 Contact points R* 87

3.5 Process for defining report content R 137

3.6 Boundary of the report R 137

3.7  Specific limitations on the scope or boundary of the 
report R* 137

3.8  Basis for reporting that can significantly affect  
comparability R* 137

3.9  Data measurement techniques and the bases  
of calculations R* 137 

3.10  Explanation of the effect of any re-statements of infor-
mation provided in earlier reports R* 137

3.11  Significant changes from previous reporting periods in 
the scope, boundary or measurement methods R* 137 

3.12 GRI content index R* 137

3.13 External assurance R 137 

4. GOVERNANCE, COMMITMENTS AND ENGAGEMENT 

4.1 Governance structure of the organisation R 94

4.2  Indicate whether Chair of the highest governance body is 
also an executive officer R 95–96

4.3  Number of members of the highest governance body that 
are independent and/or non-executive members R 95–96

4.4  Mechanisms for shareholders and employees to provide 
recommendations or directions to the highest govern-
ance body

R 94

4.5  Linkage between compensation for members of the high-
est governance body, Senior managers, and executives 
and the organisation’s performance

R 100, 119

4.6  Processes in place for the highest governance body to 
ensure conflicts of interest are avoided R* 95

4.7  Process for determining the qualifications and expertise 
of the members of the highest governance body for  
guiding the organisation’s strategy on economic,  
environmental and social topics

R* 95–96

4.8  Internally developed statements of mission or values, 
codes of conducts and principles R* 14, 97

4.9  Procedures of the highest governance body for oversee-
ing the organisation’s identification and management of 
economic, environmental, and social performance

R 14, 97

4.10  Processes for evaluating the highest governance body’s 
own performance, particularly with respect to  
economic, environmental, and social performance

R* 96–97 

4.11  Explanation of whether and how the precautionary  
approach or principle is addressed R 13–14 

4.12  Externally developed economic, environmental, and 
social charters, principles, or other initiatives to which 
the organisation subscribes or endorses

R 14 

4.13 Memberships in associations R 14

4.14 List of stakeholder groups engaged by the organisation R* 13–15, 17, 63

4.15  Basis for identification and selection of stakeholders 
with whom to engage R*

4.16 Approaches to stakeholder engagement R* 13–15, 17, 63

4.17  Key topics and concerns that have been raised through 
stakeholder engagement

R* 12–15, 17, 63

5. SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT APPROACH AND  
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

EC. ECONOMIC PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

EC1 Direct economic value R 101–108 

EC2  Financial implications and other risks and opportunities 
for the organisation’s activities due to climate change RD* 83

EC3  Coverage of the organisation’s defined benefit plan 
obligations R 119

EC4  Significant financial assistance received from govern-
ment R* –

EC6  Policy, practices and proportion of spending on locally 
based suppliers

ER*
 

–
  

EC7 Procedures for local hiring ER* –

EC8  Development and impact of infrastructure investments 
and services provided primarily for public benefit RD*

13, 40-41, 
43-44



EXPLANATION OF ABBREVIATIONS – DEGREE OF GRI COMPLIANCE ABBREVIATIONS – OTHER

(R) Reported (R*, PR*, NR*, I*)  For complementary information, see the company’s website 
under Sustainable Enterprise

(PR) Partially Reported (C) Indicates a core indicator

(NR) Not reported (A) Indicates an additional indicator

(I) Irrelevant

EN. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

EN1 Materials used by weight or volume RE* – 

EN2  Percentage of materials used that are recycled input 
materials RE* – 

EN3 Direct energy consumption by primary energy source R* 14

EN4 Indirect energy consumption by primary source R* 14

EN5  Energy saved due to conservation and efficiency 
improvements R* 13–14

EN6  Initiatives to provide energy-efficient or renewable 
energy based products and services

R* 12–14

EN7  Initiatives to reduce energy consumption and reduc-
tions achieved R* 12–14

EN8 Total water withdrawal by source R 14

EN11  Location and size of land owned, leased, managed 
in, or adjacent to, protected areas and areas of high 
biodiversity value

RD* –

EN12  Description of significant impacts of activities, prod-
ucts, and services on biodiversity

RE* –

EN16  Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions 
by weight R* 14

EN17  Other relevant indirect greenhouse gas emissions by 
weight RD* –

EN18  Initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and 
reductions achieved R* 12–14

EN19 Emissions of ozone-depleting substances by weight RE* – 

EN20  NO, SO and other significant air emissions by type 
and weight RE* – 

EN21 Total water discharge by quality and destination RE* – 

EN22 Total weight of waste by type and disposal method RE* – 

EN23 Total number and volume of significant spills RE* – 

EN26  Initiatives to mitigate environmental impacts of prod-
ucts and services

R 12–14, 33,  
36–39, 41, 
43–44

EN27  Percentage of products sold and their packaging 
materials that are reclaimed by category

RE* –

EN28  Monetary value of significant fines and total number 
of non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with 
environmental laws and regulations

R* –

EN29  Significant environmental impacts of transporting 
products and other goods and materials used for the 
organisation’s operations, and transporting members 
of the workforce

RE* –

LA. LABOUR PRACTICES AND DECENT WORK PERFOR-
MANCE INDICATORS

LA1  Total workforce by employment type, employment 
contract, and region R 17–18, 119

LA2  Total number and rate of employee turnover by age 
group, gender and region RD 17 

LA3 Benefits provided to full-time employees RD 113, 119

LA4  Percentage of employees covered by collective bargain-
ing agreements R 17

LA5  Minimum notice period(s) regarding operational 
changes R* – 

LA7  Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days, and 
absenteeism

R* 17, 119

LA8  education, training, counselling, prevention and risk-
control programmes in place to assist workforce mem-
bers, their families, or community members regarding 
serious diseases

RD*
 

–

LA10  Average hours of training per year per employee by 
employee category

RE*
 

–

LA11 Programmes for skill management RD* 18

LA12  Percentage of employees receiving regular perfor-
mance and career development reviews R* –

LA13  Composition of governance bodies and breakdown 
of employees per category according to gender, age 
group, minority group membership, and other indica-
tors of diversity

R*
 

17–18, 
98–99, 119

LA14  Ratio of basic salary of men to women by employee 
category RE* –

HR. HUMAN RIGHTS PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

HR1  Percentage and total number of significant investment 
agreements that include human rights clauses

RD*
 

14

HR2  Percentage of significant suppliers and contractors that 
have undergone screening on human rights

RD*
 

–
 

HR4  Total number of incidents of discrimination and actions 
taken R* 17 

HR5  Operations identified in which the right to exercise 
freedom of association and collective bargaining may 
be at significant risk

ER*
 

–
 

HR6  Operations identified as having significant risk for inci-
dents of child labour, and measures taken to contribute 
to the elimination of child labour

ER* –

HR7  Operations identified as having significant risk for 
incidents of forced or compulsory labour, and measures 
to contribute to the elimination of forced or compulsory 
labour

ER*
 

– 

SO. SOCIETY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

SO1  Nature, scope and effectiveness of any programmes 
and practices that assess and manage the impacts of 
operations on communities

R* 12–14

SO2  Percentage and total number of business units analysed 
for risks related to corruption R 97

SO3  Percentage of employees trained in organisation’s anti-
corruption policies and procedures RE* – 

SO4 Actions taken in response to incidents of corruption R* – 

SO5  Public policy positions and participation in public policy 
development and lobbying

R* –  

SO8  Monetary value of significant fines and total number of 
non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with laws 
and regulations

R*
 

–

PR. PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY PERFORMANCE INDICA-
TORS

PR1  Life cycle stages in which health and safety impacts of 
products and services are assessed for improvement

R*

 

12–14
 

PR3  Type of product and service information required by 
procedures

R* –

PR5  Practices related to customer satisfaction, including 
results of surveys measuring customer satisfaction R* –

PR6  Programmes for adherence to laws, standards, and 
voluntary codes related to marketing communications

RE* –

PR9  Monetary value of significant fines for non-compliance 
with laws and regulations concerning the provision and 
use of products and services

R* –



INFORMATION FROM 
ATRIUM LJUNGBERG

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Shareholders are invited to attend the Annual General Meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 29th March 2012 at 17.00 (CET) at 
Filmstaden Sickla SF Bio, Marcusplatsen 19 in Sickla. Notices 
convening the Meeting will be sent to shareholders by letters in 
the post and the Meeting will also be advertised in the Post och 
Inrikes Tidningar (the Official Swedish Gazette). A statement 
that a notice convening the Meeting has been issued will be 
published in Dagens Nyheter.

PUBLICATION OF FINANCIAL  
INFORMATION
Interim Report, January–March 2012 19th April 2012

Interim Report, January–June 2012 10th July 2012

Interim Report, January–September 2012 18th October 2012

Preliminary Financial Statement, 2012 February 2013

2012 Annual Report March 2013

THE INFORMATION WE release to the market concerning Atrium 
Ljungberg’s operations shall be transparent, clear and correct in order to 
build market confidence in our company and our brand name.

AS A LISTED COMPANY, Atrium Ljungberg is subject to the rules of the 
listing	agreement	with	the	NASDAQ	OMX	Stockholm	exchange.	Significant	
events, interim reports and preliminary financial statements are published 
immediately via press releases. The information is also available on the 
company’s website; www.atriumljungberg.se.

REGULAR MEETINGS WITH analysts, investors, shareholders and 
financiers, and with our customers and partners, enable us to provide 
ongoing information on our operations, changes and current events.  

A PRINTED VERSION of our annual reports and interim reports is 
distributed to all shareholders by post upon request. Interim reports 
and preliminary financial statements are translated into English and all 
language versions are published simultaneously on our website. The annual 
reports are translated into English shortly after the publication of the 
Swedish language version. 

INTERESTED PARTIES CAN subscribe to both financial reports and press 
releases via our website. The site also provides updated information on our 
operations, our properties and projects, key financial ratios, the share, and 
much more besides. 
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Box 4200, SE-131 04 Nacka. Street address: Sickla Industriväg 19
Tel: +46 8 615 89 00. Fax: +46 8 615 89 99, info@atriumljungberg.se
Registered office: Nacka. Corporate ID no.: 556175-7047 www.atriumljungberg.se




